

Ogundero, Ayo (2023) The theoretical and experimental exploration of the use of predatory bacteria to control biofilms. PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/83823/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

The theoretical and experimental exploration of the use of predatory bacteria to control biofilms

Ayo Ogundero

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Engineering College of Science and Engineering University of Glasgow



April 2023

Abstract

Membrane based technologies are widely used for treating drinking water in sparsely populated areas, but their effectiveness is significantly diminished by the growth of biofilms and biofouling. Preventing or removing biofilms can increase the life span of membranes and, thus, improve their economic viability. Most cleaning methods involve physical disruption or antimicrobial chemicals and, therefore, require an interruption in the membrane operation. *Bdellovibrio*, a group of predatory bacteria, are a potential alternative to antimicrobials or physical disruption because of its ability to kill a large range of gram-negative bacterial prey and the inability of their prey to develop genetic resistance. However, the use of *Bdellovibrio* in industrial application has not been widespread in part due to the lack of understanding of the dynamics between *Bdellovibrio* and their prey. To compound this, many of the previous investigations into Bdellovibrio and biofilm ecology are limited by inaccurate, uninformative, and labour-intensive methods to quantify the population dynamics, which makes it difficult to build comprehensive models to exploit *Bdellovibrio* as a control to biofilms in systems like drinking water membranes.

This thesis aims to develop a set of novel methods and technologies to accurately investigate *Bdellovibrio* and the effect they have on dynamics of their prey; *Pseudomonas sp*, a key gram-negative biofilm forming species.

This research develops the first protocol to use flow cytometry to accurately and rapidly quantify *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas sp* growth, which makes recording high resolution population dynamics feasible. The protocol was used for the development and experimental validation of mathematical models which aimed to predict *Bdellovibrio* dynamics in batch and chemostat systems. We show the first experimental observation of *Bdellovibrio*-prey oscillations, a key component of predation dynamics and a desired phenomenon for the use of *Bdellovibrio* as a self-sustaining biocontrol. To extend the models for application to systems where biofilms prevail, we demonstrated a new method of deploying flow cytometry and

fluorescent assays to quantify and characterise the effect of nutrients on biofilm growth and predation. The findings suggest that extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) play a vital role in the attachment and persistence of biofilm when under *Bdellovibrio* predation. Thus, in biofilm research, the simple density dependent predator-prey interactions need to be augmented by representing the spatial heterogeneities in biofilm processes and properties such as its detachment, EPS and presence of metabolically damaged cells.

For a more nuanced analysis of predator-prey interactions, at the resolution of individual organisms, this research develops a novel microfluidic device to observe *Bdellovibrio* predation on a 1-D biofilm. This thesis describes both the rationale and novel protocols for combining electron-beam lithography with, the more commonly used, photolithography to create an array of high-resolution channels to constrain biofilms and challenge them with predators. The research demonstrates the opportunities and the technical challenges in using microfluidics. Ultimately, if we are to develop mathematical models that can be parameterised and used effectively in designing strategies for controlling biofilms using predatory bacteria, then observations at the individual scale in microfluidic devices will be invaluable.

Table of Contents

Abstract		I
List of Ta	ablesV	
List of Fi	igures VI	
Abbrevia	ations	K
Acknowl	edgments XII	
Declarat	ionXI	v
1 Intro	oduction	1
1.1	Research aims and objectives	2
1.2	Research outline	5
2 Liter	rature review	9
2.1	Potential applications of predatory bacteria	6
2.1.1	1 Clinical human disease 1	7
2.1.2	2 Agriculture	1
2.1.3	3 Water treatment 2	3
2.2	Predator-prey dynamics 24	4
2.2.1	1 Resistance	6
2.2.2	2 Predatory-prey ratio 30	0
2.2.3	3 Multispecies system 3	3
2.3	Experimental Methods	7
2.3.1	1 Culture turbidity, Viability plating and plaque forming unit method \dots 3	8
2.3.2	2 Direct microscopic counts and fluorescence	1
2.3.3	3 Predator prey cultures 4	2
2.3.4	4 Real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR)	3
2.3.5	5 Microfluidics	5
3 Valio	dating flow cytometry as a method for quantifying Bdellovibrio	
predator	y bacteria and its prey for microbial ecology	2

3.1 lr	ntroduction	52
3.2 N	Nethods	57
3.2.1	Bacterial strains and growth conditions	57
3.2.2	Preparation of predator filtrate samples for enumeration and	
compa	arison	58
3.2.3	Flow cytometry	58
3.2.4	Optical density	59
3.2.5	Plaque forming unit assay	59
3.2.6	Standard curve preparation for qPCR	60
3.2.7	qPCR	61
V	alidation of FCM gating system	62
3.2.8		62
3.2.9	Statistical analysis	62
3.3 R	esults and Discussion	63
3.3.1	Optical density	63
3.3.2	Plaque forming unit assay	65
3.3.3	qPCR	67
3.3.4	Validation of FCM gating system	68
3.4 G	ieneral discussion	70
4 Bdello	ovibrio predator - prey modelling	74
4.1 <i>N</i>	Nethods	90
4.1.1	The predator and the prey	90
4.1.2	Inocula History	91
4.1.3	Identifying the Monod model parameters	93
4.1.4	Computer models	94
4.1.5	Batch predator prey simulations	94
4.1.6	Batch predator prey experiments	94
4.1.7	Chemostat Simulations	95
4.1.8	Chemostat Monod parameter experiment run 1	96
4.1.9	Chemostat Monod parameter experiment run 2	96
4.1.1() Flow cytometry	96
4.1.1´	1 Glucose measurement	97

4	.2	Results	97
	4.2.	1 Inocula History	97
	4.2.2	2 Batch predator prey system	99
	4.2.3	3 Batch validation/fitting 1	05
	4.2.4	4 Simulations to explore different classes of population dynamics in a	
	cher	nostat	12
4	.3	Discussion1	18
5	Deve	elopment of a multi-parametric well plate assay to measure biofilm	
grov	wth i	n response to <i>Bdellovibrio</i> predation1	28
5	.1	Methods1	33
	5.1.	1 Biofilm microplate study 1	34
	5.1.2	2 Statistical analysis 1	36
5	.2	Results and discussion1	37
	5.2.	1 Static well plate assay1	37
5	.3	Conclusion1	46
6	Deve	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization	n
6 and	Deve soft	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1.	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1.7	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1.7 6.1.7	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53 53 54
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1. 6.1. 6.1.	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53 53 54 56
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1.2 6.1.2 6.1.4	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1.2 6.1.2 6.1.4 .2 6.2.1	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60 60
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1.7 6.1.7 6.1.7 6.1.4 6.2.7	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60 60 64
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1.7 6.1.7 6.1.7 6.1.4 6.2.7 6.2.7 .3	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device 1 crofluidics 1 Soft lithography 1 2 Photolithography 1 3 Resists 1 Multi-layer devices 1 1 Microfluidic device design and fabrication 1 Results and discussion	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60 60 64 64
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.2. 6.2. 3 6.3.	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device crofluidics 1 Soft lithography 1 Soft lithography 1 Photolithography 1 3 Resists 1 Multi-layer devices 1 Methods 1 Microfluidic device design and fabrication 1 Microfluidic device bacteria culture 1 Results and discussion 1 Substrate preparation	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60 60 64 64 65
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.2. 6.2. 3 6.3. 6.3.	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60 60 64 64 65 66
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.2. 6.2. 3 6.3. 6.3. 6.3.	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device crofluidics 1 crofluidics 1 Soft lithography 1 2 Photolithography 1 3 Resists 1 Multi-layer devices 1 Methods 1 1 Microfluidic device design and fabrication 1 Results and discussion 1 Substrate preparation 1 Substrate preparation 1 3 Patterning	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60 60 64 65 65 66 70
6 and 6	Deve soft .1 Mi 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.1. 6.2. 6.2. 6.2.	elopment and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device 1 crofluidics 1 1 Soft lithography 1 2 Photolithography 1 3 Resists 1 4 Multi-layer devices 1 Methods 1 1 Microfluidic device design and fabrication 1 2 Microfluidic device bacteria culture 1 1 Substrate preparation 1 2 E-beam lithography 1 3 Patterning 1 4 Development 1	n 49 52 53 53 54 56 60 60 64 65 66 70 70

	6.3	.6 PDMS device fabrication	176
	6.4	Conclusion	184
7	Со	nclusion	186
	7.1	Future perspectives	193
8	Ар	pendix	196
	8.1 C	hapter 3	196
	8.2	Chapter 4	196
	8.2	.1 MATLAB code for batch predator prey model	
	8.2	.2 MATLAB code for chemostat predator prey model	199
9	Ret	ferences	203

List of Tables

Table 4.1- kinetic parameters used in model. 105
Table 4.2- Measurement of the free living planktonic bacterial cells in the bulk
liquid and the bacterial cells present in biofilm attached to the reactor surface.118
Table 6.1- Table detailing the protocol for substrate (e.g., silicon wafer) cleaning
and preparation
Table 6.2- Table detailing the three methods used to fabricate two layers of HSQ
with an estimated total thickness of $1\mu m$
Table 6.3- Table detailing the chemical development of HSQ. 171
Table 6.4- Table detailing photolithography stage for SU8 resist layers of 20 μm
depth
Table 6.5- Table detailing the protocol for PDMS device fabrication 177
Table 6.6- Table detailing the protocol for bonding PDMS device to a glass slide 178
Table 8.1-The mean and standard deviation for optical density (600nm) values
from three observations and the Box-Cox transformations (lambda=-0.6) 196

List of Figures

Figure 2.1- Schematic diagram describing the typical life cycle of an epibiotic
predatory bacteria 12
Figure 2.2- Schematic diagram describing the typical life cycle of an endobiotic
predatory bacteria
Figure 2.3- Schematic diagram describing the typical life cycle of predatory
bacteria that display group attack
Figure 3.1- Liner regression plot with confidence intervals (grey) to compare
quantification when using flow cytometry (natural log (cells/ml) with other
methods
Figure 3.2- Dot plot of forward scatter (FSC-A) vs green fluorescence (FITC-A) used
for flow cytometry gating
Figure 3.3- FCM count (log(cells/ml) of the A) <i>Bdellovibrio</i> predator and B) the
Pseudomonas prey at different densities (low, medium and high) and different mix
conditions
Figure 4.1- Schematic representation of inocula history experiment
Figure 4.2- Schematic diagram represents the flasks for the batch experiments 95
Figure 4.3- Specific growth rate (h^{-1}) of <i>Pseudomonas</i> vs the initial concentration of
glucose (mg/L)
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose101Figure 4.5- Growth curve of <i>Bdellovibrio</i> and <i>Pseudomonas</i> (cells/ml) populationduring batch culture with different initial prey concentrations.102Figure 4.6- Specific growth rate (h ⁻¹) of <i>Bdellovibrio</i> vs the initial concentration of104prey (cells/ml) in batch culture104Figure 4.7- Batch flask 1.107Figure 4.8- Batch flask 2.108
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose101Figure 4.5- Growth curve of <i>Bdellovibrio</i> and <i>Pseudomonas</i> (cells/ml) populationduring batch culture with different initial prey concentrations.102Figure 4.6- Specific growth rate (h ⁻¹) of <i>Bdellovibrio</i> vs the initial concentration of104prey (cells/ml) in batch culture104Figure 4.7- Batch flask 1.107Figure 4.8- Batch flask 2.108Figure 4.9- Batch flask 3.109
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose
Figure 4.4- Relationship of <i>Pseudomonas</i> growth with glucose101Figure 4.5- Growth curve of <i>Bdellovibrio</i> and <i>Pseudomonas</i> (cells/ml) population102during batch culture with different initial prey concentrations.102Figure 4.6- Specific growth rate (h ⁻¹) of <i>Bdellovibrio</i> vs the initial concentration of104prey (cells/ml) in batch culture104Figure 4.7- Batch flask 1.107Figure 4.8- Batch flask 2.108Figure 4.9- Batch flask 3.109Figure 4.10- Batch flask 4.110Figure 4.11- Batch flask 5.111Figure 4.12- Model predicted surface plot112

Figure 4.14- Experimentally observed transient response during chemostat culture
Figure 4.15- Altered model predicted transient response during chemostat culture
Figure 5.1- Correlation between the endpoint signal generated by crystal violet
assay and other biofilm quantification methods
Figure 5.2- The growth of biofilms after 24 hours in different media is measured by
different methods 142
Figure 5.3- The effect of Bdellovibrio predation on Pseudomonas biofilms pre-
grown in different media 144
Figure 5.4- The effect of <i>Bdellovibrio</i> predation on the percentage of <i>Pseudomonas</i>
in the well that exist as biofilm
Figure 6.1- Flow chart summarising the development of the workflow of e-beam
lithography and photolithography to pattern negative channels on silicon substrate.
Figure 6.2- Flow chart summarising the development of the workflow of PDMS
device
Figure 6.3- E-beam lithography stage of the process
Figure 6.4- Microscope view of channels after development
Figure 6.5- Microscope view of $1\mu m$ width e-beam generated HSQ channels after
development
Figure 6.6- Photolithography stage of the process
Figure 6.7 -PDMS device fabrication179
Figure 6.8- Design of microfluidic device to investigate the effect of biofilm
thickness on predation
Figure 6.9- Microscope view of Pseudomonas cells trapped in growth channel of
PDMS device waste

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning		
Chapter 1			
EPS	Extracellular polymeric substance		
PFU	Plaque forming unit		
OD	Optical density		
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction		
FSC	Forward scatter		
FCM	Flow cytometry		
WGA	Wheat germ agglutin		
Chapter 2			
d-BALO	Delta-Bdellovibrio and like organism		
a-BALO	Alpha-Bdellovibrio and like organism		
S-layer	Surface layer		
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides		
DN	Dilute nutrient		
FISH	Fluorescent in situ hybridisation		
PDMS	Polydimethylsiloxane		
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration		
DCNA	Doubly crosslinked nano-adhesive		
TPE	Thermoset Polyester		
	Chapter 3		
IBD	Inflammatory bowel diseases		
PI	Propidium iodide		
SYBR I	SYBR green I		
SSC	Side scatter		
ρ	Pearson's correlation coefficient		
FITC	Green fluorescence		
TAE	Tris acetate-EDTA		
HH	High predator: high prey		

HL	High predator: low prey
MM	Medium predator: medium prey
LH	Low Predator: high prey
LL	Low Predator: high prey
k-w	Kruskal Wallace
	Chapter 4
X	Prey population size (cells/ml)
Y	Predator population size (cells/ml)
t	Time (h)
k1, k2, k3 and k4	Positive constants
$\frac{dX}{dt}$	Prey population growth
$\frac{dY}{dt}$	Predator population growth
k	Carrying capacity (cells/ml)
μ	Growth rate (h ⁻¹)
	Growth limiting substrate concentration
S	(mg/L)
μ_X	Prey maximum specific growth rate(h ⁻¹)
K _S	Substrate saturation constant (mg/L)
$\frac{dS}{dt}$	Change in substrate concentration
ζ_S	Prey yield (cell/mg substrate)
	Predator yield (predator cells/1 prey
ζ_X	cell)
	Predator maximum specific growth
μ_Y	rate(h ⁻¹)
K_X	Prey saturation constant (cells/ml)
	Initial substrate concentration/substrate
S ₀	concentration in the influent (mg/L)
D	Dilution rate (h ⁻¹)
X ₀	Initial prey concentration (cells/ml)

Y ₀	Initial predator concentration (cells/ml)		
Chapter 5			
PNAG	Poly-N acetylglucosamine		
PBS	Phosphate buffer solution		
Chapter 6			
CAD	Computer aid design		
UV	Ultraviolet		
E-beam	Electron beam		
HSQ	Hydrogen silsesquioxane		
ТМАН	Tetramethyl ammonium hydroxide		
IPA	Isopropyl alcohol		
JWNC	James Watt nanofabrication centre		

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I wish to express my profound gratitude to my PhD supervisors Professor William T. Sloan and Dr Stephanie Connelly, for their great support, kindness and guidance during my PhD. They have not only shown patience and encouragement but provided key insight and shown a genuine interest in my development as a person and researcher. I look forward to working with them further in the future. Additionally, I am grateful for their efforts along with the other principal investigators of the water and environment group to build a pleasant and collaborative work culture.

A special thanks to Dr Rungroch Sungthong, who offered useful advice and training in regard to *Bdellovibrio* research and at the beginning of my PhD, helped make my transition to the lab a success. I am also grateful to Dr Ciara Keating and Dr Marta Vignola for the guidance in microfluidics and flow cytometry respectively.

I would like to thank Robert Harkin and Linda Pollock for their help in training me with nanofabrication in the JWNC as well as the rest of the JWNC staff for carrying out the e-beam exposures and fabrication of the photomask used in this study.

A big thankyou to Julie Russell, Anne McGarrity and the other technicians in the lab. Their dedication and consideration have been vital in maintaining the high standard of lab practice and has facilitated a safe and comfortable environment for me and other lab members. In particular, I would like to thank Julie, Marie Claire Toukam, Lisa Melville and Alysha Hunter for their help with sampling for the chemostat run in this study.

Finally, I want to express my eternal gratitude to my friends and family, for their support and encouragement and especially my parents Idowu and Olayinka Ogundero for their constant love and encouragement. They have gone above and beyond in their emotional and financial support throughout my life and so words alone cannot express my appreciation.

Declaration

With the exception of chapters 1 and 2, which contain introductory material, all work in this thesis was carried out by the author unless otherwise explicitly stated.

1 Introduction

Engineers of the 19th and 20th century transformed the public health and life quality of Western cities by developing infrastructure to deliver energy and clean water into our houses and remove and treat wastewater (Sapkota et al ., 2014). This infrastructure has served us well and we continue to upgrade it to provide ever-safer and more convenient ways of life and a more pristine environment (Beddington et al., 2009). What we have arrived at is a highly centralised paradigm for the technologies and management practices used in the urban water cycle. Here, water is moved through enormous networks and treated in large facilities (Parkinson and Tayler, 2003).

With climate change, population growth, resource scarcity, and rising energy costs there is a growing recognition that these centralised systems, which dissipate water, energy and materials, may not be the most sustainable for all communities, especially those in rural areas (Sapkota *et al* ., 2014). Thus, there is a desire for change and innovation. Indeed the UK water industry has embraced the concept of responsible innovation and have committed to becoming energy-neutral and chemical-free (Beddington et al., 2009). However, given the irreducible energy demands of many existing pumping systems, there is little consensus on how this will be achieved. Part of the problem is that we are locked into existing large-scale energy and water infrastructure; replacing, for example, a huge wastewater treatment plant with a radically new but as yet untried technology carries unacceptable risks for water companies (Beddington et al., 2009).

Decentralised systems are a viable alternative to deliver safe, treated water and reduce water quality failures (Parkinson and Tayler, 2003). Unlike centralised systems, they aim to treat, reuse or dispose of water in relatively close vicinity to the local available sources of water and utilise small to medium scale transportation networks (Sapkota *et al*., 2014). Decentralised systems therefore have potential to exhibit greater flexibility to accommodate the ever-growing

water needs and challenges of rural communities as well as significantly reducing health and environmental hazards (Sapkota *et al* ., 2014).

Crucially however, the relatively smaller scale of decentralised systems means they do not exhibit the redundancy inherent in extensive grid systems and thus are unable to effectively mitigate the impacts of operation failures (or down time) caused by biofouling (Peter-Varbanets et al., 2009). Biofouling is the nuisance growth of biofilms. Biofilms represent, a mode of bacterial living where bacterial cells stick to each other and to a surfaces with the aid of extracellular structures such as pili and flagella and by excretion of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) (Núñez et al., 2005). Microorganisms living in biofilms have been shown to survive longer and have greater resistance to environmental stresses such as chlorine, in comparison to free swimming planktonic bacteria (Abberton et al., 2016). Biofilm formation in decentralised systems, as in centralised systems, negatively impacts performance and increases operating cost (Chen et al., 2010). Current strategies to mitigate biofouling include application of damaging chemicals such as chlorine and can produce excess sludge requiring treatment (Monnappa et al., 2013). Thus, there is the need to develop new, effective, and environmentally safe ways to treat water in a decentralised system.

Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus are a species of predatory bacteria that have been investigated as a potential biocontrol for biofilm growth but there is lack of comprehensive understanding of predation dynamics in part due to the lack of reliable multiparametric and fast methods for investigation (Jurkevitch, 2012). This makes it difficult to develop detailed plans for *Bdellovibrio* application in membrane-based drinking water treatment.

1.1 Research aims and objectives

The goal of this thesis is to investigate the dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* predation using novel methods and technologies that will enable a deeper understanding of *Bdellovibrio* and their potential as a biocontrol against biofilms in membranebased water treatment technologies. Many of the previous studies into *Bdellovibrio*

predation are limited by labour intensive and inaccurate methods such as the plaque forming unit (PFU) method. In the first experimental chapter, we aim to address this by developing a protocol to accurately measure *Bdellovibrio* in a high-throughput manner. Flow cytometry is likely an ideal tool for this with the further benefit of providing multiparametric analysis as has been shown in previous studies (Koch et al., 2014). To confirm this, we aim to demonstrate flow cytometry's ability to accurately measure *Bdellovibrio* samples of varying concentrations and compare the results to the more conventional enumeration methods of optical density (OD), PFU and quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). We hypothesise that measurements made by flow cytometry will show a high correlation to those made by the aforementioned methods, in particular qPCR which is often regarded as high accuracy tool for microbial enumeration (lebba et al., 2013).

The forward scatter (FSC) is a key parameter measured by flow cytometry and can be used as a proxy for cell size, because of the nature of *Bdellovibrio's* small cell size in comparison to their gram-negative prey, we hypothesise that the forward scatter can be used to distinguish *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas*, allowing the measurement of both predator and prey cells at the same time. This will be an improvement on previous studies that typically measure the prey and predator with different methods or methods that are unable to directly measure *Bdellovibrio* such as those that measure the decrease in turbidity as an indication of predation (Im et al., 2014). Addressing this gap in the research enables more robust investigation into the dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* predation.

The success of *Bdellovibrio* in decentralised water treatment systems will rely on being able to predict and engineer the microbial population towards the desired prevention and removal of excessive biofilm growth. In chapter 4, we use the method of flow cytometry established in the previous chapter to measure in a batch system, the growth of *Bdellovibrio* on *Pseudomonas* and the growth of *Pseudomonas* on glucose, a carbon growth limiting substrate. By doing so in a batch system, we aim to reliably quantify key growth parameters such as the

growth rate. These parameters are to be applied to modified Lotka-Volterra models in a batch and chemostat system.

Mathematical models such as the Lotka-Volterra have been demonstrated for microbial predation many times but there have been every few experimentally validated models of *Bdellovibrio* predation and no models have demonstrated the ability to predict predator prey oscillations experimentally (Summers and Kreft, 2019). Predator prey oscillations are a key feature of microbial populations that could be exploited for use in clearing the biofilms of decentralised systems in a self-sustaining manner. However, without the use of mathematical models, it is extremely difficult to predict the necessary environment for this occur. Thus, this study aims to first demonstrate the batch model's ability to predict different outcomes based on the initial prey, predator and glucose concentration. Secondly the study aims to demonstrate the chemostat model's ability to predict the dilution rate and influent glucose concentration that will induce predator prey oscillations.

It is well known that biofilm growth occurs through the interaction of many different processes and can manifest itself its various ways(Gefen and Balaban, 2009). Despite this many biofilm studies, especially those that focus on *Bdellovibrio* predation are limited to only measuring the biomass. This not only limits the understanding of the heterogeneity displayed in biofilm growth and predation but prevents the development of accurate *Bdellovibrio* models. To address this, chapter 5 presents an approach to analyse the growth of biofilm under predation in a high throughput and multiparametric manner.

We present a multi-well plate assay to investigate the growth of biofilm and change in EPS, under predation after growth in different media. Crystal violet is typically used as a means to assess biofilm biomass following exposure to antibiotics, so the study initially compares it to other means of assessing biofilm; flow cytometry, resazurin assay and the wheat germ agglutin assay. We then hypothesise the environment and nutrients available to a biofilm during growth will affect the growth of the total and intact bacteria of the biofilm, the EPS

production and the quantity of planktonic cells in the bulk liquid. We aim to observe whether *Bdellovibrio* predation has any effect on these measurements and demonstrate the necessity to use multiple methods of biofilm assessment in alternative to crystal violet to gain more accurate and in-depth quantification of biofilm growth under predation. This will aid the future development of biofilm predation models.

Though the well plate is based on the end point assessment of static biofilms, there is also the need to monitor biofilm growth and predation in real time, in an open system and at the single cell level. All this can be provided by microfluidics but many of the current investigations that use microfluidics often display methods that are vague, incomplete or inaccessible in language to microbial ecologists who are unfamiliar with the technologies. This makes the devices and the technologies used difficult to replicate and makes it harder for the knowledge gained to be verified and built upon by other researchers. Thus, in chapter 6 we aim to provide a detailed introduction into microfluidic devices and the technologies used to fabricate them for the purpose of single cell analysis. We then provide a comprehensive protocol for the fabrication of a Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) microfluidic device with the aim to investigate the effect of biofilm thickness on predation.

Biofilm thickness is an important parameter for biofilm growth and has been demonstrated to reduce the success of antimicrobials (Molobela and Ilunga, 2012). However, it is difficult to control this in an experimental set up, so we aim to build a number of microfluidic devices to restrict *Pseudomonas* growth to a single line in channels of different lengths to model a 1-D intersection of a 'traditional' multilayer biofilm. The length of the channels was to act as a proxy for biofilm thickness and so we hypothesised that at some length the *Pseudomonas* prey was able to outgrow the *Bdellovibrio* predator and avoid complete biofilm removal. As previous, this information would allow the construction of a biofilm predation model where predator prey oscillation could be observed.

Traditional photolithography techniques that are typically used to fabricate microfluidic devices are unable to reliably produce channels of 1µm required to trap *Pseudomonas* cells, so we aim to optimise a protocol for microfluidic fabrication that combines photolithography with electron-beam lithography, a technology that allows for higher resolution structures. Doing so would also increase the throughput of microfluidic design and fabrication, reducing the need for fabrication of new photomasks whenever changes are required to be made to the design.

1.2 Research outline

The following section provides an overview of the chapters and research carried out in this thesis.

- 1. Chapter 2 will introduce predatory bacteria and *Bdellovibrio* and provide an overview of how they have been investigated as a biocontrol solution to unwanted bacterial growth in different fields such as in clinical human disease, agriculture and water treatment. We will discuss the different factors that may affect predation and review some of the key methods that have been used to investigate microbial predation and biofilm growth in the past including mathematical models, microfluidics, fluorescent staining, microscopy and genetic based techniques.
- 2. In chapter 3 we describe a novel protocol to measure the number of *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* cells of varying density using flow cytometry (FCM) and compare the results with those of other more conventional methods: optical density (OD), plaque forming unit assay (PFU) and quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). Additionally, we validated the use of flow cytometry by demonstrating its ability to distinguish and count mixed populations of *Bdellovibrio* and the prey *Pseudomonas*.
- 3. Chapter 4 includes a study, which makes use of mass-action mathematical models and experiments to further study the dynamics between *B*.

bacteriovorus and *Pseudomonas* and a carbon limiting substrate, when present in a batch and chemostat system. Specifically, we conduct batch experiments which grow *Pseudomonas* on different concentrations of glucose and *Bdellovibrio* on different concentrations of prey to obtain parameters for a computer model. We then aim to validate the model by comparing simulations to a series of batch experiments. Using the validated parameters, we develop a chemostat model and simulate the region whereby the dilution rate and influent glucose concentration yields distinct characteristic dynamics such as predator-prey oscillations. Finally, we conduct a chemostat experiment to compare the observed dynamics with those predicted by the model to produce predator-prey oscillations.

- 4. Chapter 5 presents an microwell plate assay to measure the heterogeneity and complexity of biofilm growth under predation. We study the effect of *Bdellovibrio* predation on *Pseudomonas* biofilms statically grown in different growth media (nutrient rich, nitrogen rich, carbon rich and nutrient poor) in microwell plates. Biofilms are analysed by crystal violet, resazurin, wheat germ agglutin (WGA) assays to assess the biomass, viability and EPS production. We used flow cytometry to further characterise the biofilm and quantify the planktonic cells in the bulk liquid. Additionally, we compare biofilm measurements by flow cytometry to crystal violet, resazurin and WGA assays to validate the method.
- 5. In chapter 6, we provide an introduction to PDMS microfluidic devices, the techniques and technologies used to develop them and a clear protocol that demonstrates how to design, develop and fabricate a microfluidic device with low aspect ratio growth channels by combining e-beam lithography with traditional photolithography. These growth channels aim to restrict bacterial growth in the microfluidic device using hydrodynamic forces to a single line to model a 2-D intersection of a 'traditional' multilayer biofilm and investigate the role of biofilm thickness on predation.

6. The final chapter will act as a summary and outline of the key findings of the thesis and highlight how they will aid potential future fundamental and applied investigations into the use of *Bdellovibrio* as a biocontrol against biofilms in drinking water treatment.

2 Literature review

One novel approach to mitigate biofilm and biofouling in decentralised technologies that is gaining interest is the potential application of biological predators to these biofilm producing bacteria (Feng *et al* ., 2016). Predation of bacteria is an interaction that is widespread and there is evidence that it significantly shapes the ecosystem that it acts within (Jürgens and Matz, 2002) and as such may present the most effective way to prevent and reduce biofilm formation.

Predation as a whole is studied in great depth in larger eukaryotic organisms in the macroscale, whereas its effect on microorganisms such as bacteria are often overlooked in comparison. There have been bacteria predation studies providing some insight into the cell biology, ecology and evolution of bacteria in the environment. They suggest that bacterial predation is a key selective force in a number of factors such as the size and shape of bacteria, distribution, population structure and even possibly in the evolution of pathogenicity (Bohannan and Lenski, 2000).

Predation on bacteria occurs through the action of three key organisms; bacteriophages, protists and predatory bacteria (Johnke et al., 2014). Bacteriophages (also known as phages) are viruses that infect and lyse bacteria. They are highly selective and in some cases one phage will only predate upon a single strain of bacterium (Hanlon, 2007). Phages inject their genome into the bacterial prey's cytoplasm allowing them to replicate inside the bacterial cell to a point where the progeny is then released at the expense of the bacterial cell, in order to infect neighbouring prey cells (Hanlon, 2007). Phages were initially used as a treatment of bacterial infectious diseases in the early 1920's, particularly in eastern Europe, but this was largely abandoned after the practical application of penicillin and other antibiotics in the 1940's (Matsuzaki et al., 2005). This trend has changed in the last few decades, with some recent studies investigating the application of bacteriophages. For example, it has been proposed that the

introduction of strain-specific lytic phages into cholera contaminated environmental reservoirs can reduce the severity of cholera outbreaks and promote the decline of the pathogen (Jensen et al., 2006).

Protists are a diverse group of eukaryotic organisms such as amoeba, protozoa, algae and slime moulds (Finlay, 2004). Many species belonging to the protist group are phagotrophic and so feed by engulfing and ingesting food particles and cells into a phagocytic vacuole (Weisse et al., 2016). Protists have been demonstrated to be important phagocytic predators of bacteria (Sherr and Sherr, 2002) and unlike phages, they are generalist feeders (Bell et al., 2010).

Adiba *et al*, (2010), investigated protozoan grazing on virulent strains of *E. coli* and concluded that bacteria virulence was associated with an increased resistance to protozoan grazing. They proposed that this was an indication as to why so many bacteria virulent to humans exist despite virulence being considered by some as a maladaptation (Kniskern and Rausher, 2001).

Predatory bacteria are defined as specialised bacteria that both 'hunt' and kill bacterial prey in order to obtain nutrients and energy by consuming the prey's macromolecules (Jurkevitch, 2006a). It is important to note that predatory bacteria are distinguished from bacteria that simply secrete growth inhibition metabolites (which is very common) or parasites that form close and potentially non-lethal associations with bacteria (Pasternak et al., 2013). Those bacteria termed as predators must be able to use its motility to find and then kill and feed on their prey (Jurkevitch, 2006a).

In a similar fashion to protists, the term "predatory bacteria" serves to group many species which are taxonomically diverse. They are distributed over several phyla and exhibit a range of different hunting strategies, which a number of studies have attempted to classify (Martin, 2002). It is particularly difficult to determine a strict classification system because new predatory bacteria are often being discovered and many that already are, have yet to be studied in depth (Pasternak et al., 2013). Moreover, the classification of certain predators may be

biased as the predators are usually only observed in the presence of culturable prey and thus the potential for a single predator to exhibit more than one predatory strategy depending on the prey or environmental conditions is rarely taken into account (Pérez et al., 2016). For example, one species of predator known as *Bdellovibrio exovorus* (discussed below), displays a different strategy from the remaining species of the *Bdellovibrio* genus suggesting that there may be some conditional changes such as prey availability that causes a shift between the two modes of feeding (Chanyi et al., 2013).

Perez *et al* (2016) distinguishes three general types of predation: epibiotic strategies, endobiotic strategies and group attack strategies. In epibiotic strategies (Fig 2.1), the predators do not invade the prey cell but consumes the prey from the outside while attached to the prey cell envelope. The predator divides into two daughter cells which detach to search for more prey, continuing the predation cycle. This group includes the genera *Vampirococcus*, *Micavibrio* and *Bdellovibrio exovorus* (Pasternak et al., 2014).



Figure 2.1- Schematic diagram describing the typical life cycle of an epibiotic predatory bacteria.

In endobiotic strategies (Fig 2.2) an individual predatory cell directly penetrates the cell wall, to invade and divide within either the cytoplasm or the periplasmic space. Only one strain in the genus *Daptobacter* is known to invade and replicate in the cytoplasm of the prey, whereas periplasmic invasion is shown in a group of bacteria commonly referred to as delta-*Bdellovibrio* and like organisms (d-BALO), which include *Bacteriovorax* and *Bdellovibrio* species (except *Bdellovibrio exovorus* which are epibiotic predators) (Pasternak et al., 2014). While d-BALOs are deltaproteobacteria, an additional predator genus; *Micavibrio* (mentioned above) belongs to the alphaproteobacterial and hence, is distinguished as an a-BALO (Kandel et al., 2014).



Figure 2.2- Schematic diagram describing the typical life cycle of an endobiotic predatory bacteria.

Group attack (Fig 2.3) is a predation strategy that requires the cooperation of multiple predators to produce and release lytic factors to degrade prey without physical contact (Pérez et al., 2016). This strategy benefits both those predators secreting lytic factors as well as the non-secreting cells as the remains of the lysed prey are readily available as a growth substrate (Mendes-Soares and Velicer, 2013). The mutual benefits of group attack were demonstrated in a study where at high densities, *Myxococcus xanthus* cells cooperated to hydrolyse the growth substrate casein resulting in increased growth rates, whereas at low cell densities, the predators did not grow unless supplemented with already hydrolysed casein (Rosenberg et al., 1977). The *Myxobacteria*-like bacteria such as the *Myxococcus xanthus* are of particular interest because as well as their predation being density dependent, they utilise social gliding motility to search for their prey and an array

of hydrolytic enzymes and secondary metabolites to kill and breakdown the prey for consumption (Pasternak et al., 2014).



Figure 2.3- Schematic diagram describing the typical life cycle of predatory bacteria that display group attack.

Of all of these varying predatory bacteria, the most extensively studied has been *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* which are small (0.25 to 0.5×0.75 to 1.25μ m) and highly motile gram-negative bacteria. They are obligate endobiotic predators, and prey exclusively on gram-negative bacteria by entering periplasmic space to grow and reproduce (Jurkevitch, 2012). Similar to protists and phages, the ability to kill and feed upon bacteria has made *Bdellovibrio* and other predatory bacteria an interest for ecological studies and for its potential industrial applications (Chen et al., 2010).

Several traits have been suggested to make *Bdellovibrio* a more attractive biocontrol than other predators. For instance, studies using microcosms of estuarine waters demonstrated that the *Bdellovibrio*, *Halobacteriovorax* (formerly *Bacteriovorax*) responds faster than viruses to the presence of potential prey bacteria, resulting in a significantly higher prey mortality and predator growth (Williams et al., 2016). This may be because unlike viruses, *Bdellovibrio* growth is favoured in environments, where the prey grow in a slow or stationary state (Koval, 2006). In biofilms, the limited nutrient cycling means that most cells grow slowly, explaining why *Bdellovibrio* are well suited to mitigating biofilms (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005).

The life cycle of *Bdellovibrio* (Fig 2.2) is poorly understood but consists of two spatially and temporally separated phases: the first being a free-swimming attack phase in which the predators find prey by random collision, reaching speeds of 160 μ m/s, or over 100 times their length per second (Lambert et al., 2006). Unlike *Myxobacteria*, there is currently no convincing evidence that *Bdellovibrio* use chemotaxis to find suitable prey. Once, the predator has encountered its prey or 'host', the predator will reversibly attach to the prey cell wall, immobilising the prey (Burnham et al., 1968). The predator then uses enzymes to penetrate the prey cell wall and enter the periplasmic space, losing its flagellum in the process. Interestingly, invasion of prey cells by *Bdellovibrio* has been investigated for its potential to explain the mechanism of the mitochondrial endosymbiont theory (Davidov et al., 2006).

The second phase of the life cycle, being the only stage at which the predators can grow and replicate is aptly named the 'growth phase' and is often referred to in literature as the 'intraperiplasmic phase' (Jurkevitch, 2006a). The prey's morphology is altered upon penetration and a round predator-prey hybrid structure known as the 'Bdelloplast' is formed. It has been suggested that this rounding is caused by the activity of the enzyme glycanase which is produced by the predator and solubilises the glycan from the peptidoglycan in the prey bacterial cell wall(Tudor et al., 1990). It is not clear whether there is any benefit to this but penetration of mutant *Bdellovibrio* strains that do not produce glycanase and also

do not cause prey rounding only show a slight delay in their penetration in comparison to the wild type (Tudor et al., 1990).

Once penetrated, the prey is metabolically inactive, as *Bdellovibrio* do not require the host to continue processes such as DNA replication and energy generation, which is not the case with phages (Jurkevitch, 2006a). Upon invasion of the periplasmic space the predator elongates and grows in a filamentous form, degrading the prey's cytoplasm and growing on its source of rich nutrients (Lambert et al., 2007). After adequate multiplication (depending on the size of the prey) inside the 'Bdelloplast', the remains of the ghost prey cells burst, releasing the attack phase progeny into the environment to complete the life cycle (Ruby, 1991).

2.1 Potential applications of predatory bacteria

The focus of this thesis is on developing high throughput methods to quantify the *Bdellovibrio* predation dynamics with the intention to apply these as a suite of rules for the application of *Bdellovibrio* in industrial biotech; in particular in the water industry to control biofilms that cause biofouling. There has been some previous interest in this area (Kim *et al*., 2013a), but the number of studies is limited. Additionally, the lethal actions of predatory bacteria on human pathogenic bacteria is also being studied for its relevance to basic microbiology and to a lesser extent, its applications in environmental health, medicine, agriculture and other industries (Dwidar et al., 2012b). All of these studies have, to a degree, been inspired by the growing body of literature on biomedical applications of predatory bacteria in a clinical setting to fight infection (Baker et al., 2017). This is an active area of research that is pushing rapidly towards practical solutions. In order to understand the scope of *Bdellovibrio* application; an overview is given below of the challenges and developments in using predatory bacteria as a medical and nonmedical biocontrol agent.

2.1.1 Clinical human disease

One of the most pressing concerns for public and environmental health is the development and spread of antibiotic resistant bacteria (Igbinosa and Odjadjare, 2015). A number of different measures for mitigation are currently being explored by the scientific community, including the use of biological alternatives. *Bdellovibrio* have been proposed as 'living antibiotics' and present a particularly interesting alternative to investigate because their natural life cycle causes death to gram-negative bacteria, which have had no new classes of antibiotics developed to combat them in the last few decades (Parisien et al., 2008).

Moreover, it has been suggested that biological agents such as *Bdellovibrio* are significantly less likely to cause the spread of resistance because they evolve alongside the prey bacteria and attempts to select for resistant prey are rarely successful, as discussed further below (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005). Other than phenotypic resistance which is temporary (discussed further below) (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003) and biofilm formation which has been shown to be favoured by *Bdellovibrio* below (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005), there are few other general defence mechanisms to predation shown by prey.

High motility and toxin production has been demonstrated as a bacterial defence against protozoan predation (Matz and Kjelleberg, 2005), however adaptive bacterial defences against *Bdellovibrio* have not been studied in great depth (Pérez et al., 2016). It is known that *Bdellovibrio* cannot attach to and hence predate to bacteria that display paracrystalline protein surface layers (S layers) on their surface (Koval and Hynes, 1991). Similarly, S-layers provide protection to the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus sp.* against heterotrophic nano-flagellate predators, causing the predator to prematurely egest the bacteria shortly after the ingestion (Boenigk et al., 2001).

Bdellovibrio may have many potential uses where antibiotics are currently used, particularly for the health and wellbeing of humans in a clinical setting, where

antibiotic resistance has made it difficult to treat a number of life-threatening diseases (Igbinosa and Odjadjare, 2015).

If *Bdellovibrio* are to be used as a treatment in such a complex system as the human body, in vivo studies are needed to reveal the dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* predation in clinically relevant conditions (Dwidar et al., 2012b). One of the most key in vivo investigations to demonstrate the potential of *Bdellovibrio* as a therapeutic, was that of Nakamura (1972). It used experimental animal models to investigate the alteration of *Shigella* pathogenicity and virulence by the antagonistic interactions of *B. bacteriovorus*. Inoculations of *B. bacteriovorus* suspensions in the eyes of rabbits experimentally infected with *Shigella flexneri* eliminated or substantially reduced severity of keratoconjunctivitis induced by the infection (Nakamura, 1972). The study followed the infection rate of the rabbits for 6 days and indicated that the time of *Bdellovibrio* treatment was important, as the *S. flexneri* infection rate after 6 days was 0% when *Bdellovibrio* treatment was started at 12h following infection, whereas upon simultaneous inoculation of *S. flexneri* and *B. bacteriovorus* at 0 hours the infection rate was higher at 20%.

Moreover, after 12h, as the time of treatment following infection increased further so did the infection rate. Infection rate increased to 25% at 48h and 75% at 72h. This is possibly due to the regrowth of bacteria that survived *Bdellovibrio* predation by displaying temporary phenotypic resistance (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003). Additional experiments showed that simultaneous inoculation of *B*. *bacteriovorus*, eliminated or reduced the fluid accumulation in the intestinal tract of rabbits associated with shigella infection (Nakamura, 1972).

A more recent study (Baker et al., 2017), investigated the *Bdellovibrio* predation of antibiotic resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, a human pathogen that is responsible for a major proportion of hospital originating infections and associated with high morbidity (Mehrad et al., 2015). Mathematical models of the study provided evidence that suggested *Bdellovibrio* could significantly reduce the K. *pneumoniae* load in serum, though this was followed by a regrowth of prey population. This reduction was shown using two different batches of serum, which

is an important indication that *Bdellovibrio* would not be too patient specific as a potential therapeutic. However, a much wider range of different human serum batches would have to be tested before clinical application. The extent and time of reduction and regrowth also showed to be quite variable among repeats of the same serum batch and even more variation was observed between differing batches. In batch one, significant reduction would begin at varying time points from as early as 24 hours to as late as approximately 48 hours and batch two in contrast, the earliest significant reduction was shown at 60 hours. For all experiments using batch one, they prey had regrown to a population size close to its initial size by 72 hours. The factors (other than initial prey and predator concentration) that determine such varying population dynamics will have to be further understood before *Bdellovibrio* can be applied to a healthcare setting as the results are considerably different to predation experiments in buffer (Shatzkes et al., 2016).

The Baker *et al* (2017) study extrapolates beyond the experimental observations using mathematical models to give further insight to the implications of dynamics observed. In particular it focused on the design of a dosage regime for a *Bdellovibrio* based therapeutic; thus the effect of human serum on predation outcome was considered, which makes an important step from previous papers in the discipline that monitor predation in laboratory media such as dilute nutrient broth (Dashiff et al., 2011).

Although previous studies such as this (Dashiff et al., 2011) were vital in demonstrating the potential use of predatory bacteria as a biocontrol agent for suppressing multidrug-resistant bacteria, laboratory media does not contain factors found in human serum such as antibodies that may display antimicrobial effects on the *Bdellovibrio* and reduce the therapeutic efficacy (Baker et al., 2017). Thus, using media would prove less applicable than serum or even whole blood for further clinical investigations which could answer questions such as the role the human immune system will have on predation (Dashiff et al., 2011). For example, in vivo studies have shown that the zebrafish immune system works alongside *Bdellovibrio* to promote the suppression of the antibiotic resistant *Shigella*

pathogen, resulting in increased zebrafish survival. Subsequently the *Bdellovibrio* cells are cleared by the immune system, with no negative effects on the zebrafish being observed (Willis et al., 2016). Interestingly, the mathematical model of predator-prey dynamics in human serum of Baker *et al.* (2017), suggested that the predators showed reduced attachment to the prey in serum compared to predation in buffer (Baker et al., 2017). Initially it was unclear from the mathematical model whether this was a result of unsuccessful predator-prey attachments not resulting in predation or simply less frequent attachment events occurring. To investigate further, fluorescence microscopy was used to demonstrate that upon initial contact to serum, the predator temporarily changed morphology to a rounded shape, which was correlated to a decrease in predator growth. The attachment delay and associated predator growth delay should be investigated further and the study suggested that it highlights the potential use of pre-conditioning predator cells to serum, thereby increasing their efficiency as a therapeutic agent (Baker et al., 2017).

Notwithstanding the effectiveness of *Bdellovibrio* at killing pathogenic bacteria, the safety of the treatment is of the upmost importance if it to be used medically for humans and even animals. Several studies over the years have suggested that Bdellovibrio are likely to be safe for both animals and humans. For example, Shatzkes *et al* (2015), demonstrated that mouse viability was not affected after intranasal or intravenous inoculation of *B. bacteriovorus* and no prolonged inflammatory response was observed (Shatzkes et al., 2015). Bdellovibrio have also been shown to be present in the gut of animals and humans (lebba et al., 2013). One concern regarding the use of *Bdellovibrio* in humans and animals, is whether it could trigger a harmful immune response. As in all gram-negative bacteria, the outer membrane of *Bdellovibrio* contain lipopolysaccharides (LPS), which have a number of functions as well as adding to the structural integrity of the bacteria (Rietschel et al., 1994). The LPS of several bacteria have strong endotoxic activity and induce strong immune responses. Studies in Bdellovibrio were carried out to determine whether this was the case and found that the LPS of *B. bacteriovorus* was unique in that it lacked phosphate groups, resulting in a significantly lower
binding affinity for human LPS receptors and reducing the endotoxic activity (Schwudke et al., 2003).

2.1.2 Agriculture

There have been few successful investigations into the potential of *Bdellovibrio* to control plant pathogenic bacteria in agriculture, despite the fact that *Bdellovibrio* are found naturally in soils and can display a rapid response to the presence of large number of prey even in dried soil (Klein and Casida Jr., 1967).

Rice is a staple food for more than half the world's population and vital source of income for millions of households, so as global demands increase with increases in global population, there is the need to enhance productivity of the crop (Muthayya et al., 2014). However, production is greatly reduced by diseases that have been difficult to control (Shrestha et al., 2016).

One such disease is bacterial panicle blight caused by the rice seed borne pathogen *Burkholderia glumae*. Rice fields affected by the disease have often shown have rice production losses as high as 75% (Ham et al., 2011). There are few efficient ways control the disease and currently the most recommended strategies focus on using disease resistant rice strains or controlling the seed of susceptible plants. However, this can provide inconsistent results (Ham et al., 2011). Other methods of control include the use of chemicals, which can be environmentally harmful and are vulnerable to resistance caused by mutations (Shrestha et al., 2016).

Using avirulent bacteria that do not cause disease, to compete with pathogens is one of many biocontrol agents that are disadvantaged by their limited capacity to successfully establish a population to continually antagonise the pathogen. The mechanisms of these control strategies are not well replicated from the laboratory to the field (Jeger et al., 2001). Especially as not enough is known about the conditions required to maximise the effect as well as what conditions favour pathogen growth (Shrestha et al., 2016). Additionally, using recombinant bacteria in widespread control strategies could potentially increase the risks of spread of genes to unwanted microorganisms, potentially causing harm to human and environmental health (Selvaratnam and Gealt, 1992).

As *Bdellovibrio* have been isolated from the same natural micro-environments as the rice pathogen, they may be closely associated with each other (Jurkevitch et al., 2000), giving the control agent the advantage of exploiting conditions that would otherwise favour the pathogen. Thus, further investigations are needed into the effectiveness of *Bdellovibrio* of biocontrol agents for the rice pathogen, either alone, or in combination with chemical or other biocontrol agents.

One study by Song, (2004), isolated six *B. bacteriovorus* strains and tested their predatory activity against a range of prey cells associated with pathogenicity, antibiosis, or nitrogen fixation in rice paddy fields. The predator strains were found to successfully supress 7 pathogenic prey strain populations whereas no predation was found to occur on the antibiosis-related or nitrogen fixing bacteria (as determined by optical density), which has significant beneficial implications to the field as these processes are vital for plant growth. For example, nitrogen is the greatest nutrient limitation for rice plant growth and any reduction in biological agents that fix nitrogen has to be compensated for by the increased use of nitrogen fertilizers (Ladha and Reddy, 2003) which have adverse environmental effects such as loss of soil fertility (Chung *et al.*, 2018).

A disadvantage of this study and a reason as to why microbiological control is more complex than conventional control strategies, is that it is unable to accurately replicate natural disease relevant environments such as physical habitat structure allowing co-existence of the prey organisms (Stirzaker et al., 1996). This is because unlike liquid medium (which is often used in studies such as this), soil is opaque, making observations and control on the microscale difficult with many conventional technologies (Young and Crawford, 2004). One promising technology is the use of microfluidics, which enables deeper insight into the interactions occurring between different species (Aleklett et al., 2017). This is discussed further below.

2.1.3 Water treatment

The demand of treated water continues to increase and conventional methods for doing so are being deemed to be inadequate for future demands by several studies. Thus, there is the need to implement alternative technologies (Madaeni, 1999). The membrane-based applications have seen a significant recent increase in commercial use in water treatment and other industries (Wallis and Melnick, 1967). However, when microorganisms attach on the membrane surface and to each other by extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), they form a biofilm. Biofilms are a significant problem in a range of fields and a problem in clinical infections because biofilms have an increased resistance to stresses such as antibiotics. Furthermore, the human immune mechanisms such as phagocytosis are often ineffective against biofilms (Meyer et al., 2015) This biofilm growth causes what is known as membrane 'biofouling' in decentralised water systems which reduce permeability and has been cited as one of its biggest disadvantages, preventing large scale use (Kim *et al.*, 2013a).

Controlling biofouling is crucial because the biofilm growth causes a reduction in the performance and lifespan of the membrane. Key strategies for doing so include the use of antibiotics, physical cleaning and quorum quenching; the use of enzymes or whole bacteria to block the quorum sensing of the biofilm forming bacteria (Yeon et al., 2009). As demonstrated by Kim *et al*., bacteria that had reduced levels of quorum sensing, showed a reduction in the EPS production and developed into a biofilm that was unable to attach effectively on the membrane surface and persist (Kim *et al*., 2013b). Concerning the widespread use of enzymes in the quorum quenching process, there are doubts over its high costs, catalytic lifetime and large scale efficiency (Lade et al., 2014), despite the advancement of the technology with magnetic enzyme carriers (Yeon et al., 2009).

Bdellovibrio, which have been shown to penetrate deep into large biofilms and replicate, potentially provide continual protection against biofilm formation (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005), which make them a more likely candidate for biofilm control over protists and bacteriophage predators. Although, there is a surprising

lack of studies into the effectiveness of *Bdellovibrio* in reducing membrane biofouling, one of the key study (Kim *et al* ., 2013a) demonstrated that pretreating wastewater in low pressure microfiltration membranes with high predator concentrations resulted in significantly larger reductions in *E.coli*, increased water flow rate and ultimately a reduction in biofouling when compared to biofouling in untreated wastewater over 48 hours (Kim *et al* ., 2013a).

Although water treatment systems have a highly complex ecology, physically they are less complex than the human body and as such require investigations into predation dynamics to be approached differently than in studies into *Bdellovibrio* as a clinical application(Feng et al., 2016). For example, in a water treatment system, the reduction of pathogenic bacteria need not be as complete as for clinical and food production settings and reinfection may be less of a concern.

The prey range of *Bdellovibrio* should be considered when used as a biocontrol. For example, many agricultural processes rely on 'beneficial bacteria' such as nitrogen fixers to function and removal of these bacteria by *Bdellovibrio* may hinder production (Dwidar et al., 2012b). Likewise, it may be beneficial and improve membrane performance, to monitor and perhaps target the reduction in bacteria that contribute to biofilm formation and persistence as recent studies have demonstrated that characteristics of biofilms associated with biofouling can be linked to the growth of certain bacterial phenotypes (Yun et al., 2006). It may be easier to monitor and prevent the attack of key processes during biofiltration when using *Bdellovibrio* than protist predators as the bacteria are more selective in their prey (Johnke et al., 2014).

2.2 Predator-prey dynamics

To advance any of the potential applications of predatory bacteria then we will need to bring to bear as much information as possible on the predator-prey dynamics. This means developing a knowledge of the less applied, more fundamental investigations into the population dynamics and interactions between predatory bacteria and their prey (Dwidar et al., 2012b). Many of these studies are not directly motivated by industrial application, but rather are motivated by a fundamental understanding of the natural history of the organisms.

Improvements in high-throughput sequencing technologies and the ability to sequence whole genomes has led to a progressive increase in focus on molecular biology and genetic studies of *B. bacteriovorus* (Cotter and Thomashow, 1992). A recent study revealed the existence of a predator proteome aptly named the 'predatome', which is significantly different to that of non-predators (Pasternak et al., 2013). This study and others like it, are important in the identification and classification of novel predatory bacteria which has been one of the more extensively focused on areas of predatory bacteria study.

Though these studies may also be useful to help understand predatory bacterial processes and dynamics, the development of *Bdellovibrio* for biocontrol requires more focused studies into the population dynamics displayed between predators and their prey and their influencing factors (Johnke et al., 2014). There is great uncertainty as to what these key factors are, to what extent they combine to play a role in dynamics in different natural or applied settings in comparison to in the laboratory. This is partly because defining predator-prey dynamics has mostly been attempted with physiological and microscopic studies under difficult-to-control conditions (Varon and Shilo, 1969).

The role of factors (predator-prey ratio, biofilm structure, resistance, multiple prey and non-prey etc) that influence *Bdellovibrio*-prey dynamics have been explored in different environments, which makes it complex to apply past observations to the use of *Bdellovibrio* in different and less relevant applications (Dwidar et al., 2012b). The factors that could, putatively, affect predator-prey dynamics are extracted from the more fundamental biological literature. None of these will act in isolation so their effect on any biocontrol strategies that use predatory bacteria may be complex. Nonetheless an attempt is made to set the review in context by speculating on the effects that might arise in real world applications, with emphasis on how this would affect the use of *Bdellovibrio* a biocontrol agent for biofouling. A deep understanding and quantification of the

population growth and structure could give insight into the predator-prey interactions, making it easier to exploit conditions that would optimise the desired predatory bacteria action in a particular application, whether it be complete clearance of a pathogen or removal of a biofilm (Williams and Piñeiro, 2006). To follow on from studies into the action of *Bdellovibrio* on prey bacteria, the combination of antibiotics and other probiotics such as bacteriophages could further enable the successful use of *Bdellovibrio* (Czaplewski *et al*., 2016).

2.2.1 Resistance

A major disadvantage of antibiotics is that they induce a selection on the bacteria resulting in antibiotic resistance via genetic mutations (Igbinosa and Odjadjare, 2015). Similarly, the development resistance is a key concern for biocontrol agents such as *Bdellovibrio* as it could result in the persistence and regrowth of the targeted prey bacteria which could make *Bdellovibrio* ineffective as a widespread control agent, especially if this resistance gene could spread readily by horizontal transfer (Davies, 1994). Resistance spread of this type has been observed to be enhanced in biofilms by conjugation (Hausner and Wuertz, 1999).

One of the most important papers to have explored resistance to *Bdellovibrio* by prey bacteria was that of Shemesh and Jurkevitch (2003). They demonstrated the presence of a phenotype conferring resistance to a small proportion of the *Erwinia cartona* prey population which was able to survive and grow, leading to an increase in prey cell numbers even in the presence of high *B. bacteriovorus* concentrations (>10⁸ cells per ml) (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003).

They refuted earlier studies that suggested that the reason a surviving prey population remained was because of the low probability of the predators finding their prey (Varon and Zeigler, 1978). Instead Shemesh and Jurkevitch (2003) proposed that the presence of resistant strains in the prey population explained the co-existence of both the prey and predator. The study further investigated the characteristics of this resistance by mixing concentrated suspensions of susceptible and resistant prey and then exposing them to the predators. While there was significant decrease in susceptible prey, the resistant prey showed a slight increase in population. Both strains were cultured in identical conditions and the difference in rate of predator-prey encounters that led to irreversible attachment suggested that the susceptible prey were predated on significantly more than resistant prey (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003). It was plausible that in the absence of susceptible prey, the surviving resistant prey face less competition for resources (Hibbing et al., 2010).

In similar fashion to the use of antibiotics, if the resistance displayed in this study was stable across multiple generations, the use of *Bdellovibrio* as a control agent could be less effective (Mohan et al., 2015). Thankfully, this was found not to be the case. The concentrated resistant prey was incubated overnight without the predator, then resuspended in fresh buffer in the presence of the predator. Within an hour, 99.5% of these cells were preyed, demonstrating that this resistance phenotype was only temporary. The study proposed that the appearance and subsequent disappearance of the resistant phenotype could not have been caused by a single reversible mutation as the generation time of the *E. cartonia* strain was approximately 60 mins, which would have only produced 16 generations, which is not enough generations to allow for the population growth of resistant turned sensitive prey cells observed in the predator-free overnight subculture. Therefore, phenotypic plasticity is a more suitable explanation for such an observation (Hibbing et al., 2010).

The study hypothesised that the enzymes released by the predator during unsuccessful prey attachment were responsible for alterations in the prey cell's surface structure which conferred resistance. Although, there was no clear evidence from the study of the altered cell structure of resistant prey, they did show that the resistant prey were larger in size (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003).

Morphology and community structure changes of prey similar to this have previously been demonstrated, following exposure to different stresses such as elevated temperatures and predation by protozoa (Hahn and Höfle, 1998). As the occurrences of stresses in nature are unpredictable, it may be useful to explore

whether there is some specificity of the changes in prey morphology to certain stresses and whether such a change in prey phenotype brought about by one stress such as antibiotics could also increase the tolerance of the prey to *Bdellovibrio* predation (Justice et al., 2008).

Whilst it might be assumed that bacteria that display a resistance phenotype would dominate the population once they appear, however it has shown that this is not the case (Hibbing et al., 2010). Mathematic modelling has provided insight into this by suggesting that in order for the modelled population dynamics to fit the experimental observations, the phenotypic resistant prey would have to display a slightly lower growth rate compared to susceptible non-resistant bacteria in the population (Wilkinson, 2006). In this case, there could be a significant reduction in predator population which would facilitate the slow recovery of the susceptible bacteria because of its growth advantage over the persisters.

Indeed, a similar growth penalty was explored in a study for bacteria persistent to antibiotics, which used microfluidics to predict which bacteria was able to survive exposure to antibiotics based on their slow growth rate (Gefen and Balaban, 2009). This penalty has also been demonstrated by Varon (1979) for *Bdellovibrio* resistant mutants and could need to be factored in for the practical use of *Bdellovibrio*. For instance, a quantification of this resistance phenotype and how it leads to regrowth of sensitive bacteria could give reason to 'cycle' the regulated inoculations or presence of *Bdellovibrio* in order to remove the pressures of *Bdellovibrio* predation that give the slow growing resistant bacteria the advantage over their sensitive counterparts (Gefen and Balaban, 2009).

This resistance phenotype has since been observed in many studies (Baker et al., 2017), whereas mutational resistance emergence of *Bdellovibrio* prey is rarely reported in literature. One such study introduced *Bdellovibrio* to a continuous culture of *Photobacterium leiognathi* prey growing in a chemostat (Varon, 1979). After six days of stable oscillations between the predator and prey populations, the system then changed accompanied by the revelation of a mutant prey resistant

to the predator. Although it should be noted that the basis of this resistance was not extensively examined.

Mutational resistance has been widely reported as a potential limitation for the use of bacteriophage predators as a therapeutic agent (Parisien et al., 2008). Furthermore, Mizoguchi *et al.* (2003), demonstrated a predator-prey arms race in which a bacteriophage responded to the prey's resistance by mutating itself, though it was not established whether this arms race was continuing, or had just been begun. Such an arms race occurring in an application would not be desirable as experimental and theoretical studies have shown that this can alter the characteristics of predator-prey cycles, driving them away from the traditionally observed cycles such as the Lotka-Volterra model in which prey oscillations precede predator oscillations (Cortez and Weitz, 2014). This could make it difficult to predict the predator prey population and optimise the control procedure (Feichtmayer et al., 2017).

There needs to be an increase in studies that investigate the potential resistance mechanisms in *Bdellovibrio* prey making up a biofilm, its ecological implications and how this is relevant to the use of *Bdellovibrio* as a control agent. For example, current investigations into phenotypic resistance such as Shemesh and Jurkevitch have deemed it to be temporary, with the resistant bacteria reverting to the susceptible phenotype. However little attention has been placed on determining if there is in fact also a trigger independent of genetic mutation that causes this or factors influencing the rate at which the switch occurs such as a lack of predator encounter, an adequate interval of time or change in prey density (Hol *et al* ., 2016a).

In addition, there is the need for more studies that observe resistance development and the co-existence of predator and prey over a longer time period. This could help better characterise and predict the effect that prey resistance has on oscillations of predator prey populations such as whether it could cause the two populations to gradually meet equilibrium as is predicted of various mathematical models (Wilkinson, 2006). Unfortunately, the lack of suitable experimental methods means that in many studies the time incubation of prey with the predator is limited. For example, as discussed above, (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003) the study shows that after contact with the predator, the concentrated resistant prey population begins to decrease significantly after 1 hour but the incubation is then ceased after 3 hours when no further decline in the resistant population size was observed. This time length is possibly too short to observe if there are any longterm penalties or advantages associated with the resistance phenotype when compared to the sensitive bacteria, which could have implications on the widespread use of *Bdellovibrio*.

2.2.2 Predatory-prey ratio

Quantifying and assessing the effect that predator and prey density has on community structure, behaviour and mortality could be crucial for fundamental knowledge as well as optimising the action of *Bdellovibrio* in application and thus, improving system productivity (Strauch et al., 2007).

Many studies that have aimed to elaborate on density mediated predator and prey relationships have focused on either the prey or the predator perspective. This makes it difficult to develop a deeper understanding of how the density-mediated predator and prey behaviour effects population dynamics and vice versa under different conditions (Yair et al., 2003). One study observed the behaviour of luminous photobacterium in the presence of the predator *Bdellovibrio*. Instead of using conventional measurement techniques that require high concentrations such as optical density, using luminous prey allowed them to use low densities more comparable to natural conditions (Varon and Zeigler, 1978).

The study observed predation in different predator: prey ratios by adjusting the prey densities from 10³ to 10⁸ cells per ml. As expected, they found that at low predator: prey ratios (higher prey densities), prey survival increased after 40 minutes. They speculated that this was due to *Bdellovibrio* inability to display chemotaxis and instead encountering prey via random collision. At low predator: prey ratios the probability of a prey being located by random collision is expected

to decrease, leading to the increase in prey survival that was observed. However, measuring only the change in relative light decay of prey in this manner relies on the assumption that there is no significant change in the number or behaviour of predators when incubated at high predator: prey ratios. Without direct observation of the predator, it becomes difficult to make clear conclusions regarding the predator's prey location mechanism and its relationship with prey (Mukherjee et al., 2016).

Studies such as Mukherjee et al. (2016) are important in providing fundamental knowledge that can aid the development of biocontrol applications. For example, if predation rate is more significant at higher predator densities as it is in Mukherjee et al. (2016), the prey population at the surface of the immobile biofilm may favour growth in a planktonic state able to use its motility to avoid predation (Núñez et al., 2005). At which point the vulnerable planktonic bacterial cells can be more effectively targeted by the combination of antibiotics and predatory bacteria (Czaplewski *et al.*, 2016).

Like Varon & Zeigler (1978), Im *et al.* (2014) also used bioluminescent prey to understand population mechanisms from the perspective of the prey (Im et al., 2014). They used a much longer time frame (13 hours) and found that although increased predator: prey ratios, resulted in a more rapid decline of prey numbers (as measured by optical density and bioluminescence decrease), after 13 hours the prey numbers were relatively similar for the different predator: prey ratio treatments. In fact, a predator: prey ratio of 2:1 showed a larger decline in prey numbers than the 4:1 treatment after 13 hours, highlighting the need to further investigate optimal predator: prey ratios in certain conditions for the use of *Bdellovibrio* as a biocontrol.

A contrasting study (Yair et al., 2003), observed the predator prey dynamics by measuring the change in Bdelloplast, attack phase for *Bdellovibrio* and prey cell populations at high (10:1) and low (1:1) predator: prey ratios. They found that predation appeared to be more efficient at the low predator: prey ratio after 350 minutes. At a high predator: prey ratio, there was a rapid loss in prey numbers

within an hour accompanied by an increase in bdelloplasts indicating that they had been penetrated by a predator. The prey population showed a slight regrowth while the majority of predators were in the replicative stage but after two and a half hours there was a slow decline in prey numbers as new progeny attack phase cells were released from the bdelloplasts, ready to search for and predate upon the remaining prey.

The prey population in the low predator: prey ratio remained relatively constant during the first two hours due to the limited number of attack phase cells leaving many prey cells alive to be able to continue replication. After two and a half hours, attack phase progeny from the bdelloplasts was continually released more gradually leading to a second phase of rapid decline. This study ran for only a short time, so it is difficult to draw conclusions as to whether a low predator: prey ratio would be more efficient to use as a biocontrol (Wilkinson, 2006). However, *Bdellovibrio* decrease in size and speed the longer they stay in attack phase starved of prey (Rotem et al., 2015). This could mean using a lower predator: prey ratio could be more efficient as it allowed for a slow release of attack cells to limit the amount of old and less active attack phase cells.

This also highlights the need to better characterise the motility, behaviour and survival of attack phase cells under starvation. As well as the following response to starvation regarding penetration, replication and release of progeny such as if starvation of *Bdellovibrio* attack phase influences the number of progeny released (Rotem et al., 2015).

Microscopy observation showed that many of the prey were predated upon my more than one cell. A similar observation was shown by Im *et al.* (2013), who showed that under high predator densities (>10:1) there was an increase in multiple predator cell attachments on a single prey cell, causing rapid premature lysis. They suggested that in predator: prey ratios as high as 86:1, one in seven prey cells experienced premature lysis.

They also used a model to demonstrate this and found there was a surprisingly higher relative bioluminescence shown in the experimental data compared to the model, especially at higher predator: prey ratios. They proposed that this was because at high predator: prey ratios, premature lysing of cells resulted in a release of nutritious cytoplasmic contents that were utilised by the surviving prey bacteria. This and reduced competition from predated upon cells meant that the remaining prey were more metabolically active and produced a greater bioluminescence.

In membrane filters clogged with biofilms, where cells can easier aggregate to subpopulations of high densities, premature lysis may occur (Chen et al., 2010). This has several additional implications in that the release of cytoplasmic contents could attract more predators or further promote the growth of biofilm (Straley and Conti, 1977). Premature lysis also reduces the number of bdelloplasts which at certain concentrations have been shown to induce growth arrest in a marine strain of *Bdellovibrio* (Varon et al., 1983). It could also be possible that, similar to the predator induced plastic resistance of prey, the prey's premature lysis and subsequent nutrient release is a mechanism to increase the prey cell population and reduce competition between predators under high predator densities. Additionally, it remains to be elucidated what response predators show to premature lysis and whether they cooperate to induce premature lysis and utilise the released nutrients this to increase activity and reduce negative starvation effects.

2.2.3 Multispecies system

The vast majority of predatory bacteria studies have utilised two-species systems, with model organisms such as *E. coli*, *K. pneumonia* and *P. aeruginosa* being favoured as prey because they are well characterised, relatively easy to culture and have relevance to disease and biofilm mitigation in applications (Baker et al., 2017). The addition of a third species in a system has significant effects, so it is clear that current studies are limited in how well they can mimic the field environment and inform on the predator-prey dynamics that would occur

(Wilkinson, 2006). This is especially true for biofilm removal in fields such as water treatment, where biofilms often consist of multiple species which interact closely to provide a number of functions lending to stability and survival where monoculture biofilms would not thrive. Thus, for example, multispecies biofilms have an increased tolerance to antibiotics (Mohan et al., 2015) and protozoan grazing (Yun et al., 2006). In addition, there are many aspects of a multispecies system that can potentially be exploited for the mitigation of biofouling in membrane filters, but this requires further investigation.

For instance, it has been shown by recent meta-analysis studies that an increase in predator species richness is correlated with an increase in prey suppression (Johnke et al., 2014). However, there is the need to investigate the potential mechanisms by which increasing predator diversity can decrease total prey biomass and exploit them to maximise filtration (Johnke et al., 2014).

Similarly, competition between multiple predators targeting the same prey may impact predatory diversity and therefore reduce predation (Feng et al., 2016). Unlike generalist feeders (protists etc) and specialised feeders (phages etc), *Bdellovibrio* exhibit a varied prey range between isolates and various studies have demonstrated that *Bdellovibrio* and their prey rapidly evolve to yield populations that differed in their original predatory and resistance capabilities, respectively (Johnke et al., 2014). This feeding strategy could make the addition of 'alternative prey' a viable strategy in *Bdellovibrio* biocontrol (Wilkinson, 2001). This strategy has been proposed in insect control and involves the addition of 'harmless' alternative prey sources into the environment to support the predator growth when necessary to the level that would lead to the adequate suppression of harmful target prey. In the treatment of drinking water alternative prey could be those that have been heat or UV killed, or non-pathogenic or biofilm forming bacteria (Hespell, 1978).

Multispecies studies such as this could also provide further insight into action of *Bdellovibrio* has on the total bacterial population dynamics including non-prey. This is vital as *Bdellovibrio* display prey preferences and many bacteria are not

susceptible to *Bdellovibrio* predation. For example, bacteria that have paracrystalline surface layers (Koval and Hynes, 1991) could receive a significant selective advantage over susceptible organisms, allowing them to become dominant and accumulate. Alternatively, many species rely on other bacteria to initiate biofilm growth in order to survive in harsh conditions and if these biofilm growing bacteria are removed by *Bdellovibrio* predation, the overall survival of both prey and non-prey bacteria could decrease (Feng et al., 2016). Thus, improving understanding of prey range on biofilm ecology could contribute to successful and safe implementation of predators in water treatment technologies.

It is also possible that multispecies systems could alter our understanding of factors such as density, resistance and host finding, that were previously investigated in two species systems. For example, it is expected that in areas of high prey density, the *Bdellovibrio*'s ability to adhere to prey is not negatively affected. This is based on assumptions from laboratory-based studies and mathematical models that have always used two-cell cultures, including one study which demonstrated that at a low predator to prey ratio (0.1), up to 90% of a *B. bacteriovorus* population was found to attach to *E. coli* (Varon and Shilo, 1968). However, the ratio between prey and non-prey is unpredictable in the field and a high non-prey density could influence the *Bdellovibrio*'s host-finding mechanism (Lambert et al., 2003).

There is evidence that *Bdellovibrio* cells hunt for prey via random collision (Strauch et al., 2007). They possess rapid motility and have been suggested to be weakly attracted towards amino acids and areas of high microbial density in aquatic ecosystems (Chauhan and Williams, 2006). These are all traits that would increase the relative chance of prey encounter; however, they could also increase the chance of encounter with non-prey. Indeed, *Bdellovibrio* appear to collide and attach to many non-prey objects, though these attachments are not irreversible like many encounters with prey(Rotem et al., 2015). This ability for *Bdellovibrio* to readily adhere to surfaces even after they have been rinsed free from medium has been suggested as an adaptation to hunting biofilms adhered to surfaces (Núñez et al., 2005). In biofilms, prey cells would be in close vicinity to each other and

hunting by random collision would prove more efficient rather than hunting planktonic cells (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005). This could have implications on the length of the life cycle.

It could be, that in areas of high cell (prey and non-prey) densities, the *Bdellovibrio* alters its pattern of motility or hunting strategy to prevent many random non-prey collisions. Bacteria in general, display several methods of movements (Harshey, 2003) and *Bdellovibrio* have been shown to contain several pili gene clusters, as well as genes believed to be related to adventurous gliding (Pasternak et al., 2013) and entry into the periplasmic space (Rendulic et al., 2004).

There is currently a lack of studies that have aimed to characterise the movement of *Bdellovibrio* and whether these patterns are actually 'random' or follow an adaptive pattern. Additionally, the flagellum dependent rapid motility that characterises the predator has shown to not always be necessary depending on the situation. As demonstrated by one study, which observed predation in *Bdellovibrio* mutants that did not possess a functional flagellum and were thus, non-motile. The mutants were unable to grow in liquid cultures but when directly spread onto highdensity prey lawns on an agar surface, the mutants showed limited clearing of prey and were able to successfully replicate (Lambert et al., 2006).

Similarly, it has been reported that in prey biofilms, not all of the *Bdellovibrio* population had a flagellum (Núñez et al., 2005), further suggesting that flagellar motility is not absolutely required for Bdellovibrio to enter the periplasm of their prey and motility and adhesion may be adaptive depending on cell concentration or other environmental factors that have yet to elucidated (Núñez et al., 2005).

A switch in motility pattern depending on environmental conditions would require the ability to rapidly adapt. Indeed, *Bdellovibrio* have shown to switch modes of life from a rapid host-dependent lifestyle to being non-motile and hostindependent when incubated without the presence of prey (Jurkevitch, 2012) and there are reports that marine biofilm associated *Bdellovibrio* species (Williams, 1988) do not show the random collision predatory behaviour, as they must locate prey to remain near a submerged biofilm community (Williams, 1988). Furthermore their two phase life cycle demonstrates adaptability even in laboratory conditions, where the *Bdellovibrio* switches from the DN (dilute nutrient) broth environment of low nutrients to inside the high nutrient host cell (Jurkevitch, 2012).

If this theory was proven to be correct, it could possibly be exploited to improve the efficiency of *Bdellovibrio* as a biocontrol, for instance a specific non-prey or decoy density could be exposed to the *Bdellovibrio* in a membrane filter to ensure that whichever method of finding prey would be most efficient, would be the method used by the *Bdellovibrio*. However before this can be explored, there is the need for more definitive characterisation and quantification of two culture predatory prey dynamics under varying densities as there is disparity in the literature as to whether a predator is more or less effective in high prey densities (Martin, 2002). Once this can be achieved, the relationship between a predator, its prey and non-prey need to be investigated in multi-species systems, though the methods capable of this are limited (see section below).

2.3 Experimental Methods

Our ability to elucidate the key factors influencing population dynamics is limited by our ability to experimentally observe predators and prey (Chauhan and Williams, 2006). Reliable enumeration of population dynamics requires the combined measurement of predator and prey death and growth rates under different conditions, which many of the current experimental methods are incapable of doing (Feichtmayer et al., 2017). Additionally, most bacteria are not readily culturable, and it may be that the growth and behaviour of predatory bacteria are inadequately characterised because they cannot be co-cultured with their preferred prey (Koval, 2006).

As a result, mathematical models have been relied on to provide predictions about the *Bdellovibrio* and its prey dynamics in nature (Wilkinson, 2006). Mathematical models of predator-prey systems have long been used in the study of ecosystem

dynamics and evolution. They aim to use the observed behaviours of the predator and prey in short term experiments to predict and further understand the longerterm dynamics of the system and provide insight into the parameter values that will yield different population dynamic patterns (Baker et al., 2017). This can help explain many of the features in real predator-prey systems such as the effect of multiple species and prey resistance (Wilkinson, 2001).

However, the majority of models are for highly idealised systems. They make many assumptions, that are not experimentally validated and often neglect processes like, the delay due to replication inside a Bdelloplast, the presence of persistent prey or the spatial structure imposed by biofilm, that might ultimately be important (Wilkinson, 2006). Furthermore, many models have focused on dynamics in a natural environment such as a lake or soil; only a few models are specifically tailored for engineered systems, such as a membrane filter, or medical settings, such as, inside the human body (Baker et al., 2017). Mathematical models and experimental investigations into the *Bdellovibrio*-prey dynamics in an applied setting are crucial for optimising the use of *Bdellovibrio*, specifically the adequate predator: prey ratio, spatial strategy of attack and the timing required for significant prey suppression (Baker et al., 2017).

Protocols of the experimental methods; cell turbidity, viability plating and the double layer agar method (Starr and Stolp, 1976) (Koval, 2006) have been well described previously and so will not be the subject of this review, which will instead discuss the use of these methods in investigations of *Bdellovibrio* predator prey dynamics.

2.3.1 Culture turbidity, Viability plating and plaque forming unit method

In the majority of literature, quantification of predator-prey dynamics has been restricted to conventional techniques. For indirectly evaluating predation, optical density or turbidity in the liquid culture is measured using simple spectrophotometric or coulometric readings to indicate the suppression of the prey population in the presence of the growing *Bdellovibrio* (Yair et al., 2003). As the

prey cell is lysed to release the *Bdellovibrio* progeny, the culture becomes more clear and a reduction in turbidity is seen (Mukherjee et al., 2016). The small size of *Bdellovibrio* cells means that their contribution to turbidity is not significant.

Moreover, the turbidity methods have the advantage over viability counts and double layer agar plating (also known as plaque forming unit method) as it can measure a coculture in its original container without the need to remove a sample which risks contamination. Turbidity measurements can also be used for cocultures in microtiter plates, allowing a much larger number of tests to be carried out and making it easier to monitor predation in real time. Despite this, the use of turbidity as a measurement is limited in that it is not a direct count of prey cells and a decrease in turbidity is shown with prey cell death regardless of cause, as such it provides only an indication of predation.

In contrast, standard dilution plating and viability counts directly measure the change in prey population (Varon and Zeigler, 1978). From this the rate of predation can be revealed and can potentially provide information into predation under different conditions as well as the prey preference of *Bdellovibrio* (Chen et al., 2011).

When using viability counting to measure the quantity of cells in a biofilm, the biofilm must first be detached from its surface. This can be done by adding 30% (volume/volume) acetic acid, which is less invasive but leaves many of the bacterial cells in the biofilm still attached to the surface. Sonication is used to achieve a higher yield of cells, but this approach can lead to false negative results as the procedure can damage the prey cell's ability to replicate. This method is also not as reliable as the bacteria often do not detach as single cells but instead clumps of varying sizes (Pantanella et al., 2013).

Bdellovibrio colonies are not visible, so it is not possible to enumerate their population using general viable count plating methods (Stolp and Starr, 1963). The solution to this is the double agar overlay or plaque forming unit method, which has been adapted from the study of bacteriophages (Stolp and Starr, 1963) and is

used for the direct isolation from environmental samples, enrichment and purification of predator cultures and enumeration of predators (Koval, 2006).

Double agar consists of a base layer of hard agar, and an upper layer of soft agar which contains a large quantity of immobilised prey cells, which replicate to form a dense and turbid lawn covering the top agar (Cormier and Janes, 2014). A sample of *Bdellovibrio* is taken from predator-prey cocultures, diluted to a small quantity of just a few cells and spread over the top agar. Following incubation, a *Bdellovibrio* cell predates upon prey and releases progeny, which continue the cycle to kill more and more prey. The hard agar of the base layer restricts the movement of the *Bdellovibrio* so that it keeps the population of predators within close vicinity of each other and predation only occurs to neighbouring prey cells. When an adequate number of prey cells are lysed, a clear circular area is formed. This is known as a plaque, therefore one plaque forming unit (PFU) represents the quantity of *Bdellovibrio* cells that are capable of lysing a sufficient number of host cells to form one plaque (Koval, 2006).

This measurement is functional and is unable to enumerate the absolute quantity of *Bdellovibrio* cells because those that fail to kill a prey cell because they are dead, non-motile or non-replicative will be unable to produce a plaque and cannot be enumerated, leading to underestimation of the quantity (Chauhan and Williams, 2006). Like viability counting, this method, although well-defined is also limited in that it does not allow real-time estimation of predation and it requires a sample from the coculture, increasing the risk of contamination. Furthermore, these two methods are time consuming and labour intensive (Mukherjee et al., 2016).

Despite their flaws, quantification of Bdellovibrio predator prey dynamics via double-layer method, viability count and turbidity is well defined and still used in a wide range of investigations including cell cycle events and prey preference (Koval, 2006).

2.3.2 Direct microscopic counts and fluorescence

Phase contrast microscopy is often used to monitor growth in culture maintenance by observing the progression of the predation lifecycle, which is not possible with the above-mentioned methods. However, it is rarely used as an accurate measure of quantification and the number of cells is underestimated due to the small size and high mobility of *Bdellovibrio*. It is labour intensive and difficult even with the assistance of a counting chamber and added glycerol to reduce the streaming (Starr and Stolp, 1976).

Fluorescence and bioluminescence is often used as an alternative direct microscopic count method in the study of predation, such as in imaging studies to visualise prey biofilms or in enumeration of the predator (Peeters et al., 2008). Whereas most studies on predator-prey dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* had focused on the evaluation of the prey (Fenton et al., 2010), one recent paper, aimed to monitor predator population change in real time by using *Bdellovibrio* expressing a red dTomato fluorescent reporter protein (Mukherjee et al., 2016). They first validated the fluorescent marker, demonstrating that the predation patterns were similar to those observed in previous studies that used traditional methods (Dashiff et al., 2011) (Wilkinson, 2001). Use of a microplate reader allowed for rapid observation in real time and under different growth conditions including in the presence of different prey (Elkhatib et al., 2014). Specifically, there was a similar pattern to predator growth when quantification was carried out using fluorescence and PFU. As expected, this growth was accompanied by a correlating reduction in prey cell population as measured by the reduction in optical density.

The study was in agreement with previous studies (Wilkinson, 2001), that the addition of non-prey decoy bacterium reduces the predation efficiency of *Bdellovibrio*. They showed that upon the addition of gram-positive S. *epidermidis* to make a 1:1 (volume/volume) ratio culture with *E. coli*, there was a reduced proliferation of the predator compared to that with *E. coli* alone.

Moreover, the study agreed with previous studies investigating the predation efficiency of *Bdellovibrio* with heat killed prey. They found that preheating the prey cells at 65C for significantly reduced the final predator fluorescence after 48 hours when compared non-heat treated cells (Varon and Shilo, 1969).

Flow cytometry has long been a popular tool for the quantification and phenotypic characterization of various microorganisms that have been stained with fluorescence tags (such as sybr green I) and passed through a beam of laser light (Harry et al., 2016). Despite this, flow cytometry has not been used in the simultaneous measurement of *Bdellovibrio* and their prey.

A major benefit of flow cytometry is that is allows for high throughput multiparametric analysis of cell samples which would make it ideal in assessing *Bdellovibrio* predation dynamics in various settings. Several studies have aimed to model *Bdellovibrio* predation but are limited in that they are not experimentally validated or are done so using conventional techniques that are both labour intensive and are not able to measure the predator and prey at the same time (Im et al., 2014).

Another advantage of flow cytometry over conventional techniques such as plate counting is that it acknowledges viable but slow-growing cells that may be non-culturable (Huh et al., 2005). Slow growing bacteria in particular have been shown to be important in the acquiring and spread of antibiotic resistance, however the role of slow-growing predators and prey in predation has yet to be explored (Davies, 1994). This could have consequence for the application of *Bdellovibrio* in water treatment as prey cells in biofilms are more likely to grow slow in comparison to free-living bacteria (Abberton et al., 2016).

2.3.3 Predator prey cultures

In general, the above conventional measurements are used to assess predation dynamics in investigative cocultures such as those in conical flasks containing dilute nutrient broth or buffer (Koval, 2006). The medium is chosen to restrict the

growth of prey cells and limit the chance of contamination, thus, making the measurement of predator growth more accurate. Additionally, it has been cited that *Bdellovibrio* growth is increased in conditions where prey bacteria are slow-growing(Koval, 2006).

Bdellovibrio are aerobic bacteria so as such, require efficient aeration (Jurkevitch, 2012). In conventional cocultures such as flasks or test tubes these conditions are provided by using an appropriate amount of medium to total volume space in a container which is also continually shaken to create a steady flow of oxygen. However, the shaking creates a uniform landscape that is less relevant to natural conditions and prevents the development and analysis of spatially separated subpopulations (Hol *et al* ., 2016b). Another disadvantage of culturing dependent methods is that many prey bacteria are not readily cultured and so investigations into *Bdellovibrio* are limited to well defined and culturable prey strains such as *E. coli* (Pasternak et al., 2013).

2.3.4 Real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR)

Culture independent methods such as Fluorescence in situ hybridisation (FISH) and qPCR have been developed as an alternative to labour intensive culture dependent methods, such as the plaque forming unit method (Bueno, 2014) and are frequently used for the identification of predatory bacteria in natural habitats and in a few cases have been used for the quantification of predator and prey populations (Van Essche et al., 2009).

qPCR is considered the gold-standard for the quantification of nucleic acids in a range of disciplines and can be used in microbiology to measure the abundance of bacteria by targeting the small subunit 16S rRNA gene (Klein, 2002). rRNA genes evolve slowly and are highly conserved so they can be used to distinguish sequences from genera to species (Hirsch et al., 2010).

qPCR uses intercalating fluorescent probes such as (TaqMan) or dyes (SYBR Green) to bind to the target 16S rRNA gene in a sample and as the PCR product increases

so does the fluorescence. This fluorescent is quantified in real time and is used to define the exponential phase of the reaction (Kandel et al., 2014). Plasmids bearing the 16S rRNA gene of the target species are used to construct a standard calibration curve which is then compared to the results from the sample to accurately quantify, in absolute amounts, the initial number of target molecules in the sample (Klein, 2002).

qPCR has the advantage of being much more reliable and faster to perform than conventional techniques as well as being highly sensitive and reproducible (Lee et al., 2006). This has been demonstrated in one study which aimed to explore the dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* populations and their prey in the zero discharge systems of aquaculture (Kandel et al., 2014). They found that the qPCR technique was able to quantify gene expression from small amount of samples, showing a minimal detection limit of 10 165 rRNA copies per 5µl reaction which was equal to two *Bdellovibrio* cells per mL⁻¹. Furthermore, they found that the quantity of predator cells growing on *E. coli* were 2.5 times higher when qPCR was used for enumeration instead of the plaque forming unit method. They suggested that this may be due to decreased predation in soft agar limiting the visual detection of small plaques. Crucially, qPCR simply targets the expression of the 16SrRNA gene and cannot distinguish the physiological state of the bacteria and hence also detects cells that may be dead or non-viable that would not be able to form plaques in the double layer agar method (Hirsch et al., 2010).

This trait may limit the use of qPCR in measuring the predation of prey bacteria but instead could be more useful for measuring the effect that *Bdellovibrio* have on the community of a system as a whole over a longer time period. Indeed, using qPCR the study was able quantify the effect that environmental parameters such as salinity and temperature had on the *Bdellovibrio* community over several months. In similar fashion, one study used qPCR to suggest that patients suffering from irritable bowel disorder and similar diseases showed a reduced amount of *B*. *bacteriovorus* in their guts in comparison to healthy subjects (lebba et al., 2013).

Thus, the use of qPCR may be best suited to evaluate the effect that any *Bdellovibrio* control agent has on the bacterial community in a system such as a membrane filter (Kim *et al* ., 2013a). Possibly revealing, if there is a reduction in key pathogenic or biofilm contributing bacteria as well as if the conditions created by the prolonged presence of *Bdellovibrio* favour the growth and possible dominance of a non-prey species (Johnke et al., 2014).

The culture independent and high-throughput nature of qPCR could make the multispecies evaluations much easier to perform than conventional techniques. No post-PCR steps are required, which decreases the risk of cross-contamination due to PCR products.(Klein, 2002). Another advantage is that the technique is highly specific and the 16S rRNA is characterised well enough that with the correct primer design, cultures of non-target do not produce the fluorescent signal indicative of target gene amplification (Van Essche et al., 2009). It has also been demonstrated that even when samples containing target DNA are mixed with non-target DNA from other species, the detection levels of the target DNA are not affected (Van Essche et al., 2009). This could be useful when trying to differentiate between the abundance change of prey and non-prey species in a system. One limitation to evaluating the role of *Bdellovibrio* in multispecies systems is that it may require the use of a large number of reagents which would be costly (Sun and Jiang, 2013).

Although qPCR is often used as a culture independent method for monitoring bacterial populations in a natural environment, when measuring the dynamics of predation under varying experimental conditions, the investigations have usually been carried out using conventional culturing methods.

2.3.5 Microfluidics

Microfluidics is an interdisciplinary technology that aims to study the behaviour of fluids using micrometre-sized (10-100 μ m) channels engraved onto a material such as Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) making up a microfluidic chip (Salieb-Beugelaar et al., 2010). In cell biology, the microchannels are designed precisely in such a way

that it allows the automated manipulation (directing, mixing, removing etc) of single cell to multicellular organisms (Sia and Whitesides, 2003). Despite microfluidics being a complex and novel technology, microfluidic chips have been reported to be relatively cheap and easy to fabricate (Campbell and Grzybowski, 2004).

Microfluidic devices can be coupled to technologies such as fluorescence microscopy and nucleic acid assays which has made it possible for microfluidics to be used for a range of different microbiology applications including pathogen detection and investigating biofilm formation (Bao et al., 2008). A large proportion of studies using microfluidics have aimed to observe the interaction of bacteria with antibiotics (Mohan et al., 2015). One study (Hol et al., 2016a) fabricated a landscape with two compartments connected by a corridor, one continuously filled with LB medium and one continuously filled with LB medium and the antibiotic kanamycin. This design allowed the population dynamics of non-resistant E coli to be observed in the presence of a kanamycin concentration gradient using fluorescence microscopy. They found that surprisingly, a proportion of the bacteria population were able to invade and grow in areas of the antibiotic compartment that contained high concentrations of kanamycin. The persistence and viability of these populations was dependent on motility, with successful invasion of antibiotic compartments only occurring in migrating population that reached a high threshold of density (>5 \times 10⁹ cells per ml).

A further advantage of microfluidics is that bacteria and the fluids in which they are suspended can be isolated from the device to be rapidly analysed further (Sia and Whitesides, 2003). Thus, the Hol *et al.* (2016a) study isolated a sample of the successfully invaded population to measure the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of kanamycin. They demonstrated that despite the tolerance of the invaded population to lethal concentrations of the antibiotic in chamber, the population showed no change in antibiotic susceptibility compared to the measured MIC before the experiment. This suggests that in a similar fashion to the phenotypic resistance of some species to *Bdellovibrio* (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003), there was an adaptive mechanism independent of genetics conferring temporary

phenotypic resistance to the population allowing them to successfully invade (Corona and Martinez, 2013).

This study is a good example of the benefits of microfluidics. The device creates a diverse mosaic of different microhabitats with physiochemical gradients, allowing the local growth of subpopulations to reach high densities and subsequently migrate to and colonise environments of high antibiotic strategy (Hol *et al* ., 2016a). The spatially structured landscape of the microfluidic chamber additionally allows populations of high densities to continue to grow and show motility. In contrast, when bacteria are observed in unstructured environments such as the shaking flask, there is a mixing effect that creates a uniform environment in which high density populations are saturating and hence, restricted in their movement and growth (Patra and Klumpp, 2014). This prevents the growth and migration of subpopulations and is not resembling of a natural environment (Hol *et al* ., 2016b). Likewise, the spatial structure has been cited as a reason as to why microfluidics has been able to culture multispecies systems not previously possible by conventional methods such as agar plating (Kim *et al* ., 2008).

When studying multispecies interaction, there is the need to establish an adequately relevant environment. This requires mimicking of the specific physical, social and chemical conditions present in local environment that interact to shape bacterial communities (Young *et al* ., 2001). Although there is an incredible amount of diversity in the species found at a macroscale such as a lake or in soil, it is likely that at a microscale the interspecies interactions are much more limited as determined by specific spatial structures (Røder *et al* ., 2016). Thus, unstructured conventional methods such as test tubes, flasks and cuvettes are rarely able to replicate the conditions required for subpopulations of multiple species to continuously grow (Young and Crawford, 2004).

For example, Kim *et al* (2008), failed to co-culture three species: *Azotobacter vinelandii*, *Bacillus licheniformis*, and *Paenibacillus curdlanolyticus* in a test tube containing nutrient rich medium. Depending on the nutrient availability, one species would rapidly grow and without the spatial separation, would out-compete

the others species causing the two 'losing' species to rapidly decline (Kim *et al* ., 2008).

However, using a microfluidic device, they were able to synthesise a three-species community by spatially separating each species so that bacteria were unable to migrate and come into direct contact. The device did allow for chemical communication among the species, which was shown to ensure the survival and stability of the community even in a low nutrient environment (Kim et al., 2008). A. vinelandii's function was to supply nitrogen sources by fixing gaseous nitrogen. B. licheniformis functioned to ensure the survival of the community under antibiotic pressure by degrading penicillin G with B-lactamases and P. curdlanolyticus used cellulases to provide a carbon energy source, such as glucose (Kim et al., 2008). When the species were attempted to be cultured alone in the device, or when one species was removed, the stability and growth of the community significantly decreased. Thus further demonstrating that microfluidics can be used to construct the spatial complexity of a landscape that governs key syntrophic interactions and allow neighbouring populations of different species to co-exist (Stirzaker et al., 1996). A trait which is essential for investigations to multispecies interactions.

As well as allowing the spatial control of the fluid composition, an adequate design enables the long-term quantification of cell behaviour in a range of tightly controlled parameters such as temperature, media change and cell density, that cannot only better serve to mimic bacteria's natural environment but also reveal the response of bacteria to varying conditions. Park *et al* (2011) constructed a microfabricated ratchet structure array that was able to arrange populations of both the predatory bacteria *B. bacteriovorus* and its *E. coli* prey at a range of linear, compartmentalised or uniform densities (Park *et al* ., 2011). By measuring fluorescence intensity signals from prey, they were able to characterise the predation rates in nine different experimental conditions, combining two different prey density conditions with three different predator density conditions. Additionally, the concentrator arrays of the device captured and prevented the

escape of motile cells allowing further analysis of the predatory behaviour at single cell levels (Park *et al* ., 2011).

The study agreed with previous investigations that high predator: prey ratios lead to a greater predation rate (Im et al., 2014) Park and colleagues demonstrated that with a higher number of predators, the intensity of fluorescence expressed by prey rapidly decreases after 4 hours and then disappeared completely after 8 hours. This indicated that by this point after the completion of the first predator cycle, almost all the prey cells are infected by predator cells and the life cycle of the predator population is in sync. Whereas at low predator: prey ratios, the inefficiency of the random collision hunting method of *Bdellovibrio* results in many prey cells not colliding with the predator and instead surviving. In this case, the predation cycles are no longer in sync and several cycles occur (Park *et al* ., 2011).

This is depicted by a slower and more gradual decrease in fluorescent intensity in comparison and at a ratio of approximately 0.2 predator to 1 prey, the fluorescent intensities do not approach zero after 8 hours, suggesting there is a small persistent prey population (Park *et al* ., 2011). Although it is not clear from this study whether this is the due to the inefficiency of random collision or the temporary phenotypic resistance discussed earlier (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003). To determine so, may require further studies into the kinetics of predator attachment to prey (Varon and Shilo, 1968).

Sufficient mixing of samples and reagents is necessary when a uniform concentration is required but this has proven difficult when using microfluidics. For the majority of devices, the laminar flow relies on diffusion to mix reactants and cannot provide sufficient rates of mixing which are demonstrated by the turbulent mixing found in macro-scale systems or even with experiments that use shaking flasks. The device used in the Park *et al* (2011) study mentioned above, makes use of microfluidic channels in a Christmas tree structure that act as gradient generators (mixers) at both the top and at the bottom of the device. This meant that microbes could be introduced into the array of concentrator wells uniformly or by varying densities, so that the behaviour of cells in each well could be

observed in a reliable and controllable manner (Park *et al* ., 2011). This Christmas tree structure for the microfluidic channels has been used to create gradients in the study of mammalian and bacterial cells (Jeon *et al* ., 2002) an example of passive mixing; a category of mixing within microfluidics achieved through the fabrication of a specific microchannel structure without the need for external energy or complicated operation (Nguyen and Wu, 2005).

Alternatively, one study fabricated a BAY microbioreactor, as method to increase the mixing rate by active mixing. Active mixers provide external control to the user and include using pressure gradients, electrical voltages, or integrated mechanical or magnetic mixing elements (Ward and Fan, 2015). Using electrodes in digital microfluidics, the BAY microbioreactor can manipulate a droplet of the cell culture in a circular path achieving uniform distribution and mixing rates of up to 10-50 times faster than rates achieved solely by diffusive mixing. The mixing conditions demonstrated by the BAY resulted in growth rates of *E. coli* similar to that of conventional methods at the micro and macroscale, while having the advantage over these methods because they allowed for high-throughput analysis of a long term cell culture (up to five days) even with the use of a small amount of initial culture (\sim 70 µL) (Au *et al.*, 2011).

When fabricating novel microfluidic devices, it is important to consider that the slow laminar rate of many microfluidic devices also reduces the ability of the bacteria to adhere to each other (as measured by shear forces) (Simoes *et al* ., 2007). The small dimensions involved means that many PDMS-based devices cannot deliver the conditions of higher shear forces needed in studies which require denser biofilms (Gomes *et al* ., 2013). This is partly due to the fact that PDMS, a silicon-based polymer which is patterned to create the desired channel structure, is intolerant to high flow rates (like in turbulent mixing), which damage the structure of the microchannels in the device and make it harder to measure or control flow rates (Lu *et al* ., 2004). Though there are some solutions to this such as the inclusion of doubly crosslinked nano-adhesive (DCNA) which strongly seals the microfluidic channels and increasing their tolerance to higher pressures without significantly altering the microchannel structure (You *et al* ., 2013).

Devices made using DCNA have reported a flow rate as high as 10 mL min⁻¹ in a 1.5 cm long channel with a 150μ m× 150μ m cross section (You *et al* ., 2015). Other solutions to allow for high flow rates include the use of alternative polymers to PDMS, such as Thermoset Polyester (TPE) which have been shown to be characteristic of a predictable operation at high pressure (Sollier *et al* ., 2011).

PDMS is widely used because it is relatively simple and cheap to fabricate (Regehr *et al* ., 2009). It also is known for its flexibility and having high optical transparency and gas permeability (Lötters *et al* ., 1997), making it ideal for fabricating varied microenvironments and studying predator and prey bacteria using optical and fluorescence microscopy (Tung *et al* ., 2004).

In conclusion, *Bdellovibrio* predatory bacteria represent a key biocontrol against the action of biofilms in many different applications, the success of which is often limited by the same issues; lack of reliable methods that enable high-throughput and thorough investigation into the dynamics of predation. However, advancements in microbiology and the development of methods such as flow cytometry and microfluidics will increase the chance of understanding the important factors of predation such as predator and prey density and the diversity of microbial populations and biofilm growth. Ultimately this knowledge is key in the development of systematic action plans for deploying *Bdellovibrio* to prevent biofilm growth and biofouling in decentralised water treatment.

3 Validating flow cytometry as a method for quantifying *Bdellovibrio* predatory bacteria and its prey for microbial ecology

This chapter is the basis for the peer reviewed journal publication:

Ogundero, A., Vignola, M., Connelly, S., Sloan, W.T., 2022. Validating Flow Cytometry as a Method for Quantifying *Bdellovibrio* Predatory Bacteria and Its Prey for Microbial Ecology. Microbiol. Spectr. 10, e01033-21. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.01033-21

Ayo Ogundero led the research by contributing to the study design, experimental work, data analysis and manuscript writing.

3.1 Introduction

Host dependent strains of *Bdellovibrio* are a group of obligate predatory bacteria that kill and consume other bacteria to survive and reproduce (Jurkevitch, 2012). It is this ability to lyse cells as a function of reproduction that has led to increasing interest of *Bdellovibrio* as biocontrol agents, in particular for their mitigation of biofilms (Chen et al., 2010). For example, the human gut and intestinal microbiota population is negatively affected by the excessive biofilm growth of gram-negative bacteria but *Bdellovibrio* has been investigated as a potential probiotic to restore balance to the ecosystem and help treat conditions such as Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD)(lebba et al., 2013).

Biofilms are described as the most common natural state of bacteria, where free swimming planktonic bacterial cells group together and are embedded in a self-

produced extracellular polysaccharide matrix which helps to further anchor the cells to a substrate and facilitate continuous growth in this sessile state (Hall and Mah, 2017). This state increases bacteria's tolerance to stresses such as antibiotics and other antimicrobial agents. The mechanisms providing this defence are not well characterised and vary depending on many factors such that biofilm-based infections are both persistent and difficult to control (Hall and Mah, 2017).

Effective use of predatory bacteria as control agent for biofilms (Chen et al., 2010) requires a deeper understanding of how they interact with each other and the ecological dynamics with other microorganisms (Dwidar et al., 2012b). Presently, our ability to explain the key factors that may influence *Bdellovibrio* predator-prey dynamics, such as predator: prey density, resistance, and space is limited by how we enumerate both the predators and prey.

Many of the current experimental methods are cumbersome and arguably incapable of doing this accurately (Mukherjee et al., 2016). Flow cytometry has recently been demonstrated as an inexpensive and versatile method to accurately count total and intact microorganisms, with the ability to distinguish populations based on cellular features such as size and nucleic acid content (Brown et al., 2015) (Wang et al., 2009). This has been applied to mixed cultures from many different environments including drinking water (Hammes et al., 2008), soil and sediment (Porter et al., 1997) and activated sludge (Brown et al., 2019) (Brown et al., 2015). *Bdellovibrio* has been investigated in relevance to these environments (Richardson, 1990) (Fry and Staples, 1976) (Feng et al., 2017) (lebba et al., 2013) but the use of flow cytometry to quantify the predatory bacteria has yet to be compared to other conventional methods.

Measuring optical density (OD) or cell turbidity with a spectrophotometer is a common method to study bacterial growth(Monod, 1949). When light passes through a microbial culture it is scattered. This scattering is recorded by a spectrophotometer and can be used as an indication of the biomass present (Sutton, 2011). OD is widely used, largely because of the speed and ease of

measurement. This has also made the method a common preference for culture inoculation and harvest (Myers et al., 2013).

The small size of *Bdellovibrio* makes it difficult to directly measure the bacteria (Lambert and Sockett, 2008) so optical density is instead often used to indicate the suppression of a prey population in the presence of growing *Bdellovibrio* (Varon and Shilo, 1969). A limitation here is that OD provides only an indication of predation rather than a direct measure as a decrease in optical density is shown with prey cell death irrespective of cause(Mukherjee et al., 2016). Additionally, optical density is not as sensitive or accurate as other methods, making its use limited when trying to get a deeper understanding of predator dynamics (Mukherjee et al., 2016).

The plaque forming unit (PFU) assay, also known as the double agar layer assay, is another of the most common laboratory techniques associated with *Bdellovibrio*(Varon and Shilo, 1968). Here dilutions of predatory bacteria prey are spread upon a cloudy lawn of prey bacteria on an agar plate to form clear zones in the agar. These clearings are known as plaques and are assumed to be formed by the initial growth of a single predator and are thus termed a plaque forming unit (Cormier and Janes, 2014).

Like colony forming unit plating techniques, the PFU assay is a popular and standard technique for obtaining a viable count because it is relative accurate and requires less specialist equipment and reagents to perform than newer techniques such as quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) (Koval, 2006). However, there is now an emphasis on the importance of high-throughput research in microbiology which has called for new approaches as the PFU assay is time consuming, slow and vulnerable to human error (Koval, 2006).

In recent years genetic techniques have been widely deployed to accurately detect and quantify microbial populations (Fey et al., 2004) (Baldwin et al., 2003). qPCR is one method that has been increasingly used and seen as a high standard measure due to its speed, high sensitivity and reproducibility (Lee et al., 2006).

qPCR offers accurate detection using several different approaches (Ponchel et al., 2003). To quantify *Bdellovibrio* populations in aquaculture zero discharge systems, one study made use of a *Taq hydrolysis* probe, a short fluorescent DNA sequence that is designed to complement and bind to a highly conserved region of the 16S rRNA specific to *Bdellovibrio* aquaculture(Kandel et al., 2014). Using PCR, the targeted region is replicated in turn increasing the fluorescence produced. This fluorescence is recorded in real time and used to accurately quantify, in absolute amounts, the initial number of target molecules (16S rRNA) and thus the organisms that carry them in the sample (Klein, 2002).

qPCR is mostly used to quantify either the total bacteria or a singular species present in environmental samples because it requires a large number of expensive reagents when compared to flow cytometry, which make it less suited in regular experimental work and in measuring growth of samples with multiple species (Sun and Jiang, 2013).

Flow cytometry (FCM) is a useful tool for quickly and reliably counting total microorganisms that have been stained with a fluorescence tag (usually SYBR green I) and enumerates cells via passage of the sample through a beam of laser light (Troussellier et al., 1993) (Hammes et al., 2008) and, more advanced machines are able to sort and collect these cells (Ibrahim and van den Engh, 2007).

Flow cytometry is also able to assess metabolic activity(Nir et al., 1990) and viability (Diaper et al., 1992) (Berney et al., 2007) by use of a gating system to allow the user to distinguish and analyse cell populations of different properties (Troussellier et al., 1993). The FCM gating system has been used previously to distinguish bacteria populations in freshwater with low and high nucleic acid cell content based on their green fluorescence and side scatter measurements.

Recently, advanced applications of FCM have further characterised the structure and phenotypic properties of sub-groups within microbial communities in order to generate a unique fingerprint (Günther et al., 2012). As an alternative or in

combination with molecular analysis, it can establish the dynamics and biodiversity that contribute to the stability of microbial communities in natural and engineered systems (Props et al., 2016) (Koch et al., 2013) (Prest et al., 2014).

As well as total cell count, flow cytometry can be used to estimate the quantity of non-viable cells by staining a population with propidium iodide (PI) and SYBR green I(SYBR I)(Barbesti et al., 2000). PI can only enter bacteria with damaged cytoplasmic membranes, causing a reduction in the SYBR I stain fluorescence which allows those cells with intact membranes to be counted. This value is subtracted from the total count of the same sample to estimate the number of membrane damaged cells (Berney et al., 2007). The ability of flow cytometry to distinguish between intact and membrane-damaged cells is important as *Bdellovibrio* have been shown to be able to predate and reproduce in heat-killed cells with damaged membranes, which would alter any model of predator prey dynamics (Hespell, 1978).

Surprisingly, there are few studies investigating *Bdellovibrio* predation using flow cytometry, despite the fact that the size difference between the predator and their prey is reflected in the difference of forward-scattered (FSC) light signals in correlation with distinctive side-scattered (SSC) light signals, making it possible to distinguish *Bdellovibrio* from prey cells.

Direct cell count measurement using microscopy can also be considered a conventional method for measuring *Bdellovibrio* but is not included in this study. We believe PFU and qPCR in particular are sufficient as reliable and accurate measures of cell quantification to validate FCM. Plaque forming units are considered the standard method for determining *Bdellovibrio* viable count (Lambert and Sockett, 2008) and qPCR has also been shown to be the gold standard in measuring bacterial total count especially when considering mixed cultures found in environmental samples (Venieri et al., 2012), (Kirakodu et al., 2008). Previous data has shown that direct cell counts and measurements by PFU are comparable for quantification of *Bdellovibrio* (Williams et al., 2019) but unlike PFU and qPCR, direct cell count measurements require a higher concentration per
sample to measure accurately without the use of sophisticated hardware and software that may not available in many labs (Broadaway et al., 2003). This makes the method less desirable and labour intensive in many microbial ecology studies such as growth time lapses.

This study aimed to determine whether flow cytometry could serve as a method for quantifying *Bdellovibrio* count as an alternative to the methods of optical density, the plaque forming unit assay and qPCR. Filtered *Bdellovibrio* cell samples in a range of concentrations were prepared on different days and quantified by the four methods. The cell counts for flow cytometry were then compared to the other methods using a linear regression model and the Pearson's correlation coefficient (ρ). Additionally, the study aimed to show that flow cytometry could accurately count and distinguish mixed populations of *Bdellovibrio* and their prey *Pseudomonas*.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Bacterial strains and growth conditions

The type strain *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* strain HD100 (DSM no. 50701) was used throughout this study and was grown by predation on *Pseudomonas sp.* (DSM no. 50906) using standard culturing methods (Herencias et al., 2017; Martínez et al., 2016). *Pseudomonas* cells were grown in LB broth at 30°C with shaking (150rpm) for 16 hours and resuspended in supplemented Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer (25 mM HEPES, 2 mM calcium chloride, 3mM magnesium chloride, pH 7.6) to an optical density (600nm) value of 10. This prey suspension was stored at 4°C for later use. 50µl of *B. bacteriovorus* from a glycerol stock stored at -80°C was added to 1 ml of the prey suspension in 10ml dilute nutrient broth at 30°C with shaking (200rpm) for 24 hours and then sub-cultured twice at 24-hour intervals by transferring 200µl of the culture and 1ml of the prey suspension to 10ml Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer (predator: prey ratio 1:10).

In total seven replicate cultures were prepared for use in the quantification of *B*. *bacteriovorus* in pure culture. For the validation of the FCM gating system, an eighth culture was also grown as described. Additionally, a pure *Pseudomonas* culture was grown in LB for 16 hours.

3.2.2 Preparation of predator filtrate samples for enumeration and comparison

Seven replicate cultures were grown as described then prepared for enumeration. To remove the prey and harvest the predator alone each culture was filtered twice through a 0.45µm pore size syringe filter (Fisherbrand[™]). An aliquot of each filtrate was then diluted by 10^{-3} times to produce two *Bdellovibrio* samples from each culture; the original at a 'high' concentration (-10^7 to 10^9 cells/ml) and the dilution of 'low' concentration (-10^4 to 10^6 cells/ml). Through this, the concentration range of the prepared samples was estimated to be from 10^4 to 10^9 cells/ml. The average cell counts of predator filtrate samples were then obtained from triplicate measurements using flow cytometry and compared with three quantification methods: Optical density (OD), qPCR and the plaque forming unit (PFU) assay. An aliquot of each filtrate is plated on solid LB agar plate to confirm the removal of prey.

3.2.3 Flow cytometry

Total cell count measurements of each of the high and low concentration predator filtrate samples were performed using a Bd Accuri C6 plus flow cytometer. Samples were initially fixed 1:1 v/v with glutaraldehyde (1% in DI water) stored in the dark at 4°C and analysed within 1 hour. Prior to staining, where necessary, samples were diluted to achieve an events per second reading of less than 600 on the flow cytometer. Dilutions were made in filtered (0.22 µm Sartorius[™] Minisart[™] Plus Syringe Filters, Fisher scientific) DI water. The samples were each stained with 10 µL/ml of SYBR Green I (10,000 x in DMSO, Thermofisher) previously diluted 1:100 in Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (1 mM, Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated in the dark at 37°C for 13 min before measurement(Hammes et al., 2008). Gating was used to distinguish selected signals (*B. bacteriovorus* and *Pseudomonas* cells) from each other and from the background (inorganic and organic particles) using a dot plot of forward scatter (FSC-A) vs green fluorescence (FITC-A). This was achieved with the aid of negative controls consisting of the DI water used for dilutions, HEPES buffer used for growth, and a sample of the predator/prey co-culture further filtered (0.22 μ m) to remove any bacterial cells. We found that the limit of detection for this flow cytometry protocol to be 10⁴ cells/ml due to the background and instrument noise. However, this could be improved to 10³ cells/ml by increasing the volume of sample measured.

3.2.4 Optical density

To measure the OD of each of the high and low concentration predator filtrate samples, 1ml of each sample was aliquoted in polystyrene semi micro cuvettes (Fisherbrand^M) for measurement and each sample was measured in triplicate by optical density (600nm) using the Hach DR 2800 Portable Spectrophotometer. We found the limit of detection for optical density to be 10⁷ cells/ml for measuring *Bdellovibrio*. Due to the lack of sensitivity with the spectrophotometer, optical density was only used to measure samples from 10⁷ to 10⁹ cells/ml as quantified by flow cytometry.

3.2.5 Plaque forming unit assay

The plates used for the PFU assay comprised two layers. The bottom layers (dilute nutrient broth, 1.5% (weight/volume) agar, supplemented with 2 mM calcium chloride and 3mM magnesium chloride) of the double layer agar plates were prepared in advance. To plate, an aliquot of each of the high and low concentration predator filtrate samples was prepared in a range of ten-fold dilutions. Triplicates of each dilution were then mixed carefully with 500µl of a *Pseudomonas* suspension (OD=10) and dilute nutrient broth, 0.7% (weight/volume) agar supplemented with 2 mM calcium chloride and 3mM magnesium chloride. This mixture was then poured over the base of the double layer agar to form the top

layer. Once dry, the plates were incubated at 30°C for 3-4 days and the number of formed plaques then counted. The PFU/ml is read from a plate with 30 to 300 plaques and the original sample concentration calculated from the volume plated and the dilution used as shown in the equation below.

PFU/ml = number of plaques/ (dilution factor * volume (ml) plated) (3.1)

The typical limit of detection for the plauque forming unit assay was 10³ cells/ml.

3.2.6 Standard curve preparation for qPCR

qPCR was performed for each of the high and low concentration predator filtrate samples of *B. bacteriovorus* to enumerate the total copy number of the 16S rRNA gene (492 bp conserved locus specific to the *Bdellovibrionaceae* family) based on a previously developed protocol (Van Essche et al., 2009).

The total 16S rRNA gene copy number of a sample was determined by comparison with a standard curve of known concentrations of a plasmid containing the 16S rRNA gene. The number of cells was inferred from the value of total copy number based on reports of *Bdellovibrio* having an approximate copy number of 2 16S rRNA genes per cell (Ruby, 1992).

To amplify a fragment of 492 bp of the *B. bacteriovorus* HD100 16S rRNA gene to use as a standard for qPCR, PCR was performed on a pure *Bdellovibrio* culture using a protocol previously developed (Van Essche et al., 2009). The PCR reaction contained 12.5 μ L of PCR mastermix (Lambda Biotech), 1 μ L of each primer ((10 μ m); BbSF216: 5'-TTTCGCTCTAAGATGAGTCCGCGT-3' and BbSF707: 5'-TTCGCCTCCGGTATTCCTGTTGAT-3') previously designed (Davidov et al., 2006), 2 μ L of DNA and 8.5 μ L of PCR grade water. Positive (*Bdellovibrio* DNA) and negative (no DNA) controls were included.

The PCR was performed with a GeneTouch thermal cycler (Bioer) using a thermal profile of: denaturation and enzyme activation at 95 °C, 2 min, followed by 36

cycles of 95 °C for 30 s, annealing at 51 °C for 30 s, extension at 72 °C for 30 s, and final extension at 72 °C for 5 min. PCR products were verified by gel electrophoresis (1% agarose gel in 0.5% Tris acetate-EDTA (TAE) buffer stained with 10 μ L of SYBR safe DNA gel stain (Thermofisher) ; 110 V for 1 hour) and the gel was digitized with a Gel DocTM XR+ imager (Bio-rad).

The standard fragment was then cloned with the pGEM®-T easy plasmid vector system (Promega). The DNA was quantified using a NanoDrop® ND-1000 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer (Thermofisher) and a 10-fold dilution series for the standard curve was prepared from 9 to 9×10^6 plasmid copies per reaction using a calculation previously described (Van Essche et al., 2009). qPCR for the standard curve was always performed in combination with the qPCR assays for the *Bdellovibrio* samples.

3.2.7 qPCR

After preparation of the high and low concentration predator filtrate samples aliquots of each were first frozen at -80°C to ensure complete lysis of the cells. As in Van Essche *et al*, the qPCR assay used primers Bd347F (5' -GGAGGCAGCAGTAGGGAATA- 3') and Bd549R (5'- GCTAGGATCCCTCGTCTTACC- 3') and a TaqMan nucleic acid staining probe, Bd396P (5'- TTCATCACTCACGCGGCGTC-3'), which is labelled with 5' FAM (6-carboxyfluorescein) and 3'TAMRA (6carboxytetramethylrhodamine) (Van Essche et al., 2009). The thermal profile was also as stated previously with the data collected during the annealing and extension steps (Van Essche et al., 2009). Reactions were run in a C1000TM thermal cycler (Bio-rad) and included 12.5 µL of Jumpstart Taq Readymix for High Throughput Quantitative PCR (Sigma-Aldrich), 2 µL of each primer (10 µM), 1.25 µL of the TaqMan probe (1 µM), 5 µL of DNA and 2.25 µL PCR grade water as previously described (Kandel et al., 2014). The reaction efficiency was calculated using the slope of the standard curve to be on average 104.34% with an R² value of 0.99. We found the limit of detection to be approximately 10³ cells/ml.

3.2.8 Validation of FCM gating system

To confirm that the FCM gating system developed was accurate in distinguishing between *Bdellovibrio* and their larger prey, *Pseudomonas*, a sample each of pure *Bdellovibrio* filtrate and *Pseudomonas* were prepared separately to ~10⁹ cells/ml as above. Aliquots of each sample were prepared and then diluted from high (10⁸ - 10⁹ cells/ml) to medium (10⁶ -10⁷ cells/ml) and to low (10⁴ -10⁵ cells/ml) concentrations and measured in triplicate using FCM as described above. Following this, aliquots of the prey and predator with known concentrations were mixed together in different ratios and again measured in triplicate using FCM. The preparations were as follows: high predator: high prey (HH), high predator: low prey (HL), medium prey (LL).

3.2.9 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was performed using R software. Pearson's correlation coefficient (ρ) was calculated to find the relationship between cell quantification by FCM and the other methods. Linear regression models were used to find the significant differences in measurement between FCM and the other methods tested. Natural log transformations of FCM, PFU and qPCR values were used while the OD values were transformed using the BoxCox method (appendix Table 8.1). This was to allow the data to satisfy assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity. Note that when the gradient of the relationship between logtransformed variables is one it reflects a perfectly linear relationship between the raw, untransformed variables.

To validate the gating system, Kruskal Wallis (k-w) and Bonferroni tests were used to find the significant difference between sample preparations (mixed vs pure) of the same concentration.

3.3 Results and Discussion

To validate flow cytometry as a suitable alternative to other methods of cell quantification, specifically optical density, the PFU assay and qPCR, isolated samples of *Bdellovibrio* within a range of different concentrations (10⁴ to 10⁹ cells/ml) were quantified using each method. Linear regression and Pearson's correlation analysis between the FCM results and the results obtained from each of the conventional methods was determined.

3.3.1 Optical density

A linear relationship was observed between log transformed measurements of cell count using FCM and the Box-Cox transformed measurements of optical density (Fig 3.1A, correlation coefficient (ρ): 0.784. P-value<0.05). However, this translates to a non-linear relationship between the untransformed values. The low R² value (0.456) suggests that enumeration provided by FCM cannot repeatedly and reliably predict the values provided by OD. This is expected and highlights why optical density is not typically used to measure *Bdellovibrio* concentration.

The moderate correlation between the two methods could arise from differences in the material quantified and the means of detection of each measurement method. OD is not a direct measure of cell numbers, rather it is an indication of the total biomass concentration in a sample including intact cells, damaged cells and debris. Such debris however can contribute to the overall turbidity read by a spectrophotometer (Griffiths et al., 2011) thus resulting in an overestimation of cell count. By contrast, damaged cells and debris may be omitted from quantification using FCM by use of targeted gating and selective staining as applied here.

Further, OD value only shows a linear correlation with biomass concentration at lower concentrations, the cut off for which will differ depending on the spectrophotometer used and the path length of the cuvette used (Sutton, 2011). The small size of *Bdellovibrio* also contributes to how difficult it is to accurately

measure cell concentration (Lambert and Sockett, 2008). Whilst so, quantification using OD provides near-instant estimation of cell numbers with minimal sample preparation when measuring high concentrations which is advantageous over the other methods applied here. One observation from this study is that the speed of OD as a measurement method and its moderate correlation between cell number as determined by FCM, made optical density useful for estimating the required dilution necessary for a sample to be quantified by FCM and PFU assays.



Figure 3.1- Liner regression plot with confidence intervals (grey) to compare quantification when using flow cytometry (natural log (cells/ml) with other methods. A) Optical density (Box-Cox transformation, lambda=-0.6). Each bold point represents the mean of three observations. Pearson's correlation coefficient: 0.784. P-value<0.05. Box-Cox transformed OD=-192.967 + natural log (FCM)8.339. R2= 0.456. B) Plaque forming unit method (natural log (PFU/ml)). Each bold point represents the mean of three observations. Pearson's correlation coefficient: 0.923. P-value<0.0001. Natural log (PFU)= -1.821 + natural log (FCM)0.894. R2= 0.84. C) qPCR (natural log(cells/ml)). Each bold point represents the mean of three observations. P-value<0.0001. Natural log (PFU)= -0.023 + natural log (FCM)1.041. R2=0.972.

3.3.2 Plaque forming unit assay

A highly linear relationship was determined between the log transformed relative cell numbers quantified by FCM and the PFU assay (Fig 3.1B, correlation coefficient (ρ): 0.923. P-value<0.0001), and the high R² value (0.84) suggests that results provided by FCM are repeatable and reliable as an alternative to PFU for the

assessment of relative cell numbers and that the relationship can be used to convert between measurements. Any increase in the cell numbers determined by FCM corresponds to smaller increase in cells given by PFU method (as determined by the slope: 0.894). Differences in the count between the two methods are expected as the FCM protocol employed enumerates the total cells whereas the PFU method can only quantify the viable cells (Chauhan and Williams, 2006).

Cells present in a sample that are dead or are unable to replicate for whatever reason, will not form plaques, and thus will not be enumerated using the PFU method, by contrast, they will be enumerated using FCM. Non-viable cells may still be important to quantify when investigating *Bdellovibrio* as they could affect the living cell's ability to find prey when at high densities, which may play some role in maintaining predator and prey growth cycles. Additionally, were the method to be applied to quantification of prey cells to map predator/prey dynamics, it has been shown that non-viable but intact *E.coli* cells can still act suitable hosts for *Bdellovibrio* growth (Hespell, 1978).

Further discrepancy could occur because the cell count obtained from plating techniques often result in an underestimation because plaques can be formed by multiple cells originating close to each other, despite efforts to reduce this by sufficient diluting and spreading of the sample (Chauhan and Williams, 2006). Furthermore, whilst FCM may register false positives, cells counted using PFU are less likely to be false positives as plaques can only be achieved by the initial presence and sufficient replication of a lytic predator cell. By contrast, an observed count in flow cytometry is not necessarily specific to a Bdellovibrio predator cell and can possibly be achieved in a number of different outcomes such as bacterial cells of similar size, or cell debris from prey cultures that may pass the filter during predator-prey separation. This study measured pure cultures of Bdellovibrio that were filtered from Pseudomonas that are larger in size, therefore, in this instance, flow cytometry is likely to show a high specificity. This also remain true for future studies involving predatory bacteria and a gramnegative host species such as E. coli. Thus, FCM could allow the accurate enumeration of *Bdellovibrio* cells after long term incubation with prey cells

without the need of staining the cells prior to co-culturing which would limit the time of study (Garcia et al., 2018).

Were enumeration of living cells a priority for FCM, as opposed to total cell numbers as enumerated here, this could be achieved by using a live cell count assay which makes use of both the SYBR I and PI dyes instead of a total cell count assay for FCM (Vignola et al., 2018). It is anticipated that this could provide a better comparison to the PFU assay as this method is able to distinguish live and intact cells from those that have damaged membranes and would not be able to replicate and subsequently produce a plaque in the PFU method (Evans et al., 2012). Even so, it is important to note that even FCM estimates of live cell abundances are likely to be higher than the counts given by the PFU method, as PFU methodology is more vulnerable to several biases including human error, plaques originating from multiple cells that are close together or the influence of culture environment for the double layer agar plates which could result in the insufficient cultivation of bacteria (Chauhan and Williams, 2006).

3.3.3 qPCR

qPCR was used to measure the copy number of the *Bdellovibrio* 16SrRNA gene in a sample. This value was used to calculate the total cell count in a sample, based on reports of the copy number of the 16sRNA gene being two per single cell (Van Essche et al., 2009).

There was a significant correlation between the relative cell numbers quantified by FCM and qPCR (Fig 3.1C) (correlation coefficient (p): 0.987. P-value<0.0001, R² 0.972), with qPCR proving to be a better suited comparison to FCM than PFU. This is expected because unlike the PFU assay, qPCR and are FCM are both measures of the total cell number, so it is expected to be a better suited comparison (Lee et al., 2006). The absolute cell numbers estimated by FCM have an almost perfect linear relationship with those given by qPCR method (as determined by the slope: 1.041), however the difference was negligible. As such, the data suggests FCM is an excellent method for quantification, enabling accurate and rapid quantification.

3.3.4 Validation of FCM gating system

Whether measured alone or mixed with different concentrations of *Bdellovibrio*, the flow cytometry gating system (Fig 3.2) was able to accurately quantify the *Pseudomonas* population.



Figure 3.2- Dot plot of forward scatter (FSC-A) vs green fluorescence (FITC-A) used for flow cytometry gating. A) Growth buffer and glutaraldehyde B) Bdellovibrio predator alone C) Pseudomonas prey alone D) Pseudomonas prey and B. bacteriovorus predator species mixed.

As determined with the Kruskal Wallis test, no significant difference was found between FCM measurements of *Pseudomonas* samples of different mix ratios (Fig 3.3, k-w test: p-value>0.05). Similar results were found with the *Bdellovibrio* samples, in that the FCM gating was able to accurately distinguish and count *Bdellovibrio* in lone or mixed samples. One discrepancy observed was that there was found to be a statistical difference between the predator samples of high concentration (k-w test: p-value: 0.048). The Bonferroni test was applied to reveal that the difference in *Bdellovibrio* populations was specifically between the "high: high" vs the "high: low" predator: prey populations (p-value: 0.048) whereas there was no significant difference in these samples when measured against the lone high predator sample (Bonferroni test, respective p-values: 1 and 0.295).

Although statistically different, both *Bdellovibrio* populations were measured to be the same order of magnitude (10^9 cells/ml) and in practicality the difference between the two is considered to be low, with the population in the "high: high" sample being a 20% increase from the "high: low" sample. Additionally, the choice of threshold value for significance, (P < 0.05) is largely subjective and a value of 0.01 could have also been chosen to make the test of significance more strict (Dahiru, 2008). Thus, with the other results, there is still confidence in FCM as a useful and accurate tool for quantifying species in a mixed culture using gating to identify each species, provided that the species are of distinct size.



Figure 3.3- FCM count (log(cells/ml) of the A) *Bdellovibrio* predator and B) the *Pseudomonas* prey at different densities (low, medium and high) and different mix conditions. (L) monoculture of low density, (M) monoculture of medium density, (H) monoculture of high density, (LL) low predator: low prey densities, (LH) low predator: high prey densities, (HL) high predator: low prey densities, (HH) high predator: high prey densities and (MM) medium predator: medium prey densities.

3.4 General discussion

FCM was demonstrated as an effective and rapid tool for enumerating both pure and predator-prey co-cultures. Thus, it offers significant benefit over the conventional methods against which it was compared. Neither PFU nor qPCR can enumerate mixed cultures in a single assay. Whilst OD can crudely enumerate total cell count in a mixed sample, OD measures can inaccurately enumerate cell concentration in a sample containing cells of varied size because larger cells are able to absorb and scatter more light (Griffiths et al., 2011). Thus, application of optical density as a means of cell quantification is limited to mono-culture samples as it cannot distinguish between different cells. Inaccurate results are produced when monitoring growth of cultures in which multiple cell morphologies are exhibited such as in a typical *Bdellovibrio*-prey co-culture (Vojinović et al., 2006). Not only would the small size of *Bdellovibrio* contribute little to the differing light scattering properties of a sample that also contained much larger prey cells such as *Pseudomonas*, but the included presence of the swollen bdelloplasts would also increase the inaccuracy of the reading (Koval, 2006).

The direct application of FCM to the co-culture of interest here was underpinned by the difference in the mean size of the two species in interest (*B. bacteriovorus*: $1.2 \times 0.4 \mu m$ (lebba et al., 2014), *Pseudomonas*: $1-3 \times 0.5 - 0.7 \mu m$ (Rhodes, 1959)), which in turn enabled a simple gating system to accurately quantify each species in a mixed sample. Gating systems such as this cannot always be used alone, even when investigating two populations of different size as the signal detected is a complex function of a number of different parameters such as particle orientation and cellular content (Wittrup et al., 1988). Thankfully bacterial populations even in pure cultures display different levels of heterogeneity (Müller and Nebe-von-Caron, 2010) and with advancement in flow cytometry there are a number of options to detect this (Comas and Vives-Rego, 1998).

Flow cytometry has been shown to distinguish predatory bacteria and their prey by using fluorescent protein expressing cells as an alternative to dyes for quantification was demonstrated by a previous study which incubated tdTomato-expressing *B. bacterivorous* with different mutants of GFP-expressing V. *cholerae* to investigate predator attachment (Duncan et al., 2018). The study used FCM 30 minutes and 1 hour after starting the predator/prey co-culture to find that there was more attachment (displayed by green and red double positive events) in the coculture of prey mutants that could not produce the O-antigen, suggesting that they were more likely to be attacked.

Distinguishing and quantifying the predator and prey in this manner could prove more specific as the gating strategy can easier pick out several differing

fluorescents than when it is determined largely by the forward scatter as is done in the current study. However, staining the cells after incubation in this manner would prevent the influence of long-term incubation on the photostability of the fluorescent protein which could reduce the accuracy of quantification (Mamontova et al., 2015).

Another alternative would be to quantify bacteria using a 16SrRNA targeting fluorescent probe to combine flow cytometry with fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)(Clarke and Pinder, 1998; Zoetendal et al., 2002). Though there are no current studies that have used flow-FISH to quantify *Bdellovibrio*, despite the fact that the technique has long been used to quantify a number of different bacteria in mixed populations (Wallner et al., 1993). Additionally, FISH has previously been successful in the identification of *Bdellovibrio* cultured on *E. coli* and in environmental samples following enrichment (Mahmoud et al., 2007). In flow-FISH, the probe used to stain the samples is similar to that used in qPCR, making it a more specific and sensitive method of quantification when using environmental samples that contain a number of different bacteria and typically have lower concentrations of *Bdellovibrio* (Koval, 2006).

In the case reported here however, FCM's ability to distinguish and count mixed predator: prey populations at the same time makes it ideal to study the effect of predator: prey density on predation. This represents a key factor for the application of *Bdellovibrio* as a biocontrol and is one that is yet to be investigated using flow cytometry. Several past studies have aimed to characterise the effect of predator: prey density, however they have all used conventional techniques that may be limited (Im et al., 2014). In addition, there still remains debate over whether predation is favoured in high or low predator: prey densities (Yair et al., 2003). Investigating this using new online flow cytometry technology which uses automation could be more accurate and easier to perform high-throughput which would allow monitoring of growth continuously and for a longer duration (days to weeks) and in more detail so that a more complex model of predator-prey dynamics could be built (Hol et al., 2016b) (Besmer et al., 2014).

In conclusion, the tests performed show that flow cytometry represents a rapid and accurate alternative method for distinguishing and measuring *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* cell counts as compared to the methods of optical density, the plaque forming unit assay and qPCR. When compared to optical density, a fast but largely inaccurate method, flow cytometry shows a non-linear relationship. When compared to plaque forming unit, which is the most common method for Bdellovibrio enumeration, flow cytometry shows a non-linear relationship with the raw variables but a strong linear relationship when both variables are log transformed. In this case, the cell number measured using FCM overestimate those in plaque forming unit, which is to be expected as PFU/ml is a viable cell count only. When compared to qPCR, which is seen as the gold standard for measuring 16srRNA as a proxy for cell count, FCM shows a very strong linear relationship. The population measured using FCM slightly underestimate those from qPCR which was expected as free DNA was not present in cells that can be detected by qPCR but not by the FCM gating system used. As it has been validated as a suitable method, FCM can be used in further studies to measure *Bdellovibrio*, specifically in investigating the effect of density on predation and prey survival. Through this, further predator/prey population models can be constructed to aid their application in biofilm control.

4 Bdellovibrio predator - prey modelling

Biofilms cause biofouling in membrane filters which can reduce their permeability. This often means that transmembrane pressures have to be increased to maintain the desired flow rate through the membrane, which increases the energy demand and can, ultimately, render the technologies too costly in comparison to others (Chen et al., 2010). *Bdellovibrio* represent a biological alternative to chemical and antibiotic removal of biofilms in different fields (Dwidar et al., 2012a; Klein and Casida Jr., 1967). Application of *Bdellovibrio* in such a manner requires a deep understanding of its predator dynamics, which is vital for predictions of the different possible outcomes from any system designed to combat biofouling.

The complexity of the interactions between different species and with their environment in real biological systems makes it difficult to predict the population dynamics with certainty. However, it is often possible to distil the most important factors into a mathematical model that can capture phenomena. This is important in validating our conceptual models of the system (Li et al., 2007). It is also important in engineering design because in the absence of model predictions, it would be necessary to explore the range of possible system behaviours entirely through experimentation on a trial-and-error basis, which would be costly and fraught with practical difficulties. A mathematical model allows the design to progress through a rational exploration of the systems behaviour under a broad range of operating conditions, quickly and with little cost. Thus, optimal strategies and operating conditions can be explored in silico. The simplifications that are implicit in any mathematical representation of the biological process mean that there will be a degree of uncertainty in the model predictions and, therefore, it may well be necessary to validate the predictions empirically. However, the modelling serves as a useful guide to significantly constrain the amount of experimentation required.

Models are also particularly useful tools for understanding complex systems as an alternative to experiments because they can allow for precise control of a number

of parameters that would otherwise be difficult and expensive to conduct experimentally.

Lotka (1920) and then Volterra (1925) derived the same set of equations to describe predator-prey interactions in two different systems: plant-herbivore and fish predation respectively. Despite the fact that organisms are discrete and so strictly, population number ought to be an integer variable, they assumed that populations size could be considered a real variable and they used two coupled ordinary differential equations to describe the rate of change of predator and prey densities. Their model necessarily employed a number of simplifying assumptions:

- The prey population finds ample food at all times.
- The food supply of the predator population depends entirely on the size of the prey population.
- The rate of change of population is proportional to its size.
- During the process, the environment does not change in favour of one species, and genetic adaptation is inconsequential.
- Predators have limitless appetite.

Whilst these assumptions are clearly an oversimplification of the biological reality, the solution of Lotka Volterra equations has been shown to reproduce phenomena that are observed in times series of predator and prey populations growth (Varon and Zeigler, 1978). In particular, the oscillatory behaviour where the prey species grows, causing an increase in the predators which in turn kill the prey causing the prey population to decrease. With their food source low, the predators starve, and their population decreases which allows the prey species to regrow and continue the cycle. Whilst the phenomena are one of the most interesting results from the equations, oscillatory predator prey dynamics have rarely been observed in the real world.

The classical Lotka Volterra equations are given by,

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = k_1 X - k_2 X Y , \qquad (4.1)$$

$$\frac{dY}{dt} = k_3 Y X - k_4 Y , \qquad (4.2)$$

where X is the prey population size (cells/ml), Y is the predator population size (cells/ml), t is time (h) and k_1 , k_2 , k_3 and k_4 are postive constants.

Equation 4.1 represents the rate of change of the prey population. The first term describes the growth of the prey with k1 describing the prey maximum growth rate (h^{-1}) . In the absence of any other terms $\frac{dX}{dt} = k_1 X$ has a solution $X = X_0 e^{k_1 t}$ (Begot et al., 1996) and so it represents exponential growth. Exponential growth is also referred to as the Malthusian growth model, first constructed by Malthus in 1798 to describe population growth as exponential under optimal conditions (Malthus, 2007). The intrinsic growth of the population is not constrained in any way, for example, by lack of food and so if there were no other terms in equation 4.1 then the population would rapidly blow-up to enormous numbers. Most naturally occurring bacteria live in oligotrophic environments or are subject to feast and famine cycles of substates and so this assumption is severely limiting for real microbial communities.

The second term in equation 4.1 describes the rate by which the prey population declines as a result of predation. The assumption here is that the rate of decline is proportional to the number of predators and the number of prey. k_2 is the death rate of prey for each predator attack. Inherent in this relationship is that a predator is equally likely to find and consume a prey no matter what the prey density is.

Equation 4.2 represents the rate of change of the predator population. The first term in equation 4.2, describes the growth rate of the predator. k_3 represents the reproduction rate of predators per 1 prey and, similar to the rate of predation k_2XY , it is determined by the abundance of interactions between the prey X and predator Y. k_4 represents the intrinsic death rate of the predator (h⁻¹).

The application of the model was further developed by Lotka and Volterra with the addition of the assumption that the growth (or death) of the populations would be proportional to the product of their biomass densities as according the mass equation principle (Cohen J. E. et al., 1990). Though this does not yield a change in the equations, it allows for scientists to use measurements of cell biomass instead of cell numbers using methods such as measuring the wet or dry weight. Optical density measurements are also often obtained as they can be correlated well to either the biomass or the number of cells per volume (Sutton, 2011). This was especially vital at the time as these were the most common and reliable methods available.

One of the earliest *Bdellovibrio* predator models used the Lotka-Volterra equation to describe the interaction between *Bdellovibrio* and different density populations of photobacterium prey (Varon and Zeigler, 1978). The study measured the light intensity decrease of the prey as a result of predation by different predator densities and used it to determine the predation coefficient k2 and from the Lotka- Volterra model estimated equilibrium populations at which the rates of change were equal to zero.

The study measured prey suspensions of 'low' density (10^{3} - 10^{5} cells/ml) in an effort to model prey and predator populations seen in nature, which was in contrast to higher density cultures that were favoured previously by similar experimental studies (Varon and Zeigler, 1978). The use of high-density cultures at the time was favoured because optical density measurements are not sensitive enough at low concentrations. It was, however, widely preferred due to its speed and lower technical requirements than methods such as flow cytometry (Begot et al., 1996). Regardless higher concentrations are not always characteristic of natural habitats and importantly not characteristic of the concentration (10^4 cells/ml) often found after ultrafiltration of surface water in drinking water treatment (Buysschaert et al., 2018).

They used prey that lost its ability to fluoresce upon penetration by the predator and demonstrated that the rate of light decay of the prey increased with the predator/prey ratio. Additionally, they showed that under the measured conditions $(10^{3}cells-10^{5}cells/ml)$, the rate of light decay is increased with increasing predator density or decreasing prey density (Varon and Zeigler, 1978). From the data (using Lineweaver burke solution) they estimated that the predation coefficient to be 3.0 x 10^{10} per min. They concluded that if the *Bdellovibrio* predators display no chemotaxis towards prey cells and successful encounters occurred by chance, then the predation coefficient would be equal to the rate of encounter multiplied by the probability of penetration for each predator/prey encounter. Thus, the probability of penetration for each encounter was estimated (3%) using the predation coefficient and the rate of encounter (1.0 x10⁸ per min) which was taken from a previous study (Hespell et al., 1974).

The Varon and Zeigler study represents an example of investigating predator/prey dynamics by turning original and previous experimental data into a set of useful parameters to insert into a simple mathematical model, as well as demonstrating how the model can be improved on using new information (Varon and Zeigler, 1978). Despite this, there are several ways in which it can be further improved upon. For instance, the Lotka-Volterra model assumes exponential growth of prey bacteria with unlimited access to nutrients and that any decrease to the growth result is only a result of predation. Though this may be true for a time, long term growth of bacterial populations in batch cultures and in nature will be restricted by competition for resources. Typically growth in batch culture is characterised by four phases: (1) lag phase, (2) logarithmic or exponential growth phase, (3) stationary phase, and (4) death phase (Liu, 2017).

An alternative for modelling prey growth is to use logistic growth (also shown in the Verhulst model) (Verhulst, 1838), which is able to model growth from the exponential to the stationary phase, where the population of the prey grows high enough that competition ensues and resources in the system begin to deplete and waste products build up resulting in the eventual deceleration and then cessation of growth as seen in the stationary phase (Vadasz et al., 2001). Logistic growth of the population is thus given by,

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = k_1 \frac{(k-X)}{k} X$$
 (4.3)

The maximum population that a particular environment can sustain is expressed as the carrying capacity k (cells/ml), a finite parameter to quantify the upper limit of bacterial growth imposed by the limited resources. The prey intrinsic growth rate value k_1 (h⁻¹) is also used here and is important because a higher growth rate will result in the carrying capacity being reached faster. Furthermore, when the population is far below the carrying capacity, the density dependent effect becomes almost negligible and the population change is most affected by the intrinsic growth rate (Wilkinson, 2006).

In ecology, logistic growth models have been to model population growth in food, fisheries and agriculture and provide a guide for culling to prevent disease or overgrazing and allow for successful regrowth. One study used a modified Lotka-Volterra predator prey model using logistic growth to investigate the effect of predator: prey ratio on population growth (Im et al., 2014). Like Varon and Ziegler (Varon and Zeigler, 1978), they showed that higher initial predator: prey ratios resulted in faster decline in prey population soon after inoculation (>1 hour). They also used the model to validate experiments that suggested high predator: prey ratios resulted in premature lysis of the prey. However, growth was only monitored for 1 hour, so it is unclear whether this trend continues for multiple life cycles of the *Bdellovibrio* predation.

Additionally, logistic growth models only describe population growth and not substrate consumption. Like the Lotka-Volterra model it assumes that there is an unlimited and optimum nutrient availability to the prey whereas in nature and in membrane systems, this is not always the case and nutrients such as carbon and nitrogen can be present in concentrations limiting to growth (Kampen, 2014). When all other nutrients are saturated and non-limiting, but one key nutrient is too low, the growth rate is proportional to the concentration of the limited nutrient. At optimal concentrations the growth rate will be a maximum value with

exponential growth displayed as it is in the Malthusian model(Bren et al., 2013). However, when the nutrient concentrations increase to too high a value it can inhibit growth causing the growth rate to fall (Johnson and Stokes, 1965).

This relationship between the growth rate of the bacteria and one limiting substrate has been often described by the Monod model (Monod, 1949),

$$\mu = \mu_X \frac{s}{K_S + S} \quad , \tag{4.4}$$

where μ (h⁻¹) is the growth rate of a prey species (previously k_1), *S* is the growth limiting substrate concentration (mg/L), μ_X (h⁻¹) is the maximum specific growth rate of the prey and the K_S (mg/L) is the substrate saturation constant. The saturation constant is the concentration of growth rate-limiting nutrient that supports half the maximum specific growth rate. The Monod model is well suited for microbes in batch and in chemostats. Instead of using exponential or logistic kinetics, we can model the prey bacteria growth on a rate limiting substrate with Monod kinetics. Thus, in the absence of predators, equation 4.3 can be altered:

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -\left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) \frac{X}{\zeta_S},\tag{4.5}$$

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = \left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) X , \qquad (4.6)$$

where ζ_s is the prey yield, which is the number of new prey cells produced per mass of substrate consumed and is assumed to be constant. Equation 4.5 represents the rate of substrate degradation. In a batch experiment, after the initial substrate has been added, it is assumed that additional substrate is neither added to the system nor produced and it is, therefore, only removed by prey bacteria activity, hence the minus sign. Mass balance principles are maintained so the growth rate is proportional to the prey concentration. The rate of change of the prey bacteria is represented in equation 4.6. It is expected that when the substrate concentration is high enough and saturating, the maximal growth rate is achieved and the growth rate of the prey is constant, as in logistic growth(Owens and Legan, 1987). Monod kinetics are often preferred over logistic growth to model bacterial growth because the saturation constant (K_S) and the maximum specific growth rate of the prey (μ_X) values are linked more directly to experimental data. Whereas the carrying capacity (K) value in logistic growth, is more based in mathematics (Kargi, 2009).

Monod kinetics is perhaps also widespread because of its similarities to the Michaelis-Menten model, though there are some discrepancies, and these two models can be wrongly equated. The saturation constant in the Monod model is empirical, based on experimental data, and is an approximation of all of the processes that are responsible for bacterial growth on a substrate (Merkel et al., 1996). Whereas the saturation constant in the Michaelis-Menten model is only able to describe the direct relationship between a substrate and one specific reactions with a single enzyme species involved in the substrate utilisation (Robinson and Tiedje, 1983). Bacterial growth via even just a singular substrate is a complex process involving many different enzymatic reactions (Liu, 2017). So, it is less suited to bacterial growth models.

Another limit of the initial Lotka-Volterra equation 4.1, is in its ability to predict predator growth. Similarly to the k1 (prey birth rate) value, the predator grows exponentially where it should instead be subject to some kind of saturation constant that accounts for the time taken for predators to process the prey, over-and-above the time it takes to find the prey (Wilkinson, 2006). Of course, it is well known that once a predator invades the periplasmic space of the prey, the prey bacterium becomes non-viable but the predator enters the intracellular replicative portion of its life cycle (about 3-4 hours), during which time the predator cannot interact with other bacteria and progeny bacteria are waiting to be released (Sockett, 2009). This can be described by the Holling type II model, which uses Monod kinetics(Liu and Chen, 2003) and has been shown to be better suited to protist (DeLong and Vasseur, 2012) and *Bdellovibrio* modelling when used with Monod prey kinetics (Summers and Kreft, 2019).

The saturation constant used in Monod kinetics is versatile and has the ability to simplify processes that may involve more than one enzyme, which may make it suitable to describe the kinetics of *Bdellovibrio* obligate growth using the prey bacteria as the 'substrate'. Thus, when the prey concentration is saturated, the predator will grow at a maximum rate. Applying Monod kinetics results in the set of equations:

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -\left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) \frac{x}{\zeta_S},\tag{4.7}$$

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = \left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) X - \left(\frac{\mu_Y X}{K_X + X}\right) \frac{Y}{\zeta_X},$$
(4.8)

$$\frac{dY}{dt} = \left(\frac{\mu_Y X}{K_X + X}\right) Y.$$
(4.9)

Here, equation 4.7 describes for limiting substrate utilisation and remains the same as in equation 4.5 but the rate of change of prey (equation 4.8) is now a function of predation. This action is determined by the predator growth rate under Monod kinetics and the predator yield (ζ_X), which is the number of new predator cells produced per prey consumed. The rate of change of the predator is included with Monod kinetics by taking into account the prey concentration (X) which in this case is the growth-limiting 'substrate', the maximum specific growth rate of the predator (μ_Y) and the prey saturation constant (K_X). The prey saturation constant is the concentration of prey that supports half the maximum specific growth rate of the predator. It is assumed that *Bdellovibrio* does not grow or directly interact with the substrate and, as above, the predator does not grow in the absence of prey (Lambert and Sockett, 2008). Of course, this model does not take into account the potential development of host-independence, which is rare occurrence under very particular conditions (Dashiff and Kadouri, 2009).

A predator utilises prey differently than prey utilises an organic substrate; at low prey concentrations, it can be expected that the predator's chance of encountering prey decreases. This phenomenon is better captured by the Holling type III functional response. The type III functional response is similar to type II in that at increasing levels of prey density, the rate of the predation increases until

saturation occurs. But at low enough levels of prey density, there is a lag that takes into account that the predator is less efficient in catching the prey.

Type III functional responses may arise from a variety of mechanisms and are typical of predators which show some kind of learning behaviour such as developing a more specialised way of killing prey. It is also used to describe predators responding to increased chemical stimuli from prey or in cases where a larger amount of energy is expended in finding the prey than is returned. (Real, 1977).

This model has primary been used to describe vertebrate predators but there are examples of the model fitting microbial predation well. In chemostat, the Monod model is not sufficient for describing *Tetrahymena pyriformis* protozoa predation on *E. coli* (Jost et al., 1973). The Monod model predicted that when glucose substrate was kept at a saturating concentration then the population densities of the prey and predator would grow in typical sustained oscillations. However experimental data showed that the populations displayed damp oscillations with the potential to develop into steady states. This was better predicted by the Holling type III response because the rate of predation decreased when the prey population decreased significantly. In further studies, shifting the functional response increases the species richness and stability of more complex food (Rall et al., 2008).

The Holling type III functional response has not previously been shown in *Bdellovibrio*. However, many studies have described the random collision-based hunting method of *Bdellovibrio* (Jurkvitch, 2006. Wilkinson 2001). The lack of strong chemotaxis or specific searching for prey suggests that the encounter rate, the chance of a *Bdellovibrio* cell successfully colliding with a prey cell would be a major determinant in the overall predator attack rate and would shift the functional response from Holling type II to type III. Here, the searching efficiency and the chance of encountering a prey would increase with prey density. This could explain why *Bdellovibrio* is strongly associated with high bacteria environments such as biofilms and downstream sewage treatment plants (Staples

and Fry, 1973) (Summers and Kreft, 2019). This relationship can be displayed by modifying equations 4.7,4.8 and 4.9 to the following:

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -\left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) \frac{X}{\zeta_S},\tag{4.10}$$

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = \left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) X - \left(\frac{\mu_Y X^2}{K_X + X^2}\right) \frac{Y}{\zeta_X},\tag{4.11}$$

$$\frac{dY}{dt} = \left(\frac{\mu_Y X^2}{K_X + X^2}\right) Y.$$
(4.12)

This equation involves squaring the value of *X* to take into account the incremental amount of prey needed to increase the efficiency of predation.

The main difficulty in determining the Monod and Holling parameters for prey microbial growth in batch study has been to accurately quantify the prey bacteria and the growth limiting substrate at the low concentrations where we expect to see the Monod kinetics displayed. Past research has often used indirect methods; estimating the substrate concentration based on start and end values (Bren et al., 2013). Additionally, the substrate concentration measured in these batch cultures are often higher than required for saturation which can still provide accurate values of the maximum growth of the bacteria but has led to inconsistent results for the saturation constant (Kovárová-Kovar and Egli, 1998).

The use of low substrate concentrations is preferred but requires more sensitive measurement and measurements over a shorter time period time to prevent dramatic nutrient change (Button, 1985). Use of low bacteria concentrations in cultures can help minimise nutrient flux and allows time for the glucose to be filtered from the bacteria and measured accurately to directly represent the substrate concentration present in the culture (Owens and Legan, 1987). Moreover, this brings about the problem of needing a sensitive method for quantifying prey growth.

The previous growth history of cells used is also important as it can determine the lag time in adaptation to the new environment with changes in nutrient concentration and the yield when growing on a substrate (Liu, 2017) (Graham and

Canale, 1982). A previous study (Law and Button, 1977) explored the relationship between a marine bacterium and glucose. They reported that when the bacteria were grown in minimal medium and glucose, which was additionally supplemented with amino acids, the saturation constant decreased, and the maximum growth rate increased compared to being grown without amino acids.

The saturation constant can be determined by monitoring bacterial growth under different growth rates. As expected, the complex nature of bacteria growth means that different saturation constant values for a substrate can be observed with the same bacteria species when they are exposed to different abiotic conditions. So, any value estimated for these parameters applies strictly within the observed experimental conditions. For example, changes in saturation constant and growth rate are observed with changes in media composition ,temperature and pH (Kovárová-Kovar and Egli, 1998) (Kovárová et al., 1996). Thus, it is ideal that as many of these conditions are kept constant as possible.

This can be achieved in a chemostat, a continuous culture that allows the control of fluid (bacteria or substrate) input into the system as determined by the concentration present in a reservoir system and the precise control of dilution rate (Senn et al., 1994). Furthermore, the saturation constant is more accurately determined in a chemostat because unlike bacteria growing in batch, oxygen and nutrients can be continuously provided and the resulting stable environment means that the cells are well adapted and exist in a steady state.

Steady state exists when bacteria have the same specific growth rate as the dilution rate, so that the bacteria concentration does not change. The bacteria in this state, are also more physiologically similar to each other, which lends to a higher experimental reproducibility (Höfle, 1983).

Bacterial growth in chemostats is commonly investigated in engineering, through the use of models or as an experimental system. In a chemostat the predator/prey/substrate system in equations 4.10,4.11 and 4.12 can now be described as:

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = D(S_0 - S) - \frac{1}{\zeta_S} \left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) X, \qquad (4.13)$$

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = -\mathrm{DX} + \left(\frac{\mu_X S}{K_S + S}\right) X - \frac{1}{\zeta_X} \left(\frac{\mu_Y X^2}{K_X + X^2}\right) Y, \qquad (4.14)$$

$$\frac{dY}{dt} = -DY + \left(\frac{\mu_Y X^2}{K_X + X^2}\right)Y,$$
(4.15)

where S_0 represents the substrate concentration (mg/L) in the inflow and D the dilution rate (h⁻¹).

Very similar models have been presented previously to describe the relationship between a single predator, its prey and nutrient consumed by the prey in a chemostat (Li and Kuang, 2000) (Canale et al., 1973), although the use of the Holling type III response function for prey is unique to this research. Alternative variants of the model have been proposed. For example, where the prey yield (the number of new cells per g substrate) is no longer constant but a linear function of the substrate. This was in response to the models with constant yield failing to replicate the oscillatory behaviour observed experimentally in a chemostat (Pilyugin and Waltman, 2003) (Rana et al., 2015). Other theoretical studies have shown that including a function for yield , resulted in multiple limit cycles characteristic of an increased chance of co-existence between multiple species and as well as hopf bifurcation (Jia and Zhang, 2012; Pilyugin and Waltman, 2003).

Unfortunately, there is lack of experimental validation for the effect of variable yield for both the prey and *Bdellovibrio* predator. This change in prey concentration produced as a result of variable substrate concentration and prey yield is also accompanied by changes in cell size which could further vary the predator yield (Sockett, 2009) and reduce the reliability of the parameter estimation especially when cell numbers are used in alternative to biomass (Graham and Canale, 1982) (Shehata and Marr, 1971).

One study used Monod kinetics with constant yield to describe the dynamics between glucose (as the carbon growth limiting substrate), *Aerobacter aerogenes*, the bacterium prey and, *Tetrahymena pyriformis*, the protozoan predator (Canale et al., 1973). The study routinely measured in both batch and continuous cultures bacterial-limiting nutrient concentration, bacterial density (OD), and protozoan biovolume (coulter counter). The maximum growth rates were calculated by measuring the maximum slope of the bacterium and protozoan concentration changes with time on semi-log paper. Saturation constants (K_s and K_x) were calculated by measuring the growth rates of both prey and predator against the soluble carbon and prey optical density respectively (Canale et al., 1973).

Obtaining the saturation constant initially from batch culture is useful because it effects the steady state concentration of the substrate and can be used to control chemostat conditions (Canale, 1969).Observations in the batch experimental data led them to include equations to express the interactions between the bacterium prey, the useable substrate and the refractory substrate which is unaffected by bacterial action. Additionally, the study adds a term to express the death rate as a result of starvation. This modified Monod model was reported to fit well with experimental data from batch (Canale et al., 1973).

In chemostat we can remove *Bdellovibrio* predators before they become unviable as a result of starvation so we can expect the death rate of the predator to be negligible. However, in batch cultures, starved or unviable bacteria remain in the system and may have an effect on the dynamics as is has previously been reported that *B. bacteriovorus* cultured in the absence of prey had a reduced viability of 50% after 10 hours (Hespell et al., 1974) which occurs parallel to decrease in ATP, though there is some debate as to whether this pattern is common in nature (Wilkinson, 2006). Previous studies have demonstrated that ignoring starvation in predation models, led to more regular oscillations (Wilkinson, 2006).

In the Canale study (Canale et al., 1973), different constant flow rates of the chemostat were used (with the same initial substrate concentration at a saturating level) to observe different responses including 1) predator washout. 2) damped

oscillations 3) steady state (Canale et al., 1973). The model was not always able to duplicate these results at different dilutions, even with the alteration of the model parameters. They proposed that this could be solved with the addition of time delays to represent the lag or handling time that it takes for the predator to process its prey (Canale et al., 1973).

Various Lotka-Volterra based models exist for predation that take into account either exponential, logistic or Monod-type growth kinetics. For *Bdellovibrio*, models have been further developed by acknowledging the effect of Bdelloplast growth, heterogeneity (Hol et al., 2016b), the addition of the *Bdellovibrio* bacteriophage predator (Crowley et al., 1980), and the presence of a decoy prey (Hobley et al., 2006). Beyond this, there are many factors of a predator/prey systems that have not been sufficiently considered in regards to *Bdellovibrio* but have been explored further in other predator prey models such as chaos and periodic changes in temperature or nutrient supply (Liu and Chen, 2003) (Hui and Chen, 2006). Such models could be applied to further investigate the dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* predation in natural or engineered systems.

Most problematic biofouling occurs via biofilms, where the spatial structure of the microbial community clearly plays a role in the community's robustness to perturbations and its ability to resist predation, the basic tenets of the predator-prey models that have been described should hold for any system where predation occurs. Thus, to test whether this is the case, in this thesis, predator-prey dynamics are explored in the simple batch and chemostat systems that have been described above. The rationale used here is initially to derive parameters for the models from careful experimentation in highly simplified scenarios. Then to use the parameters to simulate more complex dynamics of predatory prey interactions.

The aim then is to validate the results of the simulations using further careful experimentation. Thus, the modelling is being used to guide experimentation. In an engineering application it is desirable to then design a system where there is no requirement to inoculate with the predator, instead they remain in the system while continuing to keep the, potentially biofouling, prey at bay. Thus,

maintaining predator-prey oscillations or cycles is of particular interest. The modelling should elucidate the ranges in the key parameters that will deliver predator prey cycling in the laboratory experiment.

The research is organised into a logical progression of tasks:

- Develop a growth media for the prey, a *Pseudomonas sp.*, that allows the effect of a single limiting resource to be quantified using standard Monod kinetics. In particular, optimise the inocula media such that the growth-rate of the prey is a function of different concentrations of glucose alone.
- Obtain the critical biological model parameters: growth rates, yields and saturation constants for both prey and predator. This is achieved in a series of batch experiments with the prey growing on different glucose concentrations and with the predator growing on different concentrations on prey.
- Develop computer models based on the mathematical models: equations 4.10,4.11,4.12, for batch culture and equations 4.13, 4.14 and 4.15 for a chemostat.
- Apply the batch computer model, with the empirically derived parameters, to simulate the dynamics of a predator feeding on prey which is, in turn, growing on glucose, for a variety of initial conditions.
- Conduct a series of laboratory batch experiment to implement the scenarios simulated by the computer model and compare the experimental and simulated population dynamics. Then, if necessary, adjust the model parameters to improve the match.
- Use parameters in the chemostat model to simulate the predator-prey population dynamics for a fixed set of initial conditions but a wide range of values for two variables: dilution rates and influent substrate concentrations.

Then, for these two variables map out regions of the parameter space where distinct characteristic dynamical regimes are predicted to occur: stable co-existence; oscillatory dynamic (limit cycle) co-existence; simultaneous prey and predator extinction; predator only extinction).

- Based on the map of different predicted behaviours, select a set of experimental conditions that are predicted to deliver the oscillatory predator-prey dynamics, the most interesting for control in engineering. Then implement an experimental chemostat for these conditions and compare the observed dynamics with those predicted.
- Based on the comparison of simulated and experimental chemostat dynamics, augment the experimental results to explain any discrepancies.

4.1 Methods

4.1.1 The predator and the prey

The wild-type *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* strain HD100 (DSM no. 50701) was used throughout this study and was grown by predation on *Pseudomonas sp.* (DSM no. 50906) using standard culturing methods (Herencias et al., 2017). *Pseudomonas* cells were grown in LB broth at 30°C for 16hours and resuspended in Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer (25 mM HEPES, 2 mM calcium chloride, 3mM magnesium chloride, pH 7.6) to an optical density (600nm) value of 10. *B. bacteriovorus* was then grown on this prey suspension in DN broth at 30°C for 24 hours then sub-cultured twice at 24-hour intervals in in Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer. To remove the prey and harvest the predator alone for growth experiments each culture was filtered through a 0.45µm pore size syringe filter (Fisherbrand[™], product code: 15216869).

4.1.2 Inocula History

It is known that bacteria can alter their kinetic properties in response to environmental changes such as the substrate available for growth (Ahmad and Holland, 1994). Previous studies investigating the kinetic relationship between bacteria and a growth limiting substrate initially grow bacteria in a rich media such as LB before inoculation into a minimal media (25 mM HEPES, 2 mM calcium chloride, 3mM magnesium chloride, 0.05% casein hydrolysate, pH 7.6) with varying concentration of the growth limiting carbon substrate, glucose. Changing the environment directly from a high to lower nutrient environment could potentially influence the reported kinetic values. Additionally, the different growth methods used between researchers lead to inconsistent reporting of kinetic parameters.

To investigate the effect of inocula history on Monod kinetics (Fig 4.1), *Pseudomonas* was grown overnight at 30°C and 200rpm in LB media and then subcultured overnight in different media; minimal media (Fig 4.1A), minimal media further supplemented with varying concentrations of glucose (Fig 4.1B), which was the carbon growth-limiting substrate (0, 0.5, 2.5, 20mg/L) and LB broth (Fig 4.1C). *Pseudomonas* from each culture is then resuspended to 10⁵ cells/ml (as determined by flow cytometry) in microwell plates with minimal media supplemented with varying concentrations of glucose (0, 0.5, 2.5, 20mg/L). Growth was then observed at 30°C for 18 hours by OD using microwell plate reader.



Figure 4.1- Schematic representation of inocula history experiment. Bacteria is initially grown in LB then to gain different inocula, the bacteria are grown overnight again in different media: **A)** HEPES minimal media, **B)** minimal media supplemented with glucose and **C)** LB broth before being grown in microplates with different concentration of glucose supplemented minimal media.
LB was chosen as the *Pseudomonas* inocula media for future kinetic experiments as it produced the highest concentration of initial bacteria, and when the inocula was grown on glucose showed the typical Monod relationship.

4.1.3 Identifying the Monod model parameters

To obtain the Monod parameters that describe relationship in batch between the substrates (glucose) and the prey bacteria, *Pseudomonas*, a culture was grown overnight in LB medium, and 10⁵ cells/ml was suspended into six 500ml flaks with 100ml minimal media, with varying levels of glucose (0, 0.5,1, 2.5, 5, 20mg/L).

The cells were grown for 16 hours at 30° C and 200rpm shaking as it is the optimum conditions at which we wish to view the predator dynamics of *Bdellovibrio*. To observe the prey growth, aliquots were taken from each culture and resuspended 1:1 v/v in glutaraldehyde then stored at 4°C and measured by flow cytometry within 3 days. To observe the substrate concentration depletion in the culture, aliquots were taken every 2 hours and immediately filtered, then stored at -20°C and measured using the sigma glucose assay kit according to instructions. Absorbance was recorded at 570nm using a multiplate reader.

For the prey limiting assay, *B. bacteriovorus* filtrate was prepared as above to 10^{5} cells/ml and used to inoculate *Pseudomonas* cultures of varying concentration $(10^{5}-10^{9} \text{ cells/ml})$ in 250ml conical flasks with 50ml of Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer. The culture was then incubated for 72 hours at 30°C. To observe the prey and predator growth, aliquots were taken at regular time periods from each culture and resuspended 1:1 v/v in glutaraldehyde then stored at 4°C and measured by flow cytometry within 3 days.

4.1.4 Computer models

The numerical solutions of equations 4.10-4.12 and 4.13-4.15 were implemented in two separate MATLAB computer codes. The codes used the robust, ordinary differential equation package ODE45. They are included in appendix 8.2.

4.1.5 Batch predator prey simulations

The computational model was used to simulate the dynamics in five flasks (Fig 4.2). These five dynamics were randomly chosen based on them differing in the initial conditions as well as showing difference between the observed behaviour, through the speed and degree of change of the prey and predator population.

4.1.6 Batch predator prey experiments.

The conditions simulated in the batch computational model were mirrored in a set of 250ml conical flasks in the laboratory. The flasks were filled with 50ml of the minimal media supplemented with different concentrations of glucose, *Pseudomonas* and *B. bacteriovorus*. Following inoculation of prey and predator, substrate depletion and prey and predator growth were measured routinely for 72 hours.



Figure 4.2- Schematic diagram represents the flasks for the batch experiments. Initial conditions with different initial prey (X_0), predator (Y_0), and glucose substrate (S_0), concentrations that were randomly selected are shown.

4.1.7 Chemostat Simulations

The chemostat model was run for every combination of S_0 , influent glucose concentration, and D, dilution rate selected from vectors with 100 equal increments in the ranged (0.5,25) mg/l and (0.01,1) hr⁻¹. The dynamics of predator and prey abundances were for each combination were simulated for 40 hydraulic retention times, 40/D hours. If the simulated abundances of predator and prey at the end of the simulation were zero, then the dynamics were classified as 'washout'. If the prey abundance remined constant over the last 20 retention times and the predator abundance dropped to zero, this was classified as predator washout. If both abundances were constant, this was classified as stable coexistence. If the abundances of predator and prey over the last 20 retention times crossed their mean values more than 4 times then the solution was deemed to be oscillating and, thus, exhibiting a 'limit cycle'.

4.1.8 Chemostat Monod parameter experiment run 1

To observe the relationship in chemostat between the substrates (glucose), the prey bacteria *Pseudomonas* and the predatory bacteria *Bdellovibrio*. *Pseudomonas* and *Bdellovibrio* cultures are used to inoculate a bioreactor chamber filled with minimal media (25 mM HEPES, 2 mM calcium chloride, 3mM magnesium chloride, 0.05% casein hydrolysate, pH 7.6) further supplemented with 25mg/L glucose. Following this, the bioreactor is connected to an inlet and outlet bottle, to remove volume from the reactor while also providing the reactor with minimal media further supplemented with 25mg/L glucose. Using peristatic pumps, the medium is supplied at a constant dilution rate for 168 hours. Samples of the substrate, prey and predator are obtained from the effluent routinely across the experiment run of 168 hours. Concentration of the samples were determined as in the batch study.

4.1.9 Chemostat Monod parameter experiment run 2

To determine the growth of biofilm within the bioreactor and explain the discrepancies observed in the first chemostat run, we repeated the chemostat run as above but instead for 72 hours with the addition of glass microscope slides placed in the reactor to collect biofilm. Samples of prey and predator were obtained from the effluent routinely and at the end of the run the glass slides were removed and the biofilm was reconstituted into PBS by sonication. The concentration of the sample was determined by flow cytometry as above and then used to calculate the total volume of bacteria growing as a biofilm in the reactor.

4.1.10 Flow cytometry

Samples were prepared by fixation with glutaraldehyde (1% in DI water) and where necessary diluted to achieve an events per second reading of less than 600 on the flow cytometer. Dilutions were made in filtered (0.22 µm Sartorius[™] Minisart[™] Plus Syringe Filters, Fisher scientific, product code: 10730792) DI water. Samples were stained for the total cell count.

For total count: the samples were each stained with 10 μ L/ml of SYBR Green I (SGI) and incubated in the dark for 13 min before measurement. Stock solutions of SGI (10,000 x in DMSO, Thermofisher, product code: S7653) were diluted 1:100 in EDTA (1 mM).

Gating was used to distinguish selected signals (*B. bacteriovorus* and *Pseudomonas*) from each other and from the background (inorganic and organic particles) with the aid of negative controls consisting of the DI water used for dilutions, HEPES buffer used for growth, and a sample of the predator/prey co-culture further filtered (0.22 μ m) to remove any bacterial cells.

4.1.11 Glucose measurement

To measure the amount of glucose in a sample, a glucose coulometric assay kit (Sigma-Aldrich, product code:MAK263-1KT) was used. Samples were first prepared by immediate filtering and then freezing at -20°C. Samples were then further prepared and measured at 570nm in a microwell plate according to instructions.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Inocula History

We initially grew six cultures of *Pseudomonas*. One grown on LB broth (Fig 4.1C), one grown in minimal HEPES medium (Fig 4.1A) and the others grown in minimal HEPES medium supplemented with four different amounts of glucose (0, 0.5, 2.5 and 20mg/L) (Fig 4.1B), the growth rate-limiting nutrient. We then measured the growth curve of each of the six different *Pseudomonas* inocula grown on HEPES medium supplemented with casein hydrolysate and four different amounts of glucose (0, 0.5, 2.5 and 20mg/L).

The growth rates of *Pseudomonas* cultures fed different glucose concentration is plotted when inoculated from: HEPES with 0mg/L (Fig 4.3A); HEPES supplemented

with the same glucose concentration (Fig 4.3B); and LB broth (Fig 4.3C). Whatever the initial growth media of the inocula, the growth curve resembled that described by the Monod model; *Pseudomonas* shows limited growth without glucose and grows rapidly as the glucose concentration increases until saturation is reached and no further increase in growth rate is observed. When grown in HEPES supplemented with the same amount of glucose concentration as in the inocula, there was less variation between repeats in the specific growth rate.

Using the solver in excel we calculated the maximum growth rate and saturation constants for each inocula condition. When previously grown in HEPES with 0mg/L glucose, the maximum growth rate and the saturation constant were the lowest (0.121 h⁻¹ and 0.06mg/L). The highest maximum growth rate (0.141 h⁻¹) was observed when grown in the same amount of glucose as in the inocula, though the saturation constant was only 0.07mg/L. When grown previously in LB the maximum growth rate was 0.138 h⁻¹ and the highest saturation constant of 0.236 mg/L was displayed. In experiment, the *Pseudomonas* also shows a constant growth rate even at 0mg/L glucose concentration which is in contrast to what was expected and what the model predicted, where no growth is shown at 0mg/L glucose.



Figure 4.3- Specific growth rate (h⁻¹) of *Pseudomonas* vs the initial concentration of glucose (mg/L). The saturation constant and maximum growth rates are calculated to model the relationship using the Monod equation. The bacteria were previously grown on A) supplemented HEPES buffer with zero glucose
B) supplemented HEPES buffer with the same concentration of glucose as measured (0, 0.5,2.5,20 mg/L) and C) LB buffer.

4.2.2 Batch predator prey system

To measure the growth of prey more accurately and reliably capture the growth parameters that are critical to the batch model, we use flow cytometry to measure the batch growth of *Pseudomonas* on minimal media supplemented with a wider range of glucose concentrations ranging from 0 to 20mg/L. *Pseudomonas* growth on glucose fits Monod theory well (Fig 4.4B). We plotted the observed growth rate as a function of the initial glucose substrate. As the initial glucose concentration increases, *Pseudomonas* growth rate increases exponentially up to approximately 2.5 mg/L where the growth rate levels off.

We used the Monod model (equation 4.10) to characterise the relationship between bacterial growth rate and the concentration of glucose. We plot a Lineweaver-Burk plot which is a linearised forms of the Monod equation (Fig 4.4A). With the plot, we use the intercept and gradient to determine the value of the maximum growth rate (1.0 h^{-1}) and the saturation constant (0.18mg/L). We use the Lineweaver-Burk plot rather than the excel solver in this instance because of the increased precision and the ability to quantitatively estimate the error.

As shown previously, the model is estimated to show no growth (Fig 4.4B) in the absence of glucose, which is unlike the growth observed in experimentation, where *Pseudomonas* grows at a higher rate of 0.51 h⁻¹. For all other concentrations of glucose, the fitted model is similar to the observed measurements.



Figure 4.4- Relationship of *Pseudomonas* **growth with glucose. A)** Lineweaver Burk plot with confidence intervals (grey) of the relationship between specific growth rate (h⁻¹) of *Pseudomonas* vs the initial concentration of glucose (mg/L). **B)** The saturation constant (0.18 mg/L) and maximum growth rates (1.0 h⁻¹) are calculated to model the relationship using the Monod equation.

We measured the growth curve of *Bdellovibrio* grown on Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer inoculated with different concentrations of *Pseudomonas* ranging from a severely limiting level (0 cells/ml), to saturating level (10⁹ cells/ml).

Figure 4.5 shows a typical growth in a batch culture of *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas*. For the 72 hours there is little to no change in the concentrations of prey and the predator when the initial *Pseudomonas* concentration is 10⁷ cells/ml or lower. However, when the prey concentration is increased to 10⁸ cells/ml the predator population increases slowly for the first 24 hours before rapidly increasing and then levelling off at around 44 hours. Simultaneously the prey population shows little change at high initial prey concentrations for the first 24 hours before rapidly decreasing as a result of predation. The prey population then levels off after 48 hours.



Figure 4.5- Growth curve of *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml) population during batch culture with different initial prey concentrations.

Figure 4.6 shows the *Bdellovibrio* specific growth rate as a function of *Pseudomonas* prey cell density. This concurs with the observations of figure 4.5; the predator growth rate shows no increase at low concentrations of prey but when the prey concentration increases the predator growth rate rapidly increases. We determined the maximum growth rate and saturation constant when using both Monod (0.266h⁻¹ and 5.59 x 10⁷ prey cells/ml respectively) and the Holling type III functional response (0.244h⁻¹ and 2.74 x 10¹⁵ cells²/ml² respectively).

The observed pattern of growth better resembles the Holling type III equation rather than the Monod equation, which is unable to overestimate the increase in growth rate when increasing prey concentration from 10⁶ cells/ml to 10⁷ cells/ml. Neither the Monod nor Holling models were able to predict the decrease in predator population observed in the absence of prey.



Figure 4.6– Specific growth rate (h⁻¹) of *Bdellovibrio* vs the initial concentration of prey (cells/ml) in batch culture. The saturation constant and maximum growth rates are calculated to model the relationship using the Monod equation (0.266^{h-1} and 5.59×10^7 prey cells/ml) and Holling type III functional response ($0.244h^{-1}$ and 2.74×10^{15} cells²/ml²).

The batch experiments above allowed us to estimate the parameter values for the predator prey growth kinetics (maximum growth rates and saturation constants); these are summarised and presented in table 4.1.

Kinetic parameter	Value
Maximum prey growth rate	1.0 h ⁻¹
Maximum predator growth rate	0.24 h ⁻¹
Predator yield	1.95 Bdellovibrio cells/Pseudomonas cell
Prey yield	3.1 x 10 ⁷ cells/mg of glucose
Glucose saturation constant	0.18mg/L
Pseudomonas prey saturation constant	2.74 x10 ¹⁵ cells ² /ml ²

Table 4.1- kinetic parameters used in model.

4.2.3 Batch validation/fitting

Using these parameters in a model created with equations 4.10, 4.11 and 4.12 in MATLAB. With these parameters we predicted the outcome of a batch system with a range of initial conditions for glucose concentration, predator and prey population. A summary of the conditions and the predicted and observed system responses is presented in figures 4.7-4.11.

Using the computer model for the simultaneous batch growth of predator and prey (equations 4.10-4.12) we simulated a range of the possible predator prey dynamics. This was achieved by the appropriate selection of initial conditions. Fig 4.7 shows a simulation where the initial conditions lead to the rapid depletion of glucose and a large increase in both the predator and prey concentrations from $^{-105}$ cells/ml to $^{-108}$ cells/ml. Both populations plateau but the prey population subsequently decreases from $^{-108}$ cells/ml to $^{-106}$ cells/ml. Fig 4.8 shows a simulation where the initial conditions lead to no significant change in the concentration of prey or predator. In Fig 4.9 the initial conditions were predicted by the simulation to show fast depletion of glucose and an increase in the prey from $^{-105}$ cells/ml to $^{-106}$ cells/ml but this was not enough to cause any significant change in the predator. Fig 4.10 shows a simulation where the initial conditions cause rapid depletion in glucose and increases in the prey ($^{-106}$ cells/ml to $^{-108}$ cells/ml) and predator ($^{-106}$ cells/ml to $^{-108}$ cells/ml), followed by no change in the concentration of the predator but a significant decrease of the prey from $^{-108}$

cells/ml to a lower concentration than the initial. Similarly, Fig 4.11 presents the simulation where there is rapid depletion of glucose, a large increase in the predator (~10⁷ cells/ml to ~10⁹ cells/ml) followed by a plateau whereas the prey concentration increases shortly (~10⁸ cells/ml to ~10⁹ cells/ml in under six hours) before significantly declining from ~10⁹ cells/ml to ~10⁵ cells/ml. For Fig 4.7-4.11, we have superimposed the concentrations of predator and prey measured in the set of batch experiments that attempt to recreate the simulated results.

When the initial glucose concentration was zero or low (below the saturation constant) the model was not able to accurately predict the growth of the prey and the predator (Fig 4.8 and 4.9). Due to the lack of sensitivity of the glucose assay we were unable to accurately capture the behaviour of glucose in these systems and compare it to the modelled behaviour. Regardless, the model predicted that at these glucose concentrations there would not be any significant growth in the prey population. With the prey population remaining at such a low concentration well below the prey saturation constant, it is predicted by the model that the predator would also not show significant growth. However, in experiment, the *Pseudomonas* prey was still able to grow even in the absence of glucose. As expected, this results in an increase in the predator population. Interestingly, in these cases the prey population predicted by the model is better fitting to the measured population after a number of hours, by which point the predator appears to have grown to a saturating amount.

Notably, when the initial glucose concentration is higher (5mg/L and above), the model is able to predict the growth of the prey and the predator (Fig 4.7, 4.10 and 4.11). As expected, the prey bacteria grow on the glucose present and subsequently the predator population also grows which in turn results in the decrease of the prey population. Additionally, the largest population of predator (1 $\times 10^9$ cells/ml) is shown when the prey also grows to the largest population (1 $\times 10^9$ cells/ml) (Fig 4.11) and for all batch experiments if the prey population did not reach 1 $\times 10^7$ in the first six hours, the predator population would take longer (over 24 hours) to reach a saturating level.



Figure 4.7- Batch flask 1. Transient curve of **A)** *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml) population and **B)** glucose (mg/L) during batch culture with different initial prey ($X_0 = \sim 10^4$ cells/ml), predator ($Y_0 = \sim 10^4$ cells/ml) and glucose substrate ($S_0 = 5$ mg/L) concentrations. For which the model predicts a large increase in both the predator and prey concentrations followed by a plateau and then a decrease of the prey population.



Figure 4.8- Batch flask 2. Growth curve of *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml) population during batch culture with different initial prey ($X_0 = \sim 10^6$ cells/ml), predator ($Y_0 = \sim 10^6$ cells/ml) and glucose substrate ($S_0 = 0$ mg/L) concentrations. For which the model predicts no change in the predator or prey population.



Figure 4.9- Batch flask 3. Transient curve of **A)** *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml) population and **B)** glucose (mg/L) during batch culture with different initial prey ($X_0 = \sim 10^5$ cells/ml), predator ($Y_0 = \sim 10^7$ cells/ml) and glucose substrate ($S_0 = 0.1$ mg/L) concentrations. For which the model predicts an increase in the prey but not enough to support an increase in the predators.



Figure 4.10- Batch flask 4. Transient curve of **A)** *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml) population and **B)** glucose (mg/L) during batch culture with different initial prey ($X_0 = \sim 10^6$ cells/ml), predator ($Y_0 = \sim 10^6$ cells/ml) and glucose substrate ($S_0 = 5$ mg/L) concentrations. For which the model predicts an increase in the predator and prey populations followed by a large decrease in the prey.



Figure 4.11- Batch flask 5. Transient curve of **A)** *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml) population and **B)** glucose (mg/L) during batch culture with different initial prey ($X_0 = \sim 10^8$ cells/ml), predator ($Y_0 = \sim 10^7$ cells/ml) and glucose substrate ($S_0 = 20$ mg/L) concentrations. For which the model predicts a large increase in the predator population and a large decrease in the prey population.

4.2.4 Simulations to explore different classes of population dynamics in a chemostat.

The growth kinetic parameters that were now validated, at least for high concentrations of glucose in batch system, were used to simulate predator prey dynamics using the chemostat mathematical model (solving equations 4.13,4.14 and 4.15). We systematically simulated the dynamics for 100x100 plausible combinations of dilution rate and the influent glucose concentration and classified the dynamics using the heuristic rules outlined in the methods above as bring either: prey and predator washout, predator washout, stable co-existence and limit cycle oscillations (Fig 4.12).



Figure 4.12- Model predicted surface plot. Displays the different behaviours of *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* in chemostat culture depending on the glucose in the influent (mg/L) and dilution rate (h⁻¹).

The outcome of the predator and prey populations is largely determined by the dilution rate of the chemostat, and at the dilution rates higher than $0.4h^{-1}$, the predator is washed out regardless of the glucose concentration in the influent. There is a small region in the parameter space, when the dilution rate is really high (approximately above $0.82 h^{-1}$), and the glucose concentration is low (approximately below 1mg/L), the prey is also washed out along with the predator.

At a low enough dilution rate and a high enough influent substrate concentration the prey and predator growth are more stable and there is a small parameter space in which there is a limit cycle, regular oscillations in the substrate, predator and prey populations.

Figure 4.13 shows the predicted growth of the predator and prey populations under the conditions required to induce oscillations ($X0 = ~10^7$ cells/ml, $Y0 = ~10^7$ cells/ml, S0 = 25mg/L. D=0.17 h⁻¹). As expected, *Pseudomonas* prey species grows in response to spikes in glucose, this increase in the prey species provides enough of a food source to the *Bdellovibrio* predator allowing its population to grow and decrease the prey species, this is in turn results in a recovery of the glucose concentration in the reactor. We recreated these conditions in the chemostat and recorded the abundance of predator and prey through time. It is apparent that the experimental results (Fig 4.14) are able to predict some oscillation and the oscillation of predator and prey are, reassuringly out of phase. However, the amplitude is an order of magnitude lower than in the simulations the period is twice as long.



Figure 4.13- Model predicted transient response during chemostat culture. A) for glucose and B) for *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml). Initial prey (X0): 3.5 x 10⁷ cells/ml, initial predator (Y0): 6.55 x 10⁷ cells/ml, and initial glucose substrate (S0): 25mg/L., dilution rate (D): 0.17 h⁻¹.



Figure 4.14- Experimentally observed transient response during chemostat culture. A) for glucose and B) for *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml). Initial prey (X0): 3.5 x 10⁷ cells/ml, initial predator (Y0): 6.55 x 10⁷ cells/ml, and initial glucose substrate (S0): 25mg/L., dilution rate (D): 0.17 h⁻¹.

There are a number of reasons why the experimental chemostat results might deviate from the simulation. It might be that our experimental determination of the model parameters was not completely accurate. To qualitatively assess the likelihood of this we subjectively adjusted parameters to see if we could create simulated dynamics that better fit the experimental data. We were able to reduce the simulated cell abundances to values more in line with those in the experiment, the most significant value being the prey maximum growth rate. Reducing this value from 1.0 h^{-1} to 0.6 h^{-1} significantly reduced the maximum values of the populations observed in the model and made them more comparable to the experimental data (Fig 4.15).



Figure 4.15- Altered model predicted transient response during chemostat culture. A) for glucose and B) for *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* (cells/ml). Initial prey (*X***0**): 3.5×10^7 cells/ml, initial predator (*Y***0**): 6.55×10^7 cells/ml, and initial glucose substrate (*S***0**): 25mg/L., dilution rate (D): 0.17 h⁻¹. Growth parameters used were the same as previous models excluding the maximum prey growth rate: 0.5 h^{-1,} Prey yield: 3.1×10^7 cells/mg of glucose and *Pseudomonas* prey saturation constant: 2.74×10^{15} cells²/ml².

As discussed, the model is not in fact capturing some of the important phenomena that are occurring in the experiment. It may be the assumption of a mixed planktonic community is a gross oversimplification and that the bacteria are forming biofilms on the walls of the chemostat. Biofilm cells typically exhibit slower growth rates than their planktonic counterparts thus, this could explain why decreasing the maximum prey growth in the model yielded more comparable results to the experimental data.

To determine the effect of biofilm growth on the chemostat growth, the experiment was repeated with the similar conditions but instead the biofilm growth on glass slide was obtained and reported below. As before, the model is able to predict the oscillations, but it is otherwise inaccurate. Though there was biofilm found to be growing in the reactor, the total count was similar to the total planktonic bacteria growing in the bulk liquid at 72 hours (Table 4.2) and the total number of bacteria growing in the reactor still did not account for the overestimation shown in the model.

Table 4.2- Measurement of the free living planktonic bacterial cells in the bulkliquid and the bacterial cells present in biofilm attached to the reactor surface.

Species	State of cells	Number of cells
Bdellovibrio	Planktonic	1.23E+09
Pseudomonas		5.57E+10
Bdellovibrio	Biofilm	1.19E+09
Pseudomonas		4.03E+10
Bdellovibrio	Planktonic + Biofilm	2.42E+09
Pseudomonas		9.60E+10

4.3 Discussion

The objective of this study was to gain a quantitative understanding of the relationship between a simple predator-prey system including a single growth limiting organic nutrient.

Estimating the growth kinetics is difficult and there are inconsistencies in the reported values for growth kinetics. It has also been reported that microorganisms

can alter their kinetic properties because of the conditions of their environment such as temperature, pH, substrate used for growth, agitation speed (Ahmad and Holland, 1994). One of these conditions is the media used to grow the bacteria culture prior to it being used as an inoculum. It has previously been demonstrated that the growth media used to grow the inoculum can affect the bacterial growth and gene expression (Khan et al., 2013). Studies on the growth dependence on growth substrates such as glucose often grow the inoculum in LB media or some other high nutrient medium in order to maximise the growth of the inoculum (Bren et al., 2013). However, if switching environments in this way has a significant effect on the bacteria's ability to consume glucose it could result in discrepancies in the measured growth kinetics and reduce the reliability of the model. This study found that *Pseudomonas* relationship with glucose could be well described the Monod curve, despite the difference in inocula media.

As expected, the inoculum grown previously in the minimal media (Omg/L glucose) showed the lowest saturation constant and maximum growth rate. This is likely a result of the lack of nutrient reserves within the inoculum bacteria and indicate that the physiological state of the inoculum bacteria plays a role in glucose consumption.

Inoculum grown from nutrient rich LB broth during the pre-inoculation stage had slightly lower saturation constant and maximum growth rate values compared to the inoculum previously grown in the same minimal media composition pre and post inoculation. When switching from a complex media to minimal media post inoculation, it is likely that the inoculum bacteria require considerable adaptation before they can efficiently use the glucose carbon source to reach maximum growth rate. Whereas the inoculum grown previously in minimal media may require less adaptation time and can quickly make use of the glucose in the system. Nonetheless, with both inoculum conditions showing Monod behaviour and the differences in kinetics being subtle, LB was chosen as the inoculum growth media for *Pseudomonas* in the following experiments because it showed the maximum concentration reached after incubation and allowed for a more direct comparison to many previous studies on microbial growth kinetics.

Past literature into growth dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* feeding on prey bacteria often highlights that the analyses are limited in the methods available to measure the bacterial abundances. Here we move away from techniques such as measuring optical density or dry weight and instead use the flow cytometry as a more direct measurements of cell numbers (Ogundero et al., 2022). Using flow cytometry, we measured the growth of *Pseudomonas*, our prey population, in response to increasing concentrations of a single caron source, glucose. This relationship between growth of *Pseudomonas* and glucose concentration adhered to a Monod model (Fig 4.4), with maximum growth rate of 1.0 h^{-1} and a saturation constant of 0.18 mg/l for glucose. This is similar to values reported in previous literature. It should also be noted that the growth rate observed here is significantly higher than the maximum growth rate of *Pseudomonas* observed in the inocula study. It is likely that the low growth rate was caused because sealed microplate well in which the culture was placed, do not provide significant mixing and oxygen exchange compared to shaking conical flasks (Chaturvedi et al., 2014).

The experimental data shows that the *Pseudomonas* was able to grow in the absence of glucose, which cannot be replicated by a Monod growth model, which assumes a single limiting resource and thus zero resource mean zero growth. Thus, it suggests that, despite our best efforts, glucose was not the only growth limiting substrate present. We used casein hydrolysate as a nitrogen source in the media, which may have been utilised for growth.

Many studies select yield and saturation constant values from previous literature rather than obtaining them experimentally, which is difficult to do because it requires measurements of glucose at the microgram per litre range (Nielson et al. 2003). Here, assay kits that allow specific substrates to be quantified by absorbance reading, enabled us to measure the degradation of the glucose substrate when provided to *Pseudomonas*. The cell yield coefficient is defined as the unit amount of cell mass produced per unit amount of substrate consumed. By measuring both the direct cell count and the glucose concentration during the batch culture run we observed an average yield of 3.1×10^7 *Pseudomonas* cells/mg of glucose. This value is important in predicting the growth of bacteria as the

higher the value, the more efficiently a substrate is determined to be degraded and the higher the maximum population is reached. Yield coefficients dependent on the nature of substrate being degraded and the intrinsic physiological mechanisms of the bacteria.

A bottleneck in many previous studies has been an inability to accurately measure both *Bdellovibrio* and their prey cell numbers simultaneously. Typically, with *Bdellovibrio*, predation is solely measured through the depletion of the prey (measured in turn by optical density or plate count) or the predator numbers are determined through the use of plaque forming assays which is tedious and prone to error (Ogundero et al., 2022). Using flow cytometry, the predator and prey populations can be directly quantified.

The growth of *Bdellovibrio* on increasing concentrations of prey is displayed as a sigmoid curve which is best described by the Holling type III function. The *Bdellovibrio* are unable to show significant population growth at low prey concentrations and only show an increase in growth rate at prey populations of 10⁸ cells/ml. Indeed, there is a lot of evidence *Bdellovibrio* found predominantly in environments of high prey density such as biofilms and downstream sewage and water treatment systems (Staples & Fry 1973).

This could be the result of a number of traits of *Bdellovibrio* predation. Firstly, the predator is thought to show no specific searching or chemotaxis mechanism in hunting their prey. Instead, the predator relies on speed and high frequency 'random' collisions with the prey cell wall to engage in attachment and subsequent invasion of the periplasmic space (Straley and Conti, 1977). Thus, it is likely that at low enough prey densities the chance of a significant successful collisions in the population is extremely low and the trade-off between energy used to find prey and the energy received from predation for the production of new progeny is no longer favourable. As *Bdellovibrio* cells age without being able to invade a prey cell, the cell becomes slower which further decreases the chance of successful collisions.

Additionally, at high predator to prey ratios, multiple predators can attach to a single prey cell causing the prey cell to burst prematurely. It is possible that if enough of these events happen at low prey density, it prevents the predator cells from invading and replicating inside of the prey cell, so as a result the population doesn't significantly increase. But at high prey densities, there is less premature prey lysis and the single predator cells are able to easily find a single prey cell to replicate within. This could also help explain why at the lower prey concentrations the prey shows a large drop in population faster than in the higher concentrations where the significant decrease is delayed (Fig 4.5).

Using the simple model for predator and prey dynamics we simulated the population dynamics in four different scenarios of batch growth, with different initial conditions of bacteria numbers and substrate concentrations. We then experimentally reproduce the conditions that had been simulated and measure the numbers of bacteria and the substrate concentration through time. There was a good match between the experimental measurements and the model predictions in scenarios where the glucose concentration was more than 5mg/l. For scenarios where the glucose concentration is a result of the inability of the Monod model to capture the observed growth at very low substrate concentrations due to the casein hydrolysate (nitrogen source) added to the medium, which has a knock-on effect on prey and subsequently predator populations in the simulations.

Using the calculated parameters in a model created with equations 4.13, 4.14 and 4.15 in MATLAB, we mapped the combinations of initial conditions for glucose concentration in the influent and, predator and prey population in a chemostat that would lead to a range of different dynamics: prey and predator washout, predator washout, stable co-existence and limit cycle oscillations. As expected, the potential for predator washout is the largest of the outcomes as it slow growing in comparison to the prey so even moderate dilution rates remove all the predator before it can significantly grow its population in the reactor. In contrast, the prey has a much faster growth rate and is able to grow at high dilution rates. If using *Bdellovibrio* in an applied manner, for example, to control the bacteria

numbers in a biofiltration system then it would be important to characterise the potential for predator washout and thus choose dilution rates that ensure the predator presence in the system.

Predator washout would require re-inoculation of the system but being able to keep the predators growing in a limit cycle would keep the system more selfsustainable and efficient. The potential for predator prey oscillations is comparably smaller in the chemostat we describe, which is to be expected as the prey's growth is reliant on one substrate and the action of one predator. Whereas in a natural system with multiple sources of organic substrates and potentially multiple prey and predator species, limit cycles are more commonly observed (Wilkinson, 2006).

To test the fit of the model we ran a chemostat for 168 hours with initial conditions that would lead to limit cycle oscillations: Initial prey (X0): 3.5×10^7 cells/ml, initial predator (Y0): 6.55×10^7 cells/ml, and influent glucose substrate (S0): 25mg/L, dilution rate (D): 0.17 h⁻¹. As expected, the predator and prey populations exhibit regular oscillations. Though previous studies have theoretically demonstrated this (Summers and Kreft, 2019), we demonstrate the first experimentally observed oscillations in *Bdellovibrio* and their prey. The observation and understanding of this phenomenon is necessary to unleash the true potential of *Bdellovibrio* as a self-sustainable solution to mitigate biofilms in decentralised systems. Unlike the addition of chemicals such as chlorine, repeated dosage would not be as necessary or as frequent, as the predators would continue to grow on the remaining prey. Additionally, both predicting and inducing oscillations could aid in the identification of key 'low' points in the prey population where chlorine dosing could be considered more efficient, maximising the potential to mitigate biofouling while minimising the harmful effects of frequent chlorine usage such as resistance development.

Using the model in application with the ability to control the initial parameters (X0, Y0, S0 and D) required, would allow for the induction of predator prey oscillations in a decentralised membrane system, with relative ease and without

the need for extensive modelling knowledge. The model also removes the need for trial-and-error experimentation to search for this precise parameter space. Thus, the model increases the speed and efficiency as well as reducing the time and cost associated with all the extra experimentation.

The extent to the predator growth and the action of prey removal over time can also be predicted with models such as the one in this study in order to optimise and maintain the process. Unfortunately, the chemostat model could not accurately replicate the regularity of the oscillations as well as the maximum and minimum populations reached.

One potential reason for this is that the *Pseudomonas* prey additionally grows as a biofilm on the glass surface of the reactor. *Pseudomonas* species has been shown to grow significant biofilm in chemostats in as little as 12 hours (Jass et al., 1995). Compared to the planktonic bacteria, bacteria growing in biofilm can consume significant nutrients from the bulk liquid while typically displaying a slower growth rate and is not as easily removed from the reactor by washout. This biofilm cannot be quantified by sampling from the effluent and can reduce the measured total count of the bacteria in the reactor. Additionally, the predator *Bdellovibrio* does not form biofilm but has been shown to be able to move and predate within biofilms. This is less of a concern in batch studies where there is not a constant supply of nutrients to allow for significant biofilm development and planktonic bacteria remain in the system and are not removed by dilution.

To investigate the effect of biofilm growth on the validity of the model, we repeated the chemostat experiment for 72 hours, and at the end of this period also measured the growth of biofilm on a glass slide which was then used to approximate the total bacterial growth in the reactor.

We demonstrate that the prey species does grow as biofilm attached to the glass surface and that *Bdellovibrio* can be found within these biofilms. The bacterial total count in the bulk liquid is similar to the total count attached to the reactor surface for both the predator and the prey, though it is not confirmed whether the biofilm to planktonic bacteria ratio changes over time.

The presence of the *Pseudomonas* biofilms on the chemostat wall means that our chemostat model, where all bacteria are assumed to be planktonic and the population is continually being depleted by bacteria leaving in the effluent, is flawed. In order to have a chance of capturing the behaviour in the chemostat then the equations would have to be augmented with ones that explicitly model the biofilm population and action of the predator on the biofilm. The rate at which bacteria attach and detach would be required and it could not be assumed that the growth kinetics of the predator and prey in biofilms would be the same as for planktonic populations. It is known that planktonic bacteria and biofilms exhibit phenotypic differences and respond to environmental conditions differently.

Moreover, as the chemostat observes oscillations in nutrient concentration, it is expected that the biofilm will respond in changes to their physical and chemical structure as well as the total biomass present within the biofilm. So, whilst it is tempting to construct a mathematical model that has a representation of the biofilm to see if the observed dynamics could be reproduced, it would comprise a large number of parameters that we have not derived experimentally. Merely calibrating parameters would not allow us to determine whether the model was really capturing the processes at play. The premise of this chapter was that if we measure key parameters in advance, we could predict dynamics. Thus, it is suffice to say that our chemostat model is missing representations of critical phenomena and we have strong circumstantial evidence that it requires explicit representation of the biofilm.

Thus, moving forward, in future research, we need to characterise the kinetics of our predator and prey in biofilms. Indeed, a biofilm model will ultimately have more practical application than the chemostat model, our rationale was that the chemostat was a simpler system to begin to observe predator prey dynamics. Indeed, the complexities of biofilms are such that a much more intensive experimental programme would be required. For example, it has been reported

that at higher nutrient concentrations, oxygen and waste can accumulate creating unfavourable conditions that can lead to the detachment of *Pseudomonas putida* biofilms. Whereas lower nutrient concentrations didn't allow for an over accumulation of density and resulted in more compact structures (Salgar-Chaparro et al., 2020). The structure of biofilms is key when considering how they develop in response to growth limiting nutrients as they are heterogenous and contain pores and channels that allow for diffusion. In thick or compact biofilms there is lower diffusion and less nutrients delivered to bacteria deeper within the biofilms and likewise there is less removal of waste products. These bacteria are slower growing and less metabolically active than both planktonic bacteria and bacteria on the outer surface of the biofilm. All of these behaviours might have an effect on the dynamics.

Similarly, progeny predatory bacteria that are developing within bdelloplasts from biofilm forming bacteria may be less likely to be removed from washout than their counterparts in the bulk liquid. Retaining these predators within the system can then lead to a further unexpected decrease of the prey bacteria within the biofilm and the bulk liquid. There is little information on how *Bdellovibrio* predation is affected by biofilm structure but there have been many studies that have demonstrated that thicker, less porous biofilms prevented the diffusion of antibiotics and limits the predation of bacteriophages to the upper regions of biofilms (Kim et al., 2009).

The pursuit of a biofilm predator-prey model with experimentally quantifiable parameters is an avenue of research that warrants the substantial experimental effort required. It has the potential to inform the use of *Bdellovibrio* in membrane filter treatment systems, and predict conditions that would induce oscillations such that biofilms are kept at bay by predation without the need for repeated dose with fresh predator populations (Feichtmayer et al., 2017).

In conclusion, the study utilized a model of nonlinear ordinary differential equations to express the interaction between *Bdellovibrio* predators, *Pseudomonas* prey and glucose. Using experimentally obtained growth parameters, the model

was able to predict the dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* predation in batch. The prey bacteria growth on a substrate adheres to Monod kinetics and the *Bdellovibrio* predator growth on prey adheres to the Holling type III functional response, which could explain why *Bdellovibrio* is predominantly found in high prey density environments such as biofilms. Using the parameters in a chemostat model we were able to predict the parameters needed to cause different system behaviours including predator prey oscillations. Oscillations were induced in the continuous system, but it was unable to accurately duplicate the predicted concentrations. Biofilm growth which was found to be significant within the continuous system is likely to have a profound effect on the system. Capturing the dynamics in a verifiable, validated model would require a substantive experimental programme. Nonetheless, the ability to induce predator prey oscillations is vital in the application of *Bdellovibrio* as a self-sustainable biocontrol.

5 Development of a multi-parametric well plate assay to measure biofilm growth in response to *Bdellovibrio* predation

Current membrane technologies represent a more environmentally and economically sustainable method for cleaning drinking water (Guo et al., 2012). However, they are yet to be used on a larger scale because it is susceptible to unwanted biofilm growth and deposition that reduces the operational performance (Chen et al., 2010). Biofilms are a problem in many water distribution systems and can result in undesired odour or taste, deterioration and clogging of pipes and system materials (Guo et al., 2012).

Bdellovibrio and like organisms are small and motile gram negative bacteria that invade the periplasmic space of other gram negative bacteria to consume the host's macromolecules for growth (Jurkevitch, 2006b). Many studies have investigated their ability to kill bacteria and demonstrated both its ability to clear biofilms and to kill pathogenic bacteria that make it a potential biological control against biofilm growth in membrane-based water treatments (Kim et al., 2013). Most of these investigations have focused on fundamental aspects of understanding *Bdellovibrio* predator/prey dynamics and further insight into this will be enable more effective explorations to the use of *Bdellovibrio* in water treatment (Feichtmayer et al., 2017).

The previous chapter demonstrated the importance of mathematical models in capturing the dynamics that determine prey cell growth and interaction with *Bdellovibrio* predators. That chapter focused on testing models for planktonic communities as a precursor for the more complicated case of biofilm communities, where the distribution in space of predators, prey and resources becomes important.
A wide range of models have been developed in the past to describe biofilm growth (Wang and Zhang, 2010). Many of these models evaluate biofilm growth based on the rate of utilization of the growth-limiting nutrient. However, there are many examples of the biofilm activity being modelled based on the rate of other substances such as antibiotics and organic compounds of interest. One commonly used biofilm model is the one-dimensional Wanner-Gujer model (Wanner and Gujer, 1986). It uses mass conversion principles, and the biofilm growth is determined by substrate consumption, diffusion of molecular substrates and biomass detachment. The various approaches to modelling biofilms are reviewed by McBain (McBain, 2009). To understand and quantify biofilm growth under *Bdellovibrio* predation, it is first necessary to understand the key factors affecting biofilm growth. Therefore, this chapter begins by reviewing critical properties and processes in biofilms development such as, biofilm density and thickness, biofilm attachment and extracellular polymeric substances (EPS).

Like the Monod model, key aspects of biofilm models include the yield coefficient and maximum growth rate. Models such as Monod that describe the growth of planktonic bacteria on a single substrate in bulk liquid often do not take into account the diffusion of the substrate as it is assumed that the environment is well mixed and bacteria have equal access to nutrients (Wang et al., 2015).

Diffusion is more important when modelling the growth of biofilms as biofilm growth is separate from growth in the bulk liquid. Nutrients and other substrates must travel from the bulk liquid to the surface of the biofilm as described by film theory and then diffuse through the biofilm in a linear fashion as described by Fick's second law (Wang et al., 2015). Likewise, diffusion is important in removal of waste products from the biofilm. This diffusion coefficient is largely affected by the viscosity of the liquid, biofilm density and thickness, and the extracellular polysaccharide (EPS).

Simple and ideal biofilm models view the biofilm as a continuum which disregards the discrete nature at the scale of individual cells and considers the biofilm to be uniformly distributed in the matrix and in the case of 1D models, uniform in its

thickness. These can help simplify the process of biofilm growth such as diffusion into a number of quantifiable parameters. However, in reality, the heterogenous nature of biofilms, means that nutrients and oxygen can reach deeper parts of the biofilm faster where pores in the biofilm are present. Cells on the outer parts of these pores are likely to show accelerated growth in comparison to other cells deeper in the biofilm (Dufour et al., 2010). This is more difficult to model, however.

Diffusion within biofilms could have relevance in regard to predation. *Bdellovibrio* show very little signs of displaying chemotaxis and their method of prey hunting is driven by random collision which is influenced by the flow in an environment (Strauch et al., 2007). The flow of nutrients and removal of waste in a biofilm creates pores that allow deeper access to the biofilm for *Bdellovibrio*. This could give rise to a feedback loop whereby the flow of nutrients and *Bdellovibrio* affects the structure of the biofilm which then in turn affects the flow of *Bdellovibrio*.

Resistance to antimicrobial agents has been the most extensively investigated feature of biofilms (Stewart and William Costerton, 2001) and has been attributed to factors such as the exopolysaccharide matrix providing an effective barrier that restricts penetration by limiting the diffusion rate of the antimicrobial agents (Drenkard, 2003). In some antibiotic treatments, a reduced diffusion rate may only delay the clearing of the biofilm. However, this is not observed in biofilms such as those formed by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, a key human pathogen in water treatment biofouling. The bacteria is well known for its ability to form biofilms with large quantities of EPS, a trait that limits the diffusion rate sufficiently to reduce the concentration of incoming antibiotics (Ibrahim et al., 2001). Furthermore, at lower antibiotic concentrations enzymes such as B-lactamases can successfully degrade the antibiotics, ensuring survival (Giwercman et al., 1991).

Unlike with antibiotics, there is little evidence that gram negative bacterial species develop resistance to *Bdellovibrio*, but even without such resistance or means to kill the predatory bacteria, EPS could cause a delay in the delivery of *Bdellovibrio* and other predators through the biofilm by limiting the penetrability,

which could allow time for regrowth of bacteria and could have confounding impacts on the operational performance of the water treatment system (Chen et al., 2010).

EPS is also shown to be key in the initial attachment of planktonic cells to surfaces as well as influencing many functions associated with biofilm growth (Drews et al., 2006). The effect of predation on early biofilm formation has yet to be thoroughly investigated and the presence of *Bdellovibrio* could promote EPS and biofilm formation as it would provide a stable source of prey as well as refuge from stresses.

In general, EPS can be quantified using fluorescent lectins; proteins that binds to specific polysaccharides. One of the most common is the commercially available wheat germ agglutin-Alexa Fluor 488 fluorescent conjugate (WGA) which binds to poly-N acetylglucosamine (PNAG) residues(Skogman et al., 2012). PNAG residues are produced by many bacteria including *E. coli* and *Pseudomonas* and have been reported to be a crucial component of bacterial attachment and biofilm persistence as well as increasing protection against certain antibiotics (Colvin et al., 2011).

Idealised biofilm models also do not take into account the growth of the planktonic cells in the bulk liquid (Wang and Zhang, 2010). This is an important factor when modelling biofilm growth in engineered systems as the planktonic and biofilm bacteria are not likely to react in the same way but do interact and influence the growth of one another. For instance the planktonic bacteria suspended in the bulk are likely to have a higher and more constant rate of substrate removal when compared to the bacteria present in the inner layers of the biofilm (Revilla et al., 2016).

Additionally, the growth of the biofilm, which is a large determinant of spread, is increased by the attachment of planktonic bacteria to pristine surfaces to start a new biofilm as well as in its attachment to already existing biofilm. The rate at which this occurs is vital for the overall modelling of biofilm growth in an active

bioreactor as well as the potential early biofilm formation inside a clean bioreactor. Adhesion has been shown to be influenced by nutrient availability, surface conditions and shear stress (Lu et al., 2004).

Attachment and growth of a biofilm is counteracted by biofilm detachment, as shown in biofouling, and can occur due to liquid shear stress or sloughing. This can be very difficult to observe and quantify so there is a lack of knowledge on the process, and it is also often omitted from biofilm models. Detachment in biofilms can also be caused by predator grazing but the effect of predation by *Bdellovibrio* on biofilm attachment has not been adequately investigated (Derlon et al., 2012).

Crystal violet is a common stain for assessing antimicrobial activity on biofilm growth. However, this method only stains adherent cells, planktonic cells are often ignored in measurements despite the fact they can recolonise the surface. In regards to predation, bacteria show a level of temporary phenotypic resistance, this development may result in a temporary disadvantage to bacteria such as reducing its ability to adhere to surfaces or to other cells in biofilm (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003). Flow cytometry has previously been shown to be a reliable and rapid tool to measure predatory and their bacteria in culture (Ogundero et al., 2022) and so could be an alternative screening tool to measure biofilm and planktonic bacteria cultured with *Bdellovibrio*. This method is more informative than crystal violet staining and could additionally provide an estimation of cell size based on the forward scatter reading, and the ability to measure intact cells, whereas crystal violet can only provide one value for the whole well and does not distinguish between the live, dead cells and matrix within the biofilm.

Given the lack of understanding as to how biofilm heterogeneity can affect *Bdellovibrio* predation, the emphasis of this chapter is placed on the investigation and discussion of novel and high-throughput experimentation that can be used to study the effect of *Bdellovibrio* predation on key biofilm parameters typically used in modelling. Though, it is not intended as a description or validation of a biofilm model it can be used to aid the development of such in the future.

To do so we develop a static microplate assay to evaluate the capability and dynamics of *B. bacteriovorus* predation of *Pseudomonas* biofilms when the biofilm is previously grown in a nutrient rich (LB), nitrogen rich (HEPES buffer supplemented with casein hydrolysate), carbon rich (HEPES buffer supplemented with glucose) or a nutrient poor (HEPES buffer) media. Staining of the biofilm (by crystal violet and resazurin) and the biofilm matrix (by WGA), and direct enumeration of the biofilm and planktonic cells by flow cytometry were used to assess the effect of nutrient availability on biofilm formation and predation.

We aim to demonstrate the assays' ability to be more informative than the typical crystal violet assays alone in regard to assessing the anti-biofilm capability of *B*. *bacteriovorus*. Such an assay could also be used as a high throughput method to investigate predatory capability in different environments and with different prey species, in similar fashion to assays typically used in pharmaceutical settings (Skogman et al., 2016).

We hypothesise that the methods of flow cytometry and the resazurin assay will show a high correlation with crystal violet for quantifying biofilm growth. We also hypothesise that the *Bdellovibrio* predation will have different effects on the growth of the total and intact bacteria of the biofilm, the EPS production and the quantity of planktonic cells in the bulk liquid depending on the nutrients available to the biofilm during initial growth.

5.1 Methods

The wild-type *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* strain HD100 (DSM no. 50701) was used throughout this study and was grown by predation on *Pseudomonas sp.* (DSM no. 50906) using standard culturing methods (Herencias et al., 2017). *Pseudomonas* cells were grown in LB broth at 30°C for 16 hours and resuspended in supplemented Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer (25 mM HEPES, 2 mM calcium chloride, 3mM magnesium chloride, pH 7.6) to an optical density (600nm) value of 10. *B. bacteriovorus* was then grown on this suspension in DN broth for 24 hours then sub-cultured twice at 24-hour intervals in in Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer. To remove the prey and harvest the

predator alone for growth experiments each culture was filtered through a 0.45µm pore size syringe filter (Fisherbrand™, product code: 15216869).

5.1.1 Biofilm microplate study

Pseudomonas was grown as described above and then diluted to 10⁶ cell/ml. This suspension was added to a microplate well diluted in 180ul of different media; LB, Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer supplemented with casein hydrolysate (0.05%), Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer supplemented with glucose (20mg/L) and Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer alone. The suspensions were grown at 30°C for 24 hours. In replicate plates, the media and planktonic cells were then removed, and the biofilms were grown for a further 24 hours in Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer alone or with 10⁵ cells/ml of *Bdellovibrio* suspended in Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer. The biofilm was analysed at 24 hours and 48 hours using crystal violet, resazurin, WGA and flow cytometry intact and total cell count.

5.1.1.1 Crystal violet and resazurin assay

Crystal violet and resazurin and staining was used as an indirect method for the total and viable number of cells within the biofilm. To begin, the planktonic cells were removed from the biofilm by pipetting 300µl of the media out. The biofilms were then washed once with phosphate buffer solution (PBS) and stained with 50µl of 20mM resazurin for 20 mins at room temperature and in the dark and at 200rpm. Fluorescence was then measured at 560nm.

To reduce waste and make the process more efficient, the same biofilm was directly measured with crystal violet as a counterstain. Such methods have been used previously (Skogman et al., 2012). The resazurin stain was removed and crystal violet was added to stain for 5 minutes at room temperature and in the dark. The stained biofilm was then washed once with PBS and then solubilized with 300µl of 33% acetic acid. Absorbance was then measured at 595nm.

5.1.1.2 WGA assay

Using a replicate plate, the biofilms were grown under the same conditions. Planktonic cells were removed, and the biofilm was washed once with PBS. Then 200 µl of 10mg/ml WGA (WGA-Alexa Fluor 488 fluorescent conjugate, Molecular Probes Inc., Eugene, OR, USA) in PBS was added to the biofilm and stained for 2 hours at 4C in the darkness. The stained wells were then washed once with PBS, air-dried for 15 minutes and then solubilized with 300µl of 33% acetic acid. Plates were then covered with a seal, sonicated for 30 seconds and then incubated at 37°C. The plate was then sonicated again for 30 seconds and measured for fluorescence at 495/520nm.

5.1.1.3 Flow cytometry

A third replicate plate was also used to measure planktonic and biofilm growth using flow cytometry. The planktonic bacteria in the media were removed from each well and then prepared for flow cytometry total and intact count as described below. To remove the biofilm attached to the well surface, the well was washed once with PBS and then sonicated for 1 min. The PBS/Biofilm mixture was then removed and prepared for flow cytometry total and intact count as described below.

To determine the optimal regime for biofilm removal, samples of biofilm were grown in a well plate and then sonicated for different length of time (1-10 minutes). The concentration was calculated by agar plate count. The biofilm removal procedure that delivered the highest cell count (CFU/ml) was chosen in this study (data not shown).

Samples for flow cytometry were prepared by fixation with glutaraldehyde (1% in DI water) and where necessary diluted to achieve an events per second reading of less than 600 on the flow cytometer. Dilutions were made in filtered (0.22 µm Sartorius™ Minisart™ Plus Syringe Filters, Fisher scientific, product code: 10730792) DI water. Samples were stained for both the total and the intact cell count.

For total cell count: the samples were each stained with 10 μ L/ml of SYBR Green I (SGI) and incubated in the dark for 13 minutes before measurement. Stock solutions of SGI (10,000 x in DMSO, Thermofisher, product code: S7653) were diluted 1:100 in EDTA (1 mM).

For intact cell count: the samples were stained with 10 μ L/ml of SYBR Green I/Propidium iodide (SGI/PI) and incubated in the dark for 13 minutes before measurement. Stock solutions of SGI (10,000 x in DMSO) was mixed with PI (1.6mM) and diluted 1:100 in EDTA (1 mM) for a final concentration of 0.6mM PI and 100x for SGI.

Gating was used to distinguish selected signals (*B. bacteriovorus* and *Pseudomonas*) from each other and from the background (inorganic and organic particles) with the aid of negative controls consisting of the DI water used for dilutions, HEPES buffer used for growth, and a sample of the predator/prey co-culture further filtered (0.22 μ m) to remove any bacterial cells.

5.1.2 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was performed using R software. Pearson's correlation coefficient (ρ) was calculated to find the relationship between cell quantification by crystal violet assay and the other methods of resazurin, wheat germ agglutin (WGA) assay, and total and intact cell count by flow cytometry. Linear regression models were used to find the significant differences in measurement between crystal violet and the other methods tested.

The Kruskal-Wallace test was used to find the significant difference between biofilms grown for 24 hours in different media.

The Wilcoxon rank test was also used to find the significant difference between the growth of biofilms pre grown in different media and exposed to *Bdellovibrio* or HEPES media as a control. The Wilcoxon rank test was also used to find the significant difference between the percentage of cells growing in the well as biofilm (as measured by flow cytometry) when exposed to *Bdellovibrio* or HEPES media as a control.

Measurements were based on one biological repat with four repeats for crystal violet, resazurin and WGA and three repeats for the total and intact cell counts by flow cytometry.

5.2 Results and discussion

5.2.1 Static well plate assay

The growth of biofilms has previously been shown to be affected by the environmental conditions such as the nutrients available (Straub et al., 2020). There is little information on how the growth of biofilm in different conditions influences *Bdellovibrio* predation. We investigated this through the use of 96 well plate staining methods, which are useful end point measurements.

Crystal violet is commonly used as an indirect method for measuring biofilms in well plates. A greater understanding of the heterogeneity of biofilms, requires alternative methods such as flow cytometry and fluorescent lectin assays that are more specific and can offer more accurate quantification and characterisation. Doing so could also give insight into the methods by which *Bdellovibrio* can inhibit biofilm growth and help guide the development of prey-predator models in engineered systems.

We assessed the correlation of crystal violet with total and intact cell counts by flow cytometry and the spectrofluorometric assays of WGA and resazurin (Fig 5.1). The correlation analysis showed a significant positive relationship between crystal violet and resazurin (correlation coefficient (ρ): 0.984, P-value<0.001, R² 0.966), the flow cytometry total cell count (correlation coefficient (ρ): 0.923, Pvalue<0.001, R² 0.837), and the flow cytometry intact cell count (correlation coefficient (ρ): 0.925, P-value<0.001, R² 0.841). This demonstrates the validity of these measurements for assessing the cell density within biofilms as an alternative to crystal violet. The is an important clarification as flow cytometry has the benefit of being a direct cell count that is necessary when modelling the growth of biofilms. Additionally, flow cytometry can be used to measure other aspects of biofilm such as the average forward scatter, which is a proxy to cell size, the ability to measure planktonic cells in the well and the ability to sort cells within the biofilm for further observation.

The resazurin assay showed a slightly higher correlation to crystal violet than the flow cytometry counts but this is as expected as the resazurin and crystal violet assays were performed on the same biofilms. Resazurin is non-toxic to bacterial cells so there is the potential to use this assay as an alternative to crystal violet which is destructive, allowing for further analysis and increasing the throughput of anti-biofilm assays (Skogman et al., 2016).

In contrast, there was no correlation between the crystal violet assay and the WGA assay (correlation coefficient (ρ): -0.189, P-value:0.5, R²= -0.039). This is expected as the EPS is a small part of the biofilm in comparison to the bacterial cells. Especially when the biofilm was grown in HEPES with casein hydrolysate, there was a higher number of EPS compared to the cell count than when the biofilm is grown in LB. This highlights that the WGA assay cannot be used specifically to solely assess the quantity of a biofilm but instead acts as a useful tool to characterise and model the biofilm in addition to other assays that measure the cell quantity.



Figure 5.1- Correlation between the endpoint signal generated by crystal violet assay and other biofilm quantification methods. A) Intact cell count by flow cytometry (Pearson's correlation coefficient: 0.925. P-value<0.0001. R²= 0.844), B) total cell count by flow cytometry (Pearson's correlation coefficient: 0.922. P-value<0.0001. R²= 0.837), C) resazurin (Pearson's correlation coefficient: 0.984. P-value<0.0001. R²= 0.966.) and D) WGA (Pearson's correlation coefficient: -0.189. P-value=0.5. R²= -0.039). RFU stands for relative fluorescence units and RAU stands for relative absorbance units. Each point represents an observation from a biofilm grown in one well.

The study showed that the growth of *Pseudomonas* biofilm after 24 hours differed depending on the media it was grown in (Fig 5.2). Biofilms grown in nutrient rich LB showed a significantly higher value than biofilms grown in HEPES and HEPES with glucose (p-value<0.05) when measured by crystal violet and a significantly higher value than biofilms grown in HEPES when measured by resazurin and cell count by flow cytometry(p-value<0.05). This is expected as LB medium is developed for optimum growth of many bacterial species including *Pseudomonas*.

The lowest value across these methods was measured for the biofilm grown in HEPES buffer which contains no nutrients for growth. Interestingly, similarly low values were shown in the biofilm grown in the HEPES buffer with glucose, but this was deemed not be statistically significant despite the difference in concentration being two orders of magnitude. There was higher biofilm growth when grown in HEPES buffer with casein hydrolysate, suggesting that *Pseudomonas* biofilm growth is more dependent on a nitrogen source than carbohydrate source, though the difference between biofilms grown in the two media was also not deemed to be statistically significant when measured by crystal violet, resazurin, and flow cytometry.

The WGA assay showed that the most EPS was produced in biofilms grown in HEPES buffer with casein hydrolysate, even more so than in LB grown biofilms and significantly higher than biofilms grown in HEPES (p-value<0.05). This differs from previous reports of *Pseudomonas* biofilm grown under high nutrient conditions shown an increase in biofilm thickness, biomass and EPS content. The WGA assay method used in this study could underrepresent the total quantity of EPS in biofilms as it quantifies and binds specifically to PNAS, an adhesive protein that has been shown to be vital in the early attachment of *Pseudomonas* biofilms. Though this is thought to make up a large portion of biofilms, there have been many studies that have demonstrated the composition of EPS can change depending on the growth conditions (Molobela and Ilunga, 2012). *Pseudomonas* biofilms grown at higher nutrient concentration can display increased oxygen limitation and waste accumulation as the bacteria reach high concentrations, resulting in an increased amount of detachment from the biofilm (Rochex and

Lebeault, 2007). Thus, it could be that as the biofilm sheds in a nutrient rich LB, there is less need to synthesis PNAS to attach to surfaces.

When growing in HEPES with casein hydrolysate, the conditions are less optimum for outright growth and so attachment to the surface in early biofilm colonisation is more important. EPS also can serve as sources of nutrients for biofilm growth allowing bacteria to display growth even in hostile environments (Ansari et al., 2012). The increased amount of EPS in the biofilm grown in HEPES with casein hydrolysate could explain why there was more growth here than when grown in HEPES with glucose and HEPES (p-value<0.05) as determined by the other biofilm quantification methods. It also demonstrates the importance of quantifying and characterising the composition of EPS to better understand the relationship between biofilm structure and function and in turn for the development of biocontrol strategies to disrupt biofilm and prevent biofouling (Ansari et al., 2012).





Having established the ability of the resazurin, WGA and flow cytometry methods to give a more complete characterisation of biofilms than just crystal violet, we apply this to characterise biofilms with or without *Bdellovibrio* predation. This study demonstrates the ability of *Bdellovibrio* to inhibit further biofilm growth, as assessed by crystal violet, WGA, flow cytometry and resazurin assays (Fig 5.3). The biofilms that were grown in HEPES and HEPES with glucose show no significant decrease in crystal violet, resazurin and the flow cytometry counts that are closely related to biomass quantity. The low level of anti-biofilm activity in this instance is likely because of the lack of nutrients that these media provide; *Pseudomonas* is unable to reach a large enough concentration to initiate significant growth in the predator to then cause the subsequent decline in *Pseudomonas*. As stated in the previous chapter, Bdellovibrio predation relies on random collision that is less successful at lower concentrations of prey, as such the predator has a high saturation constant $(2.74 \times 10^{15} \text{ cells}^2/\text{ml}^2)$ necessary to induce a significant increase in growth rate. Additionally, many gram-negative bacteria display a temporary resistance to Bdellovibrio which allows them to persist at low concentrations (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003).

In contrast, there is a significant reduction in the crystal violet and both flow cytometry counts for biofilms grown in HEPES with casein hydrolysate and a significant reduction in crystal violet, resazurin and intact cell count for biofilms grown in LB. With these two media, more nutrients are supplied to *Pseudomonas*, so they are able to grow to higher concentrations (>10⁶ cells/well) increasing the chance of significant *Bdellovibrio* predation. This concurs with similar observations in the past, that biofilms were susceptible to attack by *Bdellovibrio* and could cause significant reduction in biofilm over 24 hours (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005).

Biofilms grown in HEPES with casein hydrolysate did not show a significant decrease in resazurin which is a viability stain that binds to oxidative molecules found in metabolically active cells. This is initially surprising as there was a significant decrease in the flow cytometry intact cell count, though it is likely that the resazurin assay is less reliable at low biofilm concentrations (Sandberg et al., 2009).



Figure 5.3- The effect of *Bdellovibrio* predation on *Pseudomonas* biofilms pregrown in different media and then exposed to *Bdellovibrio* (orange) or the HEPES buffer (no predation) control (blue). **A)** biomass is measured by crystal violet, **B)** viability is measured by resazurin, **C)** EPS is measured by WGA and **D)** the intact cells/well and **E)** total cells/well is measured by flow cytometry. Standard deviation bars are shown. * is used to indicate statistical difference (p<0.05) to biofilms grown without predation. After predation, biofilms pre-grown in HEPES with casein hydrolysate show a significant decrease in EPS as indicated by the WGA assay, which could suggest that the action of *Bdellovibrio* predation reduces the attachment ability of biofilms through some action. This was supported by the evidence that when *Pseudomonas* was grown in HEPES with casein hydrolysate, the percentage of total cells that existed as biofilm (as opposed to planktonic cells in the bulk liquid) significantly decreased after predation (Fig 5.4). The WGA assay showed a decrease in EPS after predation with the biofilms pre grown in HEPES but there was no significant decrease in the other biofilm assays, signifying that the decrease in WGA is not the result of a decrease of bacteria alone.

Interestingly, biofilms grown in LB did not show a significant decrease in the flow cytometry total count but did show a significant decrease in the intact cell count and resazurin, suggesting that *Pseudomonas* pre-grown in LB had a large portion of damaged and potentially metabolically inactive cells still present within the biofilm even after predation. This was not reflected in the crystal violet assay as this method non-specifically stains both bacteria and the surrounding biofilm matrix and there was shown to be no significant decrease in the EPS measured by the WGA assay. The ability for these biofilms to maintain EPS level could also aid in the attachment and persistence of damaged and non-intact cells within the biofilm as it was also shown that the percentage of total cells within the well that existed as biofilm did not significantly change after predation (Fig 5.4). These cells are likely to be present deeper within the biofilm, shielded from predators. Likewise, biofilms grown in HEPES with glucose showed no significant decrease in WGA after predation and a significant increase in the percentage of cells that existed as biofilm (p-value<0.05).



Figure 5.4- The effect of *Bdellovibrio* predation on the percentage of *Pseudomonas* in the well that exist as biofilm. Biofilms were grown in different media and then exposed to *Bdellovibrio* (orange) or the HEPES buffer (no predation) control (blue). Biofilm and planktonic bacteria are then measured by the total count flow cytometry method. Standard deviation bars are shown. * is used to indicate statistical difference (p<0.05) to planktonic cells grown without predation.

Flow cytometry in this instance has the advantage over crystal violet and other traditional biofilm assays as it is generally more specific, accurate and can also measure the concentration of *Bdellovibrio* cells, which could interfere with the crystal violet reading. This also demonstrates that *Bdellovibrio* are able to predate and grow within biofilms though we observed that *Bdellovibrio* predominantly are found within the bulk liquid with the *Pseudomonas* planktonic bacteria regardless of nutrient availability, with less than 20% of the total *Bdellovibrio* cells in the well found in the biofilm (data not shown).

5.3 Conclusion

We demonstrate that flow cytometry and fluorescent assays can be used to investigate the dynamics of static biofilms. The static biofilm assay allowed for the rapid screening of the effect of different media on the persistence of biofilms exposed to *Bdellovibrio* predation. Through this we observed, as has been previously, that a small population of biofilm is able to persist after predation. Our results also suggest that fully understanding the anti-biofilm effect of *Bdellovibrio* under different environments requires an understanding of its effect on the EPS matrix, as its persistence may contribute to the biofilm survival. Similarly, the reduction in EPS synthesis, the detachment of biofilm and the increase in planktonic bacteria could be a direct response to predation. The addition of the WGA assay to measure EPS and flow cytometry to measure the total and intact cells of both the biofilm and planktonic bacteria in the bulk liquid are overlooked in conventional biofilm assays like crystal violet but are critical in rapidly assessing the predation dynamics of biofilms. For example, a similar experiment could be carried out by instead measuring the growth of biofilms formed on different concentrations of a growth limiting substrate in order to calibrate a mathematical model of the biofilm and derive growth characteristics.

Further assessment of *Bdellovibrio* predation of biofilms should include tests on the dose-dependence of biofilm inhibition by adding different initial concentrations of *Bdellovibrio*. This would also allow for measurement of the yield. Furthermore, the biofilm was grown under static conditions which limits the growth of the biofilm in comparison to applying shaking or under flow conditions such as a chemostat, microfluidic device or a membrane-based filter (Buchholz et al., 2012). Applying flow would not only aid biofilm growth but also *Bdellovibrio* growth which shows optimum predation at 200rpm.

Microfluidics devices in combination with fluorescence microscopy would allow us to assess the biofilm adhesion, formation, cell size and EPS formation in the presence of *Bdellovibrio* predation in a continuous system whereby fresh medium is supplied. These variables can be addressed using 96 well plates in static assays but microfluidics and microscopy with the addition of selective fluorescent staining could allow biofilm formation and predation in real time and for longer, while still maintaining the high-throughput nature (Merritt et al., 2005). This is important in measuring dynamics and growth parameters throughout a typical biofilm life cycle and key to constructing mathematical models such as attachment and detachment rate, lag phase, growth rate, yield and saturation constant.

6 Development and optimisation of a protocol to combine HSQ planarization and soft lithography for fabricating a PDMS microfluidic device

In the past, the study of *Bdellovibrio* dynamics relied on conventional methods such as flasks or plate cultures. Glass microscope coverslips are used in batch studies to provide the surface for bacteria to grow and can be analysed by microscopy or gravimetric investigations (Bakke and Olsson, 1986).

Biofilm investigations are difficult to reproduce and hence comparing data concerning biofilm growth under predation is also difficult. Reproducibility can be increased through the use of 96 well plates which can be used for high-throughput spectrometric analysis. 96 well plate and channel based devices can also be used to study early biofilm development in real time non-destructive analysis when combined with microscopy (Dashiff and Kadouri, 2011). The static nature of these assays makes it difficult to study mid and late-stage biofilm development which is accompanied by the maturation and detachment of biofilms.

Currently, there has been a growing interest in alternative methods such as microfluidics. Microfluidic devices contain small channels typically in the micrometre scale that allow the control and manipulation of fluids (Sia and Whitesides, 2003). In turn, this makes it possible to study predator/prey interactions in real time and at a single cell level as well as in multi-species communities with high reproducibility (Yuan et al., 2017).

This can provide more accurate measurement on the predator/prey interactions under varying conditions more applicable to understanding biofilm mitigation in water treatment systems, where biofilm growth and biofouling is not determined by one factor or one microorganism species alone but instead is a manifestation of the many different spatial and temporal factors (such as nutrient availability, temperature, metabolic products) acting upon certain sub-populations within the engineered system (Bachmann and Edyvean, 2005).

Like EPS, biofilm thickness has been cited as an important parameter in the transport rate of certain antimicrobial agents (Bakke and Olsson, 1986) and when biofilm thickness is increased, the diffusion distance also increases (Stewart, 2003). This has been demonstrated in investigations into resistance of thin (average cell density ~3.5 log colony-forming units (cfu) cm⁻²) and thick (average cell density ~7.6 log cfu cm⁻²) *P. aeruginosa* biofilms to hydrogen peroxide (Mah and O'Toole, 2001). It was shown that in thin biofilms, survival was increased when compared to planktonic cells but overall, hydrogen peroxide was still able to penetrate the biofilm. In contrast, thicker biofilms were able to restrict penetration of hydrogen peroxide. They concluded that the restricting EPS works in synergy with the catalase-mediated destruction of this hydrogen peroxide to protect the *P. aeruginosa* population (Mah and O'Toole, 2001).

It is important to characterise the extent to which *Bdellovibrio* can penetrate prey biofilms because thicker biofilms may be able to delay penetration by *Bdellovibrio* as the biofilms do with many antibiotics (Mah and O'Toole, 2001). This may result in the regrowth of prey bacteria at a rate greater than the rate of predation, which would reduce the effectiveness of bacteria as a biocontrol agent (Wilkinson, 2006). Furthermore, the large quantity of energy expended by the attack phase *Bdellovibrio* when penetrating the EPS may reduce their motility and in the absence of prey, the survival of the attack phase *Bdellovibrio* will also be reduced (Lambert et al., 2006). However, this has yet to be shown and there are very few studies into the effect of biofilm thickness on predation by protists (Huws et al., 2005) and bacteriophages (Ibrahim et al., 2001) and currently no extensive studies have been done with predatory bacteria.

To date the single study that has briefly considered the effect that thicker biofilms may have on predation is that by Kadouri and O'Toole (2005) who observed that

Bdellovibrio were able to predate upon *E. coli* and *P. fluorescens* in 'thin' biofilms, inducing a 4-log reduction after 24 hours. Using flow cells to control biofilm thickness, the study then utilised 'thicker' biofilms of 30 micrometres in depth (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005) which when exposed to a *Bdellovibrio* population exhibited a 5-log reduction after 48 hours (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005).

This study was very important in being one of the first to demonstrate that *Bdellovibrio* were able to successfully predate upon biofilms however there remains the need for more thorough investigations into the role that the thickness of biofilms has on predation. For example, the 'thick' biofilm used is relatively thin compared to biofilms observed to grow in biofilters (Huws et al., 2005). Furthermore, the study did not state the thickness of the initial 'thinner' biofilms.

These thin biofilms were also developed on agar plates and not using the flow cell like the thicker biofilm; therefore, it does not make for a reliable comparison as to what effect biofilm thickness has on persistence and predation. The thick-thin biofilm experiment was instead used by the authors to demonstrate that thicker biofilms could be penetrated by *Bdellovibrio* (Kadouri and O'Toole, 2005), which would make them a useful biocontrol against biofilms in water treatment (Chen et al., 2010). Additionally, biofouling in water treatment systems is increased with biofilm thickness (Bakke and Olsson, 1986) so it is important that *Bdellovibrio* are able to penetrate and clear thick biofilms.

Protists such as *Colopdi maupasi* have been investigated for its potential as a biocontrol (Huws et al., 2005). It is thought that the relatively limited penetration of biofilms observed in *C. maupasi* is explained by its characteristic to graze on prey inhabiting exposed surfaces of the biofilm (Huws et al., 2005), rather than becoming integrally with the extracellular matrix as predatory bacteria might (Núñez et al., 2005). Predatory bacteria biocontrol may also be advantaged over the use of bacteriophages because they consume even dead cells (Hespell, 1978), which have been modelled to accumulate in the interior of thicker biofilms with slow nutrient transfer (Roberts and Stewart, 2004).

Microfluidics could be a vital tool to further analyse the dynamics found from these experiments in addition to the influence of biofilm thickness and flow rate. Through extensive research we aim to navigate the plethora of different manufacturing techniques to try to optimise the design and manufacture by soft lithography of a bespoke microfluidic device. It is hoped that with such a device we can observe predator prey dynamics in different conditions at a single cell level and create a predator-prey model for *Bdellovibrio* that will later inform future investigations into the application of *Bdellovibrio* in drinking water membrane technologies and a range of industrial fields (Oyedara et al., 2016).

6.1 Microfluidics

Microfluidic devices are made using micro- or nano-fabrication, which describes a collection of technologies and processes used to make structures with microscale and smaller features (Altissimo, 2010). Within this field, are soft lithography techniques that aim to fabricate structures in elastomeric molds using pattern transfer (P. Kim et al., 2008).

Its popularity is also partly caused by its multidisciplinary nature, which facilitates the fabrication of devices and provides deeper investigations into scientific phenomena. However, there can be difficulties when trying to understand how and when to apply the different nanofabrication techniques for those not from that background. This is exacerbated by, amongst other things: the growth in micro technologies, the inconsistent and complex use of terminology and the many different techniques and process that have been developed, which can initially cause confusion for inexperienced users when deciding which processes will be required for their needs. Thus, prior to developing our own device we review the different methods involved in the fabrication of microfluidic devices, addressing the advantages and pitfalls of the different methods.

Though many devices can be made relatively simply without high technology facilities, the lack of standard and informative methods sections from previous studies make it more difficult to replicate previous devices and studies. This is a

big problem as scientific advances rely on the understanding and repeatability of recent discoveries. Through extensive research we aim to navigate the plethora of different manufacturing techniques to try to optimise the design and manufacture by soft lithography of a bespoke microfluidic device.

6.1.1 Soft lithography

Polymethyldisiloxane (PDMS) is a polymer commonly used as a device material for biological studies because it is optically transparent, biocompatible and gas permeable making it ideal for studying predator and prey bacteria growth using optical and fluorescence microscopy (Tung *et al*., 2004). From a fabrication stand point, it has become widely used because it is inexpensive, flexible and can be easily cast over a mold to replicate the inverse pattern (P. Kim et al., 2008).

Patterning PDMS is the final stage of soft lithography, with the first and most critical stage being the fabrication of the mould (master) on which PDMS is imprinted (Jenkins, 2013). PDMS can be imprinted by a master with features as small as 10nm, so it is the master that determines the resolution of the final device. Any process that produces rigid relief structures will suffice for PDMS patterning, though the most commonly used is photolithography (Wolfe et al., 2010).

6.1.2 Photolithography

In contact-photolithography, an optical image projection system and UV light source are used to pass UV rays are through a photomask to transfer the 2-D pattern onto a photosensitive elastomer or 'photoresist', that is uniformly coated onto a silicon wafer.

The photomask (also known as mask) pattern is first designed by a computer aid design (CAD) system and transferred to a surface using e-beam lithography (see below) and etching (Jenkins, 2013). The mask acts as a 'stencil' as the parts of the mask that are optically transparent expose the photoresist in this pattern and

changing the structure of the exposed photoresist (Gonzalez-Macia et al., 2010). Washing the resist with the appropriate developing solution will leave a raised pattern that depends on the type of resist material used. For positive resists the area exposed to the e-beam is made weaker and a layer is removed by the developed solutions. Whereas for negative resists the exposed area is made resistant to the developer solution and the weaker unexposed areas are removed (Gonzalez-Macia et al., 2010).

Another category of photolithography is known as image-projection photolithography, which also utilizes ultraviolet (UV) light source but unlike contact-photolithography, this method does not have the photomask in close contact with the light source. This projects a de-magnified pattern onto the photoresist rather than a 1:1 image. Because of this the method can achieve higher resolutions of line width (approximately 20nm). This has been used in applications involving semiconductors (Wolfe et al., 2010). A great disadvantage of projection photolithography is that is very costly and not readily available to average users.

Contact photolithography systems are relatively inexpensive, and the UV patterning can be carried out over a large area with a high throughput, which has made it the dominant method of pattern replication.

6.1.3 Resists

Choosing the correct photoresist is an important step in soft-lithography, successful application depends on the properties of the resist, including adhesion to substrate and film thickness.

Photoresists come in two main categories: positive photoresists and negative photoresists. Upon exposure to UV, positive photoresists are made vulnerable to removal by a developer solvent and able to maintain their pattern. In contrast, a negative resist that has been exposed to UV is able to maintain its pattern structure when the developer solvent is used (Jenkins, 2013).

To coat the silicon wafer with photoresist, a small volume is poured onto the wafer and spun off. The speed at which the resist is spun determined the final thickness of the photoresist film, but its uniformity and overall quality is determined by the temperature, humidity, volume of resist dispensed and the spreading time. Additionally, improper cleaning or handling of the wafer can affect the uniformity of the photoresist.

Following the spinning procedure, the resist must be soft baked in order to remove any excess resist and make the coated resist more stable and uniform in preparation for further processes such as coating more resists, etching and UV exposure.

The soft bake also has an effect on the solvent development of the resist. For example, in negative resists, an insufficient time or temperature will leave residual solvent from the spinning procedure which will prevent the full exposure of UV to the photoresist. So, when developer is applied, the exposed resist is unintentionally removed, which lead to too small or partly eroded structures. When the soft bake is applied on too high a temperature or for too long, the developing time can be drastically increased, and the resists can show 'cracks'. Thus a compromise must be achieved (Cui, 2016). Typically, photoresists have a soft bake temperature of 80-100°C .

Ovens are widely used for soft baking of resists, but they are not as reliable because of the temperature differences that can be displayed in various locations. For processes where the temperature is more critical, vacuum hot plates are ideal as they can heat the wafer with greater accuracy and reproducibility. Heating the wafer from the back of the substrate surface results in a more uniform evaporation of the residual solvent preventing the formation of a surface skin which can be often seen when soft baking resists in an oven. The speed at which hotplates heat up the substrate also reduces the chance of contamination (Mack et al., 1994).

Negative resists have the advantage over positive resists in that they are often cheaper, and a shorter processing time. SU-8 is a negative tone photoresist which

is commonly used for pattern transfer in PDMS. SU-8 is made of epoxy groups that are crosslinked to form a strong network when exposed to UV. The unexposed areas are not crosslinked making them weaker and soluble to a developer (Jenkins, 2013). SU8 is flexible and various formulations are easy to spin over a silicon wafer, creating features of a few microns high up to several millimeters. Additionally the thickness of the same SU8 formulation can be changed by altering the spin speed (Yuan et al., 2017).

6.1.4 Multi-layer devices

The majority of PDMS microfluidic devices fabricated by soft lithography are 2-D structures. These structures are channel-based geometries that enable a large number of functions including diffusion, mixing and droplet generation. By controlling the fluid in the device, it is possible to study, for example, the behaviours and interactions of biological cells with other cells, environmental signals and antibiotics (Yuan et al., 2017).

One challenge with SU8 and photolithography is in making multilayer (3D) devices. The thickness of the device is determined by the thickness of the resist and the photomask can only control the width and length of features (Li, 2016). Multilayer devices can be made with multiple cycles of SU8 photolithography by spinning and developing the resist layers of different thickness in order from the smallest to the largest features (Meyer et al., 2015). This is necessary to create active devices or moving parts such as integrated valves and pumps (Meyer et al., 2015).

The primary driver of microfluidic devices that can be applicable to a range of uses is the ability to make masters with high resolution and accuracy in a reliable and high-throughput fashion. Unfortunately, the resolution limit of a photomask (1 μ m) restricts its use for single-cell trapping. For the proposed device of the project, the bacterial prey cells are trapped in channel sizes (0.45 μ m) that are too narrow to be formed using SU8 so an alternative must be found (Wheeler et al., 2003). Between them, single cells in the same environment exhibit physiological and biochemical differences. In relation to biofilm formation, cellular heterogeneity likely has a close relationship with antimicrobial resistance, stress tolerance and potentially even predation (Park et al., 2011).

However, conventional studies of measuring bacterial growth rely on bulk-based studies where bacteria are measured as a whole population, ignoring the interactions and ecology among individual cells. Single cell analysis has the potential to investigate cell heterogeneity further and provides further understanding to the bacterial ecology (Balaban et al., 2004).

The small size of bacteria makes it difficult to analyse with traditional biological tools. Additionally, the intracellular and extracellular components that are involved in single cell-cell interactions are present in very small concentrations. Therefore, highly sensitive detection methods are necessary when trying to perform high throughput analysis (Yuan et al., 2017).

Flow cytometry has previously been demonstrated as a reliable tool for characterising fluorescently labelled bacteria and can be used for single cell analysis. However, they are not capable of monitoring cells continuously in real time and require large sample volumes and even larger volumes of reagents. This is in contrast to microfluidics which is able to control microlitres of fluid and can be combined with other technologies such as microscopy and fluorescent labelling to observe cell dynamics in real time (Yuan et al., 2017).

To analyze single cells, they must first be successfully isolated and trapped in a desired location. Different strategies based on microfluidic technology have been developed for manipulating single cells in different ways for varying analysis. These include hydrodynamic, electrical, optical, acoustic and magnetic methods (Chen et al., 2015).

The Hydronamic method uses the interactions between fluid and the structure of the microfluidic device to manipulate single cells. This is the most commonly used

method for single cell trapping because it is simple to design and can be integrated with other analysis method. Cells can be fixed to desired positions by designing structures of similar size to the cell and various shapes can be used like holes, channels and dams. Common hydrodynamic methods include micro trapping and droplet generation and generally cause less damage than other cell trapping methods, which is vital for monitoring the further growth of the cell (Chen et al., 2015).

One study reported the design and optimization of a two-layered microfluidic platform with microstructures to allow for single cell capture and subsequent culture of stem cells (Chen et al., 2015). The first layer enabled the seeding of thousands of cells across an array of channels. Underneath this layer was an array of micro-wells that contained a U-shaped trap. This U-shaped hydrodynamic trap allows for the spread and growth of the trapped single cells for further and longterm analysis. An advantage of this method is than the microwells geometry, size could be adjusted to increase the capture efficiency with a range of cellular organisms (Chen et al., 2015).

Such devices that can monitor the growth of single individual cells are important in measuring the interaction of predation, cell phenotype and growth in the absence of space. And is in contrast to methods used in previous chapters and other literature, which monitor growth in batch experiments where the whole population of bacteria cells are well mixed and measured together.

One method for fabricating a multilayer device with channels on the nanometer scale includes the use of several etch processes (Ou et al., 2011). This process works by first spinning on a positive resist layer onto a silicon wafer and then patterning it to reveal the relief of the channels. The width of the resist and hence the channels can then be reduced by oxygen plasma etching or thinning while maintaining its shape. The patterned substrate is then processed by a dry etch step which bombards it with ions that reduce the depth of the substrate at a selective rate depending on the substrate's properties and thickness (Ou et al., 2011). The resist remaining after development is typically etched at a much slower rate and

acts as a mask, shielding the silicon below from etching. In contrast, the parts of the substrate that no longer have resist after being developed are etched, revealing 3-D features in the substrate. This is a useful step in achieving channels that are deeper than the spun resist (Long et al., 2013).

In this process, etching could potentially by replaced by electron beam (e-beam) lithography. It works in very similar fashion to photolithography but utilizes e-beams to pattern resists rather than UV. E-beam is the typical approach to creating nano-arrays as it is known for its very high resolution which is typically 20nm to 1 microns as determined by the thickness of the e-beam resist used (Altissimo, 2010). Although it can be quite expensive, it offers reasonable job speed and higher reliability in the quality of nano-arrays, when compared to using multiple etch processes (Vieu et al., 2000).

Hydrogen silsesquioxane (HSQ) is a negative e-beam resist that is commonly used as an etch mask but also has gained interest for patterning high resolution lines with minimum edge roughness (Haffner et al., 2007). HSQ contains silicon hydrogen bonds which are converted to silanol when exposed to electron beams. Silanol is stronger than the silicon hydrogen bonds so when the resist is washed by a developer such as tetramethyl ammonium hydroxide (TMAH), the exposed parts of the resist remain whereas the silicon hydrogen bonds are broken, washing the unexposed areas of resist away (Min et al., 2010). Unlike most resists it has good stability when viewed under a scanning electron microscope (SEM) which is useful for accurate measurements of depth and circumvents the need for metallisation (Min et al., 2010).

With the high resolution and high-throughput advantages of using HSQ in softlithography, we propose a different method for creating a multilayer device with nanometre width channels; one that removes the need for dry etch and plasma thinning which can cause channel collapse, especially with high aspect features (Min et al., 2010). Instead, e-beam lithography is used to make high resolution HSQ resist lines of 1.1 micron that narrow to 350nm to limit the growth of bacterial prey cells to a single cell line (Long et al., 2013). Photolithography will then be

used to pattern SU-8 lines of 20-micron depth over the e-beam lines to template the channels that will use hydrodynamic forces to load and deliver cells and media to the narrow growth channels.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Microfluidic device design and fabrication

We aimed to develop a protocol to fabricate a silicon master as a negative mould for a PDMS microfluidic device by combining e-beam lithography with photolithography using the facilities at the James Watt Nanofabrication centre (JWNC), a clean room at the University of Glasgow. Because of the complexity of the methods (in particular the fabrication of multilayer HSQ resist channels by planarization), alternative methods were conducted at different fabrication stages to assess the most optimal for fabricating the master with the desired dimensions and quality (Fig 6.1). Importance was also placed on the speed and waste produced in these steps.

For all of the e-beam lithography steps (HSQ planarasation, e-beam patterning and development) the optimal procedure was assessed using a dose test whereby sets of 9 resist lines with 1µm depth and width, are patterned on a silicon substrate. Each set of resist lines were to be exposed to different e-beam doses ranging from 500 to 4500 μ C/cm² in intervals if 1000 μ C/cm². The e-beam exposure for patterning is carried out using the VB6 electron-beam tool by staff at JWNC.

The effect of the different e-beam methods was assessed after the resist development stage using a combination the Bruker Dektak XT height profiler to measure depth of the patterned channels and microscopy to measure the width and length of the patterned channels and observe the presence of substrate damage or residual resist.



Figure 6.1- Flow chart summarising the development of the workflow of ebeam lithography and photolithography to pattern negative channels on silicon substrate. Boxes on the left summarise the alternative methods attempted at each fabrication stage in an effort to find the most optimal for the desired device dimensions. Boxes on the right summarise the methods used to confirm this. The fabricated silicon master was coated with a silane agent in the JWNC and then transferred to a clean laboratory to carry out the PDMS moulding and curing and the bonding of the PDMS to a glass slide. As with the e-beam lithography steps, alternative methods were used in each stage to determine the most optimal for fabricating the PDMS device with the desired dimensions and quality (Fig 6.2). This was assessed using microscopy and by loading the device with a cell culture as described below to observe if there was any leaking and if the device could trap the cells in a single line as intended.



Figure 6.2- Flow chart summarising the development of the workflow of PDMS device fabrication. Boxes on the left summarise the alternative methods attempted at each fabrication stage in an effort to find the most optimal for the desired device dimensions and success. Boxes on the right summarise the methods used to confirm this.

6.2.2 Microfluidic device bacteria culture

Pseudomonas sp. (DSM no. 50906) using standard culturing methods (Herencias et al., 2017). *Pseudomonas* cells were grown in LB broth at 30°C for 16 hours and resuspended in supplemented Ca/Mg-HEPES buffer (25 mM HEPES, 2 mM calcium chloride, 3mM magnesium chloride, pH 7.6) to an optical density (600nm) value of 10.

Two syringe pumps were used to drive the solutions into the parallel feeding channels of the PDMS device. In order to clean the PDMS surface, the channels were filled with isopropyl alcohol (IPA) solution at 10µL/min and left to rest for at least one hour. Following the sterilisation step, the channels were filled with DI water and then filled with LB medium. Lastly, 10⁴ cells/ml *Pseudomonas* was injected into the top inlet at 5 µL/min to flow into the growth channels and LB media into the bottle inlet at 0.4 µL/min. This difference in flow rate between the two parallel feeding channels leads to a strong flow that forces the bacteria cells further into the shallow growth channels. Thereafter the top inlet syringe was changed to LB and the flow rate was changed to 0.4 µL/min and the bottom inlet was reduced to 0.2µL/min to start the PDMS device cell culture. The PDMS device was mounted onto a temperature-controlled chamber and mounted onto a microscope stage. Images were taken with the evos fl auto 2, an epi-fluorescence inverted microscope (Olympus Inc., UK).

6.3 Results and discussion

The ability of microfluidic technology to influence the spatial distribution of bacteria is vital not only to replicate the structures present in environment or engineered systems but also in the investigation of physical structure to prevent bacterial growth. The method proposed allows for different channel size and geometries to be patterned by e-beam lithography to contain bacteria for observation, while the larger channels are patterned by photolithography with a single reusable photomask. This can aid the high-throughput production and
optimisation of high-resolution microfluidic devices in research as it prevents the need to fabricate new photomasks every time a design change is needed.

There is need to draw together a disparate set of methods to successfully fabricate the high-resolution device to capture bacterial cells in the manner that we propose. This is especially critical given the importance of the geometric features for flow control in this device, the lack of well reported PDMS devices that can capture single cell dynamics and the uniqueness of applying e-beam lithography directly for soft lithography. Each successful combination of methods was hard won and required many hours of trial and error. Therefore, the processes are laid out as detailed and precise lists of instructions and their rationale. Many microfluidics publications only give broad indications of the methods, which makes reproducing the results and arduous task. The aim here is to give sufficient detail that any researcher could reproduce the device, given the appropriate instruments.

6.3.1 Substrate preparation

Prior to lithography, new substrates must be adequately cleaned to ensure the removal of any dust or material. This is important as any contaminant will prevent the spinning of a uniform layer of resist and reduce the accuracy of patterning (Altissimo, 2010). Any artefact or surface irregularity in the resist pattern will be transferred to the PDMS mould as PDMS casts over a master with great accuracy (Patel et al., 2013). Thankfully there are numerous procedures that can be used to clean substrates prior to processing but care needs to be taken to ensure the cleaning procedure does not damage the surface of the substrate. We used the following suite of procedures (table 6.1), which was previously developed and standard practice in the JWNC facility.

Table 6.1- Table detailing the protocol for substrate (e.g., silicon wafer)cleaning and preparation.

Substrate preparation

- Measure the thickness of silicon wafer
- Cut into a 1 inch x 1 inch square.
- Put the substrate in a beaker of methanol and ultrasonicate for five minutes.
- Without letting the substrate dry, (to avoid white drying marks) transfer to a beaker of acetone and ultrasonicate for 5 minutes
- Without letting the substrate dry, transfer to beaker of IPA for 1 minute (no ultrasonication needed)
- Blow dry the substrate carefully with a nitrogen gun
- Dispose of the solvents in unchlorinated waste

6.3.2 E-beam lithography

To prepare a layer of resist suitable for patterning, the resist is poured onto a clean wafer which is spun at a particular speed to create a uniform layer of resist of desired thickness. The thickest single HSQ layer that can be formed is only 600nm so a bilayer must be spun in order to achieve the desired 1µm thickness for the growth channels of the microfluidic device in this study. Following the spinning procedure, the resist layer is patterned by e-beam lithography and then developed to reveal the lines that will make up the growth channels. (Fig 6.3).



Figure 6.3- E-beam lithography stage of the process. Schematic overview: HSQ e-beam resist is spun twice to a clean silicon wafer for a thickness of 1µm then exposed to electron beams and developed to reveal the pattern relief. The green block represents where channel narrows.

Through literature searches and trial and error, the soft bake regime was identified, over the e-beam dosage and solvent development, as the crucial component in generating multiple layers of HSQ, as it is the process that increases the initial stability of the resist. HSQ planarization is a process whereby multiple layers of resist are alternately spun onto the wafer and soft baked to stabilize.

Common HSQ planarization methods utilized for the fabrication of electronicphotonic integrated circuits often use extremely high temperatures (>400°C) in combination with nitrogen exposure (Büyükköse et al., 2011). However, the process has not previously been used in the fabrication of PDMS devices and hence no standard protocols exist. We conducted three methods of HSQ planarization to find the most reliable way of fabricating the lines of resist for the PDMS growth channels. The spinning steps are the same for each method but the soft bake step changes.

The different soft baking regimes that were tested here were similar to those previously reported (Holzwarth et al., 2007). However, they were altered with the intention of reducing the temperature and thus the expertise required for these methods and to ensure that the structure of multilayer resists would not be changed by the subsequent soft lithography process. The success of each method

was to be assessed after patterning and development and ranked according to the quality and height using optical microscopy and Dektak measurement. We found that both soft bake methods 2 and 3 were successful and produced similar results whereas method 1 without a significant soft bake step was unable to produce resist layers higher than a single 500nm layer. Method 2 was chosen going forward as the preferred method due to its speed though method 3 was used when higher temperature vacuum hotplates were not available.

Table 6.2- Table detailing the three methods used to fabricate two layers of HSQ with an estimated total thickness of 1µm.

HSQ planarization

HSQ layer 1 spin

- Pipette 200µl of HSQ resist to cover the wafer then quickly spin 1800 rpm for 60 seconds (for 500nm).
- Once finished check the backside of wafer and clean any residual resist with acetone and a cotton bud.

Soft Bake method 1	Soft Bake method 2	Soft Bake method 3	
• Place the	• Place the wafer on a	• Place the wafer on	
wafer on a	vacuum hot plate at	a vacuum hot	
vacuum hot	95°C for 15 minutes.	plate at	
plate at 95°C	• Place wafer in an oven	150°C,200°C and	
for 15	at 180°C overnight.	300°C for 1 minute	
minutes.		each.	

HSQ layer 2 spin

- Pipette 200µl of HSQ resist to cover the wafer then quickly spin at 1800 rpm for 60 seconds (for 500nm).
- Once finished check backside of wafer and clean any residual resist with acetone and a cotton bud

Soft Bake method 1	Soft Bake method 2	Soft Bake method 3
 Place the wafer on a vacuum hot 	 Place the wafer on a vacuum hot plate at 95°C for 15 minutes. 	 Place wafer on a vacuum hot plate at 150°C.200°C
plate at 95°C for 15	 Place wafer in an oven at 180°C overnight. 	and 300°C for 1 minute each.
minutes.		

6.3.3 Patterning

To transfer a pattern onto a resist it must first be designed by an AutoCAD software (Altissimo, 2010). The software gives the ability to separate features of the pattern into different layers, so that you can chose which layers are transferred. This tool is important when making devices of multiple layers as different features can be patterned at different stages of the fabrication process and aligned to each other using patterned markers. For example, in this device plan, the growth channels, cell loading channels and alignment markers were separated into three different layers. The growth channels and alignment markers were patterned onto the substrate as one e-beam job and then the cell loading channels with the same alignment markers were used to make the photomask so that the cell loading channels could be aligned and patterned to the e-beam patterned substrate using photolithography.

6.3.4 Development

To remove the unexposed HSQ resist and reveal the desired pattern, the substrate must be washed in a developer, usually TMAH or the less potent CD26 (for channels of <600nm depth) (table 6.3). The effectiveness of this is determined by different factors. The e-beam exposure dose, the temperature and the development time are considered to be the most important and care must be taken to determine the optimal conditions to remove enough residual resist and leave clear well defined features without degrading or altering the properties of the pattern (Haffner et al., 2007). For example, we found that when the HSQ resist lines were exposed to TMAH for longer than 30 seconds or the e-beam dose was lower than 2500 μ C/cm², the lines significantly degraded. However, when the dose was higher than 3500 μ C/cm² or if CD26 was used as the developer, the channels were ill defined and thicker than the desired width. The lowest development time and lowest dose possible was chosen to be optimal, providing that the desired channel dimensions and the minimal presence of damage to or residual resist on the master was achieved. This was to reduce the cost and time associated with the method.

To ensure a reliable protocol for development and test the suitability of the three different HSQ planarization methods, dose tests were carried out before fabricating the channels for the microfluidic device. This was carried out by patterning lines of 1µm depth and width and altering parameters such as the exposure dose (Fig 6.4). Typically dose tests should be carried out with every new pattern design, with any change in the developer or resist and at regular intervals because the quality of the e-beam machine and the clean room environment may change over time. Following development, features should be examined to confirm quality and height by optical microscopy followed by Dektak measurements

Table 6.3- Table detailing the chemical development of HSQ.

HSQ resist development			
• Place the substrate in beaker of TMAH warmed up to 21°C for 30 seconds.			
Gently swirl the beaker around.			
• Without letting the substrate get dry transfer it to a beaker of RO water.			
• Blow dry the substrate carefully with a Nitrogen gun			
 Dispose of the solvents in unchlorinated waste 			



Figure 6.4– Microscope view of channels after development. E-beam dose of A) 4500 B) 3500 and C) 2500 μ C/cm².

After having established the optimal procedure for e-beam lithography, the HSQ channels for the PDMS device were fabricated and features observed by microscopy and the Dektak (Fig 6.5).



Figure 6.5- Microscope view of 1µm width e-beam generated HSQ channels after development.

6.3.5 Photolithography

While the higher resolution growth channels were pattered with e-beam lithography, such a technique is inefficient for making the larger channels used for transporting media and bacteria. Photolithography using SU-8 photoresist is the traditional process for making microfluidic channels of 20 μ m depth. The steps involved are similar to that of e-beam lithography but crucially, patterning the resist is done with UV rays instead of e-beam and instead of using AutoCAD directly, the pattern is derived from irradiating UV through a photomask (table 6.4).

SU8 photoresist is spun over the HSQ patterned substrate and then using a MJB4 or MA6/8 mask aligner machine, is aligned to the photomask so that the large SU8 media channels connect to the HSQ growth channels (Fig 6.6). The markers

patterned in e-beam lithography and in the photomask are critical to this and any misalignment of the channels will disable the function of the device. Following this, development is achieved by using the commercially available EC solvent. As with the e-beam process, the success of this procedure is determined by several factors including the resist spin speed, baking times, UV dose and development time. However, as the dimensions of SU8 channels were not as precise, we fabricated them based on manufacturer's instructions, which we observed gave the desired channel dimensions.

Table 6.4- Table detailing photolithography stage for SU8 resist layers of 20 μm depth

SU8 Photolithography		
Spinning and soft bake		
 Spin SU8-3025 on the substrate at a rate of 4000rpm for 30 seconds Soft bake the substrate on a vacuum hot plate at 95°C for 15 minutes Place on watch glass to cool 		
Patterning		

- Align the substrate to the photomask using MJB4 or MA6/8
- Expose to UV (Hard contact for 10 seconds and exposure for 30 seconds)

Hard bake

• Bake on a vacuum hot plate for 1 min at 65°C then 5 minutes at 95°C.

Development

- Place the substrate in beaker of EC solvent for 5 minutes. Gently swirl the beaker around.
- Without letting the substrate get dry transfer it to a beaker of IPA for 1 minute.
- Blow dry the substrate carefully with a Nitrogen gun
- Dispose of solvents in unchlorinated waste



Figure 6.6- Photolithography stage of the process. A) Schematic overview: SU8 photoresist is spun on to the patterned master clean for a thickness of 20 µm then exposed to UV through the photomask and developed to reveal the pattern relief. **B)** Microscope view of photoresist channels over the e-beam channels after development.

6.3.6 PDMS device fabrication

To prevent PDMS from adhering to the silicon master and make it easier to peel off when it has been moulded, the master has to be coated with a salinizing agent such as Trichloro(1H,1H,2H,2H-perfluorooctyl)silane (Patel et al., 2013). We found that while there appeared to be no significant effect on increasing the time of silane coating exposure past 1 minute, doing so for more than 1 minute left a strong residue over the silicon master. To avoid this, 1 minute was chosen as the time for silane coating.

Following conformation of the achieved dimensions by microscopy and Dektak measurements, the HSQ/SU8 patterned silicon master was ready to imprint the pattern into PDMS for the fabrication of the microfluidic device (table 6.5). The process to prepare PDMS for patterning, is relatively unchanged in many microfluidic devices; with the PDMS mixture being mixed with a curing agent at a weight ratio of 10 to 1 and cured at 70°C in order to harden the material. After moulding, the PDMS is punched with holes in the inlet and outlet using a biopsy punch slightly smaller than the diameter of the tubing intended to be used. This is then plasma or corona treated to help bond the PDMS to a glass slide (table 6.6) so that the channels can be viewed under microscope (Fig 6.7). The treatment also converts PDMS to a hydrophilic form allowing solution to flow along the channels easily without bubbles forming (Jenkins, 2013).

As with the other processes in microfluidic fabrication, the preparation of PDMS and the bonding technique used is critical in the success of the device and efforts should be made to optimise the process where necessary. For example, we found that the addition of more curing agent (a 5:1 PDMS: curing agent weight ratio) and longer curing times, increased the strength of the PDMS mould but also made peeling off the silicon substrate more difficult and left artefacts that may have negatively impacted the bonding process.

Additionally, we find that applying the corona discharge to the glass slide and PDMS device for longer than 30 seconds decreased the strength of the bond so that it could be easily broken.

Table 6.5- Table detailing the protocol for PDMS device fabrication. Includes

silane coating of the resist coated substrate, PDMS curing and moulding.

PDMS device fabrication		
Silane-coating		
Clean the sample with a nitrogen gun		
 Plasma ash the sample at 150 watt for 3-5 minutes 		
• In fume hood, add 40 μl of the salinizing agent to the side of the petri dish		
next to the sample		
 Leave the petri dish covered with watch glass for 1 minute 		
 Place the covered petri dish on hot plate at 150°C for 15 minutes 		
 Place the sample on watch glass to cool for 1 minute 		
Wash the wafer for 1 minute in water		
• If the process was successful, the water should not stick to the master		
PDMS curing and moulding		
• Mix the PDMS mixture and curing agent at a weight ratio of 10 to 1.		
• Degas the mixture in a vacuum for 25 minutes or until all bubbles are gone.		
• Place wafer in a Petri dish of similar size and pour PDMS mixture on top.		
Pop any bubbles that may form		
Degas for another 20 minutes.		
• Place the dish containing the device and PDMS mixture into the oven at		
70°C for 3 hours.		
• After the PDMS mixture has hardened, move the dish to a sterile hood and		
use a sharp tool to cut around the master carefully to remove the PDMS.		

Table 6.6- Table detailing the protocol for bonding PDMS device to a glassslide

Bonding to glass slide

- Clean the PDMS and the glass slide with IPA and then distilled water
- Dry carefully with a nitrogen gun
- Treat the glass slide and then the PDMS with the corona discharge for 30 seconds each by moving the discharge gun approximately 2cm above the surface, being sure not to burn it.
- Quickly press the PDMS chip evenly to the glass slide for 30 seconds
- Heat in an oven for 1 hour at 70°C

Allow to cool and treat with UV for 15 minutes.



Figure 6.7– PDMS device fabrication. A) Schematic overview: A patterned silicon master is coated with a silane agent to aid the peeling off of PDMS. PDMS is cast to the master, removed and then bonded to glass slide using corona treatment. **B)** Microscope view of PDMS device after fabrication.

Using the optimal procedures we determined for e-beam lithography and HSQ planarization combined with traditional soft lithography, we fabricated 100 narrow micro channels on a PDMS device that aims to use hydrodynamic focusing to capture bacterial cells before exposure to *Bdellovibrio* (Fig 6.8). These growth channels are approximately 1 μ m in height and 0.9-1.2 μ m wide. The growth channels narrow to approximately 0.45 μ m wide for the last 10 μ m of length at the opposite side of the growth chamber connecting to the larger feeding channel. This is to prevent the *Pseudomonas* bacteria cells (approximate size: 0.5 μ m in width and 2.0-2.5 μ m long) from flowing out of the growth channels and ensures a

monolayer of cells without trapping the smaller *Bdellovibrio* cells (approximate size: 0.4 μ m in width and 1.2 μ m long). The overall length of the growth channel could be chosen from 5 μ m to 75 μ m in order to investigate the growth of different cell monolayer lengths. The growth channels were connected to two 50 mm wide and approximately 20 mm deep feeding channels. The media flow in the feeding channels continuously delivers fresh nutrients/*Bdellovibrio* to the trapped bacterial cells inside the growth channels and removes metabolic waste.



Figure 6.8- Design of microfluidic device to investigate the effect of biofilm thickness on predation. Cells (blue) are loaded through the medium chambers where they enter the biofilm growth channel and attach to the surface to grow as biofilm (red). The length of this channel can vary and will determine the thickness of the growing biofilm as at the end of the channel there is a smaller microchannel blocking the prey cells from passing through to the opposite chamber. This is not the case with predators (green) which sufficiently lyse the prey bacteria in the biofilm to reach the opposite media chamber where it may be sensed or collected as effluent for further analysis. With these dimensions we were able to load bacterial cells on these devices and confine their positioning in growth channels within minutes (Fig 6.9). This is in contrast to close ended mother machine devices, where cell loading can take up to a few hours. This is vital in investigating the metabolic and growth dynamics of bacteria as prolonged time before observation could influence the results of such experiments.

The open-ended nature of this design relied on the narrow end on the growth channel and the difference in the pressure between the two feeding channels to trap the bacterial cells and prevent them from flowing out of the growth channel. However, the flow regime used for the top and bottom feeding channels caused too much pressure in the central growth channels causing the bacteria to deform the narrower end of the growth channels and pass through. In combination with the leaking at the feeding channel at the top (Fig 6.9), this allowed bacteria to accumulate in the feeding channel at the bottom.

This has consequences for the observation of growth dynamics as these cells could influence the flow of nutrients and waste in the growth channels. Thus, it is important to experiment further with the flow regime and thickness of the narrow end in order to prevent this from happening. We also fabricated growth channels of lower width (<0.8 μ m), though these required higher flow rates that resulted in subsequent leaking and growth channel collapse.



Figure 6.9- Microscope view of *Pseudomonas* **cells trapped in growth channel of PDMS device.** The feeding channel for loading cells is at the top and feeding channel for media is at the bottom. Media and cells are loaded through these channels at the inlets from the left and removed from the device along with any waste via the outlets to the right.

Unfortunately, further experimentation on this and the growth dynamics was not able to be carried out as the device was prone to significant leaking from the inlet and the edge of the device bonded to the glass slide. This is not likely to be a consequence of the channel fabrication of the device but instead the flow rates that were used and importantly, the cleaning and bonding technique for the glass slide and PDMS device. Despite this setback, we were still able to demonstrate the ability of e-beam lithography to be combined with photolithography in a device and we were easily able to visualise bacterial cells which would enable cell to cell investigation.

Leaking is a common issue with microfluidic devices (Borók et al., 2021), they can prevent the device from operating as intended, can interfere with imaging and results in unsafe biological contamination of the microscope. Despite this there are a lack of studies that investigate mechanisms to increase bonding strength of PDMS devices. For bonding we used a handheld corona discharge system because of its low cost and ease of use. The success of this method was shown to vary, and we found that greater reliability in bonding when treating both surfaces for 30 seconds rather than longer times (>1minute) that are often reported. We also found that after 1 hour, increasing the time of incubation at 70°C for the glass bonded PDMS device seemingly gave no significant increase in bond strength. Though it is important to note that the process of corona discharge is influenced by many other factors such as the distance used for treatment and the condition of the surfaces used which make it difficult to assess, though there are methods to quantify bond strength of PDMS devices (Borók et al., 2021).Using Oxygen plasma treatment may be a better method for bonding this PDMS to a glass slide and would allow for more uniform testing. Solving the bonding problem is likely to involve a significant research effort that could not be achieved in this time-limited PhD.

With the significant leaking of the device, we were unable to achieve our ultimate goal of challenging the model biofilms with *Bdellovibrio* predators, to investigate the effect of biofilm thickness on predation and establishing the length whereby predation cannot outcompete prey growth. There is still the need for further studies that both investigate *Bdellovibrio* predation in continuous flow and single cell settings such as in microfluidics as well as investigations that aim to quantify the effect *Bdellovibrio* predation has on different biofilm characteristics.

6.4 Conclusion

Modelling *Bdellovibrio* predation is vital in developing action plans to mitigate biofouling in decentralised drinking water treatment. However, there are a lack of models that capture the dynamics between the predator and the prey when growing as biofilm. This is likely due to the lack of high-throughput techniques that are able to reliably measure the heterogeneity and complexity of biofilm growth. We developed a protocol for fabricating a microfluidic device to investigate the predation dynamics on an array of simplified, model biofilms. Microfluidics presents a promising technology to further these investigations into predation of biofilms by *Bdellovibrio*, especially at a single-cell level. And the success of fluorescent probes such as WGA in the static assay of chapter 5 suggests that fluorescent probes would be useful to assess and quantify biofilm growth by microscopy. Here we demonstrate a method to fabricate nanosized features using traditional photolithography combined with e-beam lithography. This particular device was intended to allow predation to be viewed against a single cell line of prey cells, that would act as a model 1-D biofilm. However, the process as a whole can also be rapidly and accurately applied for other device designs, that would house more complex biofilm structures. Importantly, the device would also allow the high-throughput and real-time observation of bacteria in different growth conditions and revealing a range of different parameters such as growth rate, attachment rate, EPS production that conventional biofilm assays ignore.

Currently a protocol to evaluate and increase the bonding strength of the PDMS device to the glass slide is needed to mitigate the leaking found in the device but with this and further development the methods proposed in this study would also lend to the linking of microorganism population function to population quantity which is vital in the effective application of *Bdellovibrio* for biofilm mitigation. Unfortunately, preventing leaking and maximising bond strength are significant issues and difficult to troubleshoot in a high throughput manner and so despite our extensive efforts we were unable to achieve a solution.

7 Conclusion

Bdellovibrio predatory bacteria have been identified as a potential mitigation to biofilm growth in many applications including dentistry, agriculture and drinking water treatment. There is a need to collect more reliable data on the predatorprey dynamics in order to advance any future uses of predatory bacteria. This entails carrying out more basic studies of population dynamics and interactions between predatory bacteria and their prey (Dwidar et al ., 2012), which is difficult as the methodology and research techniques typically used in microbial ecology are lacking where *Bdellovibrio* is concerned.

Therefore, a key aim of this thesis was to explore and develop novel methodologies, such as flow cytometry and microfluidics, to measure and observe *Bdellovibrio* and the growth of gram-negative bacteria such as *Pseudomonas* species, a key biofilm forming species in drinking water systems.

With these methods we aimed to conduct fundamental investigations into the dynamics of *Bdellovibrio* predation with the aim of developing mathematical models that can begin to inform strategies for the application of predatory bacteria in industrial practice like the removal of biofilms in membrane-based drinking water treatment. We focused on capturing the fundamentals of predatory prey interactions in simplified abstractions of potential industrial applications.

Many of the basic ecological investigations into dynamics of predatory bacteria and their prey are limited by the lack of precise, dependable and fast methods for counting and characterising cells. For the first time, we demonstrated in a published article, that flow cytometry is a reliable tool for simultaneous *Bdellovibrio* and *Pseudomonas* quantification, highlighting its potential to expand on the current knowledge in the field. We established a procedure for distinguishing and counting *Bdellovibrio* in lone and mixed populations based on their size and fluorescence. The validity of this method was demonstrated by comparing the method to the more traditional enumeration approaches in optical

density (OD), plaque forming unit assay (PFU), and quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR).

While there has been at least one demonstration of using flow cytometry in the enumeration of *Bdellovibrio* (Duncan et al., 2018), this study is the first description of a protocol to distinguish *Bdellovibrio* and their gram-negative prey based on size rather than measuring the fluorescence of proteins expressed by the organisms, so the protocol could be used with other gram-negative bacteria which are larger than the predator such as *E. coli*. Additionally, this is the first study to validate flow cytometry for *Bdellovibrio* enumeration by comparison to other quantification methods. This represents a significant advancement in *Bdellovibrio* ecology research, where the majority of literature makes use of plaque forming unit assay that is both inaccurate and takes days before results can be obtained. This will serve not only the capture of experimental data but also the regular maintenance and observation of *Bdellovibrio* cultures.

One limitation of this study is the lack of comprehensive comparison between the flow cytometry results and an absolute count by microscopy. The accuracy of flow cytometry is not in question as it has been compared to qPCR which is seen as a gold standard for microbial enumeration, but microscopy does provide the advantage of being able to distinguish bdelloplasts from uninfected prey cells. As of yet, flow cytometry has not been shown to be able to do this, but with the advancement of fluorescent tags and the identification of different genes characteristic of the *Bdellovibrio* predation cycle, there is the potential to do so. Likewise developing the flow cytometry protocol beyond the use of SYBR green, which is a non-specific DNA stain, is necessary to be able to distinguish bacteria in multi-species communities.

With the development of a reliable method for measuring *Bdellovibrio* and the gram-negative prey *Pseudomonas*, we were able to then go on to use this as means to investigate the population dynamics of the two species. While quantification methods such as flow cytometry can be used to monitor growth and potential contamination in membrane-based drinking water systems, monitoring is only one

part of the process involved in microbial engineering. Successful application will rely on the ability to predict microbial ecology and engineer them towards particular goals such as biofilm removal by *Bdellovibrio* predation.

Mathematical models, in particular, are an important step in the design and troubleshooting of biocontrol and water treatment procedures, and their use is widely studied for microbial predators but less so with *Bdellovibrio*. Mathematical models depend upon of a set of parameters that can represent the growth dynamics of populations. A thorough understanding and quantification of these parameters can give insight into predator-prey interactions, making it easier to exploit conditions that would optimise the desired predatory bacteria action in a specific application, such as complete pathogen clearance or biofilm removal (Williams and Pieiro, 2006).

We employed mass-action mathematical models based on the Lotka-Volterra set of equations to investigate the dynamics of *B. bacteriovorus* and *Pseudomonas* in the presence of a carbon limiting substrate (glucose) in a batch and chemostat setting. Specifically, we used flow cytometry and a coulometric glucose assay to quantify both bacteria populations and the glucose substrate concentration in batch cultures over time. From this we gained parameters for the model: maximum growth rate, yield and saturation constants to predict the outcome of batch cultures with different initial values of the prey, predator and substrate.

By validating the model for bacterial growth in batch experiment, we add to one of the few studies that has aimed to do so and demonstrate that although the nature of *Bdellovibrio* predation is complex it can in part be simplified by mathematical models. It is also the first time that *Bdellovibrio* predation can be described by the Holling type III function, which we propose is the result of the low specificity, random collision method of locating prey displayed by *Bdellovibrio* and could explain why *Bdellovibrio* as so strongly associated with high-density bacteria environments such as biofilms.

Using these same parameters in a chemostat model we examined what circumstances related to glucose concentration in the influent and dilution rate are necessary for the many possible solutions of the prey and predator culture: prey and predator washout, predator washout, predator-prey stability and predator-prey oscillations.

To test the ability of the model to predict for predator-prey oscillations, we conducted a chemostat experiment to compare the outcome. To our knowledge, we demonstrated the first example of *Bdellovibrio* predator prey oscillations in a chemostat and expands upon previous studies that have only theoretically demonstrated this (Summers and Kreft, 2019). Predator-prey oscillations are of great interest in microbial ecology and are of significance in regard to mitigating biofouling in membrane filtration because it allows the prey to regrow up until a point that is still manageable but also allows the continuous periodic growth of *Bdellovibrio* so that the system is effectively self-sustainable and repeated inoculation of the predator is not required. This is especially important in decentralised systems where regular maintenance or care may not be possible.

It should be noted that there were discrepancies in the actual concentrations achieved; the oscillations in experiment were generally of lower amplitude. By significantly decreasing the maximum growth rate of the prey we found that the model was a better fit. Thus, we proposed that the discrepancies were the result of prey biofilm growth on the chemostat chamber wall. This altered the dynamics of the predator-prey system as the biofilm are generally slow-growing and more resistant to washout in comparison to planktonic species in the bulk liquid.

We only measure biofilm growth in the chemostat at one time point, which is not enough information to accurately model the biofilm growth, or even to describe the relationship with the biofilm and planktonic bacteria in the bulk liquid in relation to the process of attachment and biofouling as well as any influence on this from predation. It was not possible to measure biofilm periodically with the bioreactor setup used in this study but there are a range of bioreactors such as the modified Robbins device that allow for such. Microfluidics also presents an

interesting alternative for measuring predator-biofilm dynamics as the rate of attachment and detachment of prey bacteria to the surface can be observed.

Regardless, the ability of the model to capture some of the oscillations displayed is significant as it demonstrates the power of models to guide experimental planning. Trying to find the parameter space required for oscillations entirely through trial-and-error experimentation would have been difficult and wasteful. Further experimental validation of the model's ability to predict other outcomes in chemostat such as predator washout would increase the confidence in the model.

In order to expand on the dynamics that we have captured for *Bdellovibrio* predation in chemostat, there is a strong need for investigating the effect of predation specifically on biofilms in different environments. The formation of biofilm and its removal by predation is not determined by the cell concentration alone, but a combination of chemical and biological processes as well as the exchange between planktonic bacteria within the bulk liquid. It is well known that mature biofilms require a combination of an associated surface, the microorganisms and the extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) in the biofilm matrix to develop (Elkhatib et al., 2014). Additionally, the heterogeneity of a biofilm and its environment has previously been shown to effect biofilm development, maturity and its tolerance to stresses. Heterogeneity can be displayed in a number of ways in the biofilm: distribution and composition of microbial species, biofilm thickness and EPS production. All of which is affected by the nutrients available in the environment.

We investigated the effect of predation on the growth and EPS production of static biofilms grown previously in a nutrient rich (LB), nitrogen rich (HEPES buffer supplemented with casein hydrolysate), carbon rich (HEPES buffer supplemented with glucose) and nutrient poor (HEPES buffer) environment by measuring endpoint changes in biomass (crystal violet) and viability (resazurin) using microplate staining assays that have been traditionally used to measure susceptibility of biofilms to antimicrobials. With the addition of a wheat germ agglutin (WGA) assay to quantify poly-N acetylglucosamine (PNAG) residues in biofilm EPS and flow cytometry to quantify the total and intact cells in the biofilm and in the bulk liquid as planktonic cells.

The addition of these methods addresses the limitations of previous studies investigating *Bdellovibrio* predation of biofilms, first by improving the accuracy of cell quantification through the use of a direct enumeration by flow cytometry. Secondly, by providing more informative analysis of the heterogeneity of biofilm growth rather than only taking into the account the biomass of the biofilm.

The role of biofilm EPS on *Bdellovibrio* predation has rarely been considered despite the fact that EPS has been shown to increase biofilm survival after exposure to some antimicrobials. We show that retention of EPS may be key in the adhesion of biofilms to surfaces and in the persistence of metabolically damaged cells existing in the biofilm when exposed to *Bdellovibrio* predation. In contrast, the reduction of EPS in biofilms during predation may be linked to a change in the proportion of biofilm cells to planktonic cells in the system.

We demonstrate for the first time the power of flow cytometry to measure *Pseudomonas* biofilm cells and *Bdellovibrio* cells, which has the benefit over traditional biofilm quantification such as crystal violet or turbidity measurements as it allows direct enumeration of cells and can distinguish between the prey and predator species. This is key for the development of mathematical models that can be used to predict and quantify biofilm growth under predation and necessary for the development of biofilm mitigation plans in engineered systems.

Additionally, with flow cytometry we can gain information on the cell size and concentration of the planktonic bacteria which can aid the quantification of other parameters that are key in biofilm growth such as predator yield and biofilm attachment. And with the development of commercially available fluorescent stains there is the potential to target and quantify other characteristics of biofilm growth with flow cytometry such as the PNAG and the terminal mannosyl residues of biofilm EPS, proteins and nucleic acids. This is necessary to assess the antibacterial and antifouling effect of *Bdellovibrio* against different biofilm components.

When using end-point measurements of static well plates to investigate biofilm growth such as here, there is a limit to how much can be understood with regards to how *Bdellovibrio* can affect the whole process of biofilm attachment removal and development. Microfluidics combined with time-lapse microscopy represents a useful tool to aid this as it would allow continuous application and monitoring of microbial aggregate and biofilm growth and can be combined with the quantification of EPS with non-invasive stains such as WGA.

Though many microbial ecologists recognize the benefits and applications of microfluidics, many can struggle to understand the processes needed to design a reliable protocol and fabricate the desired devices due to lack of an engineering background. Thus, we introduced microfluidic devices, the techniques and technologies used to develop them and a clear protocol that demonstrates how to design, develop and fabricate microfluidic devices.

Biofilm thickness is another growth parameter that could potentially be investigated with the use of microfluidics and is anticipated to have a significant impact on predator-prey dynamics due to the combined effect of prey bacteria deeper in biofilms being shielded from predation in thicker biofilms.

Biofilm thickness is difficult to manage ordinarily, which is a key reason as to why biofilm thickness has not previously been considered in regard to *Bdellovibrio* predation dynamics. Thus, we aimed to limit bacteria growth in the microfluidic device to a single 1-D line to represent a 1-D intersection of a 'typical' layered biofilm. Each prey bacterium is attached to the channel surface as well as another bacterial cell on either side of it, generating a single cell line of biofilm, similar to growth found in a mother machine (Long et al., 2013). This structure was to force predators to attack and penetrate single prey cells at a time. The length of the biofilm growth channels could vary by design and served to represent the biofilm thickness.

The resolution required to fabricate such a device is not possible with traditional photolithography techniques, so we presented a new, simple and reliable method of doing so that combined e-beam lithography and Hydrogen silsesquioxane (HSQ) resist planarization with photolithography. We were able to construct a PDMS device with the required channel geometry needed to trap *Pseudomonas* cells, demonstrating for the first time, the suitability for HSQ planarization to rapidly create high resolution structures in PDMS and also a demonstration of combining e-beam lithography for PDMS structures.

Unfortunately, we were unable to test the effect of biofilm thickness with this device as we had significant issues with leaking and maintaining the integrity of the PDMS channels which we perceive to be the result of the cleaning and bonding of PDMS to the glass slide and the optimising the flow speed that can be used for the device.

A successful device of this kind with growth channels that restrict the depth of bacterial growth would be very useful to gain insight into microbial predator and prey dynamics at a single cell level. We could apply this approach in a similar manner to the batch and chemostat modelling study where we measure bacterial growth over time to gain kinetic parameters. In this case we can monitor biofilm growth to capture key parameters and apply it to the current predator prey models developed in this study. Combined, this knowledge would be key in predicting and optimising the use of *Bdellovibrio* as a biofilm control agent in membrane-based technologies.

7.1 Future perspectives

Overall, the future of decentralised drinking water systems that exploit *Bdellovibrio*, requires more progress into the fundamental understanding of their dynamics with prey species. This thesis has contributed to the development of this approach in particular through the addition of an accurate and high-throughput flow cytometry protocol to quantify *Bdellovibrio*. We have demonstrated the usefulness of this protocol with the development of mathematical models which

we used to predict and further investigate the dynamics between *B. bacteriovorus* and its prey *Pseudomonas*. These models can be progressively built on by including the presence of bdelloplasts, multiple different organic substrate and different prey and non-prey species to better mimic the environment in nature and engineered sytems.

Similarly, there is the need to investigate more thoroughly the effect of *Bdellovibrio* predation on bacterial growth in its entirety, including the complete phases of biofilm growth in combination with the planktonic bacteria. We have addressed this in part with the microplate assay in chapter 5, but progress can be made by using the assay to investigate the effect of predation on biofilm growth under different concentrations of a growth limiting substrate to gain model parameters (such as the yield, attachment and detachment rate) and develop a model similar to those in chapter 4. This can be utilised to better gain an understanding of biofilm growth under predation and get closer to building a model that can be used to predict the growth of biofilm and biofouling under predation in membrane filtration systems.

Importantly, we observe how *B. bacteriovorus* struggles to cause significant further decrease to *Pseudomonas* populations of 10⁶ cells/ml or less. This indicates that it is unable to ensure the complete removal of prey to the same extent as chemicals such as chlorine or antibiotics. However, with an understanding of *Bdellovibrio* predation dynamics, the predator could be combined with other antibacterial agents such as chlorine or even other biological predators such as bacteriophages. These antibacterial agents can potentially be used to target prey cells that are able to evade *Bdellovibrio* such as gram-positive bacteria. Thus, more extensive studies need to be conducted to investigate the action of *Bdellovibrio* in the presence of antibacterial chemical or other biological predators, especially in regard to the temporary phenotypic resistance that is displayed by prey species under *Bdellovibrio* predation (Shemesh and Jurkevitch, 2003).

Complete removal of the prey may not be necessary in membrane technologies; the addition of *Bdellovibrio* could be sufficient in reducing the overall effect of

biofouling and increase the lifespan of membrane filters which are currently vulnerable to biofilm growth and biofouling, reducing their effectiveness and making them dysfunctional after some time. It is this lack of durability after consistent biofouling and the financial and energy cost associated with membrane drinking water filtration systems that has limited their application on a larger scale (Kim *et al*., 2013a). Therefore, it is also necessary to characterise the effect of *Bdellovibrio* predation on the long-term performance and durability of membrane filtration systems. Though these kinds of large-scale investigations can be costly and time-consuming to operate, fundamental investigations and the development of mathematical models such as those in this thesis are vital in improving their efficiency and likelihood of success.

8 Appendix

8.1 Chapter 3

Table 8.1- The mean and standard deviation for optical density (600nm) valuesfrom three observations and the Box-Cox transformations (lambda=-0.6).

OD(600nm)	Standard deviation	Box-Cox transformed OD
0.00233333	0.00057735	-61.637923
0.00266667	0.00057735	-57.607402
0.00266667	0.00057735	-56.801539
0.00266667	0.00057735	-56.713789
0.00666667	0.00057735	-32.227299
0.007	0	-31.051573
0.008	0	-28.532486
0.052	0.002	-8.156392
0.11	0.01	-4.599662

8.2 Chapter 4

8.2.1 MATLAB code for batch predator prey model

%name of function

function simple_batch

%choose time range of model output. Timerange= linspace (start point (h), end point (h), time interval)

point (ii), time intervat)

timerange = linspace(0,72,100); % time in hrs

%legend

% s0 is the initial substrate concentration (mg/L)

% x0 is the initial prey concentration (cells/ml)

% y0 is the initial predator concentration (cells/ml)

% z0 is the initial 'dead' prey concentration (cells/ml) % eta_x is the yield of predator consuming prey (predator cells per 1 prey cell) % eta_S is the yield of prey feeding on substrate (prey cells/ml per mg substrate) % mu_prey = maximum growth rate of prey feeding on substrate (h⁻¹) % ksat_S is half saturation constant for prey feeding on substrate (mg/L) % mu_pred = max growth rate of predator (h⁻¹) % ksat_pred = half saturation constant of predator feeding on prey (cells²/ml²) % State variable 1 (a(:,1)) is the prey (cells/ml)

% State variable 2 (a(:,2)) is the predator (cells/ml)

% State variable 3 (a(:,3)) is the number of dead prey (cells/ml)

% State variable 4 (a(:,4)) is the substrate (mg/L)

% parameters

mu_prey = 1.0; mu_pred = 0.24; eta_x = 1.95; eta_S = 3.1*10^7; k_S = 0.18; k2 = 2.74 *10^15;

%intial conditions x0 = 1 *10^6; y0 = 1 *10^6; S0 = 5; z0 = 0;

%Define state variables a0 = [x0 y0 z0 S0]';

%Define function

[t,a] = ode45(@(t,a) differntials(t,a,mu_prey, mu_pred, k2, eta_x, eta_S, k_S),timerange,a0);

```
%transfer data to csv
xlswrite('batchmodelTEST.xlsx',[t(:),a(:,1),a(:,2),a(:,3)+ a(:,1),a(:,4)]);
hold on
%Viewing the result
figure(1)
tiledlayout(4,1)
nexttile
plot(t,a(:,1))
hold on
plot(t,a(:,2))
plot(t, a(:,3)+ a(:,1))
xlabel('Hours')
ylabel('Number')
legend('Prey', 'Predator', 'Prey + Dead Prey')
nexttile
plot(t,a(:,2))
xlabel('Hours')
ylabel('Number')
legend('Predator')
nexttile
plot(t,a(:,1))
xlabel('Hours')
ylabel('Number')
legend('Prey')
nexttile
plot(t,a(:,4))
xlabel('Hours')
ylabel('mg/l')
legend( 'substrate')
hold off
```

```
198
```

function dadt = differntials(t,a,mu_prey, mu_pred, k2, eta_x, eta_S, k_S)

```
%Equations
dadt = zeros(size(a));
m_prey = mu_prey*a(4)/(k_S + a(4));
m_pred = mu_pred*a(1)^2/(k2 + a(1)^2);
```

```
dadt(1) = m_prey*a(1) - m_pred*a(2)/eta_x ;
dadt(2) = + m_pred*a(2);
dadt(3) = m_pred*a(2)/eta_x;
dadt(4) = -m_prey*a(1)/eta_S;
```

8.2.2 MATLAB code for chemostat predator prey model

function chemostat_predator

%legend

- % s0 is the influent substrate concentration (mg/L)
- % x0 is the initial prey concentration (cells/ml)
- % y0 is the initial predator concentration (cells/ml)
- % eta_x is the yield of predator consuming prey (predator cells per 1 prey cell)
- % eta_S is the yield of prey feeding on substrate (prey cells per mg substrate)
- % mu_prey = maximum growth rate of prey feeding on substrate (h^{-1})
- % ksat_S is half saturation constant for prey feeding on substrate (mg/L)
- % mu_pred = max growth rate of predator (h⁻¹)
- % ksat_pred = half saturation constant of predator feeding on prey (cells²/ml²)
- % D is the diluation rate (h⁻¹)
- % State variable 1 (a(:,1)) is the prey (cells/ml)
- % State variable 2 (a(:,2)) is the predator (cells/ml)
- % State variable 4 (a(:,4)) is the substrate (mg/L)

%model parameters - these values could be estimated in batch experiments.

S0 = 25; eta_S = 3.1*10^7; eta_x = 1.95; D = 0.17 mu_prey = 1.0; mu_pred = 0.24; ksat_S = 0.18; ksat_pred = 2.74*10^15;

% State variable 1 (a(:,1)) is the prey (cells/ml)
% State variable 2 (a(:,2)) is the predator (cells/ml)
% State variable 3 (a(:,3)) is the substrate (mg/L)

n = 40 %run the model for approx n retention times
tau = [0 n/D]; %

%Initial conditions Start_S = S0 Start_prey = 3.5*10^7 Start_pred = 6.55*10^7

%Define state variables
a0 = [Start_prey Start_pred Start_S]

%Define function
[t,a] = ode45(@(t,a) differntials(t,a,D,S0,mu_prey, mu_pred, ksat_pred, eta_x,
eta_S, ksat_S),tau,a0);

%transfer data to csv
xlswrite('chemostatmodelcsvtable.xlsx',[t(:),a(:,1),a(:,2),a(:,3)])

%Viewing the result
```
figure(1)
```

```
plot(t,a(:,1))
hold on
plot(t,a(:,2))
```

plot(t,a(:,3))

```
legend('Prey', 'Predator', 'Substrate' )
hold off
```

```
%Then tau - the real time
tt = t;
S = a(:,3);
x = a(:,1);
y = a(:,2);
```

```
figure(2)
plot(tt,S);
title('Substrate unscaled')
```

```
figure(3)
plot(tt,x);
title('Prey unscaled')
figure(4)
plot(tt,y);
title('Predator unscaled')
```

```
figure(5)
```

plot(x,y)

%Equations

```
function dadt = differntials(t,a,D,S0,mu_prey, mu_pred, k2, eta_x, eta_S, k_S)
```

```
dadt = zeros(size(a));
m_prey = (mu_prey)*a(3)/(k_S + a(3));
m_pred = mu_pred^{a}(1)^{2}/(k^2 + a(1)^{2});
dadt(1) = -D*a(1) + m_prey*a(1) - m_pred*a(2)/eta_x ;
dadt(2) = -D*a(2)+ m_pred*a(2);
dadt(3) = D^{*}(S0-a(3)) - (m_prey)^{*}a(1)/eta_S;
if (a(1) + dadt(1)) < 0
  dadt(1) = -a(1);
  a(1) = 0.0;
end
if (a(2) + dadt(2)) < 0
  dadt(2) = -a(2);
  a(2) = 0.0;
end
if (a(3) + dadt(3)) < 0
  dadt(3) = -a(3);
  a(3) = 0.0;
end
```

9 References

- Abberton, C.L., Bereschenko, L., van der Wielen, P.W., Smith, C.J., 2016.
 Survival, biofilm formation, and growth potential of environmental and enteric Escherichia coli strains in drinking water microcosms. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 82, 5320-5331.
- Aleklett, K., Kiers, E.T., Ohlsson, P., Shimizu, T.S., Caldas, V.E., Hammer, E.C., 2017. Build your own soil: exploring microfluidics to create microbial habitat structures. ISME J. 12, 312-319. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.184
- Altissimo, M., 2010. E-beam lithography for micro-/nanofabrication. Biomicrofluidics 4. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3437589
- Ansari, M.I., Schiwon, K., Malik, A., Grohmann, E., 2012. Biofilm Formation by Environmental Bacteria, in: Malik, A., Grohmann, E. (Eds.), Environmental Protection Strategies for Sustainable Development, Strategies for Sustainability. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 341-377. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1591-2_11
- Au, S.H., Shih, S.C.C., Wheeler, A.R., 2011. Integrated microbioreactor for culture and analysis of bacteria, algae and yeast. Biomed. Microdevices 13, 41-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10544-010-9469-3
- Bachmann, R.T., Edyvean, R.G.J., 2005. Biofouling: an historic and contemporary review of its causes, consequences and control in drinking water distribution systems. Biofilms 2, 197-227. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1479050506001979
- Baker, M., Negus, D., Raghunathan, D., Radford, P., Moore, C., Clark, G., Diggle,
 M., Tyson, J., Twycross, J., Sockett, R.E., 2017. Measuring and modelling
 the response of Klebsiella pneumoniae KPC prey to Bdellovibrio
 bacteriovorus predation, in human serum and defined buffer. Sci. Rep. 7.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08060-4
- Bakke, R., Olsson, P.Q., 1986. Biofilm thickness measurements by light microscopy. J. Microbiol. Methods 5, 93-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-7012(86)90005-9

- Balaban, N.Q., Merrin, J., Chait, R., Kowalik, L., Leibler, S., 2004. Bacterial Persistence as a Phenotypic Switch. Science 305, 1622-1625. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1099390
- Baldwin, B.R., Nakatsu, C.H., Nies, L., 2003. Detection and Enumeration of Aromatic Oxygenase Genes by Multiplex and Real-Time PCR. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 3350-3358. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.6.3350-3358.2003
- Bao, N., Jagadeesan, B., Bhunia, A.K., Yao, Y., Lu, C., 2008. Quantification of bacterial cells based on autofluorescence on a microfluidic platform. J. Chromatogr. A 1181, 153-158.
- Barbesti, S., Citterio, S., Labra, M., Baroni, M.D., Neri, M.G., Sgorbati, S., 2000.
 Two and three-color fluorescence flow cytometric analysis of immunoidentified viable bacteria. Cytometry 40, 214-218. https://doi.org/10/fmg5cx
- Beddington, J., Boulten, G., Finch, D.J., 2009. Improving innovation in the water industry: 21st century challenges and opportunities.
- Begot, C., Desnier, I., Daudin, J.D., Labadie, J.C., Lebert, A., 1996.
 Recommendations for calculating growth parameters by optical density measurements. J. Microbiol. Methods 25, 225-232.
 https://doi.org/10/fhvsf9
- Bell, T., Bonsall, M.B., Buckling, A., Whiteley, A.S., Goodall, T., Griffiths, R.I., 2010. Protists have divergent effects on bacterial diversity along a productivity gradient. Biol. Lett. 6, 639-642. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2010.0027
- Berney, M., Hammes, F., Bosshard, F., Weilenmann, H.-U., Egli, T., 2007.
 Assessment and Interpretation of Bacterial Viability by Using the LIVE/DEAD
 BacLight Kit in Combination with Flow Cytometry. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.
 73, 3283-3290. https://doi.org/10/bgf5pb
- Besmer, M.D., Weissbrodt, D.G., Kratochvil, B.E., Sigrist, J.A., Weyland, M.S., Hammes, F., 2014. The feasibility of automated online flow cytometry for in-situ monitoring of microbial dynamics in aquatic ecosystems. Front. Microbiol. 5. https://doi.org/10/ghn7mw

- Boenigk, J., Matz, C., Jürgens, K., Arndt, H., 2001. The influence of preculture conditions and food quality on the ingestion and digestion process of three species of heterotrophic nanoflagellates. Microb. Ecol. 42, 168-176.
- Bohannan, B.J., Lenski, R.E., 2000. Linking genetic change to community evolution: insights from studies of bacteria and bacteriophage. Ecol. Lett. 3, 362-377.
- Borók, A., Laboda, K., Bonyár, A., 2021. PDMS Bonding Technologies for Microfluidic Applications: A Review. Biosensors 11, 292. https://doi.org/10.3390/bios11080292
- Bren, A., Hart, Y., Dekel, E., Koster, D., Alon, U., 2013. The last generation of bacterial growth in limiting nutrient. BMC Syst. Biol. 7, 27. https://doi.org/10/f4s2fc
- Broadaway, S.C., Barton, S.A., Pyle, B.H., 2003. Rapid Staining and Enumeration of Small Numbers of Total Bacteria in Water by Solid-Phase Laser Cytometry.
 Appl. Environ. Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.7.4272-4273.2003
- Brown, M.R., Camézuli, S., Davenport, R.J., Petelenz-Kurdziel, E., Øvreås, L., Curtis, T.P., 2015. Flow cytometric quantification of viruses in activated sludge. Water Res. 68, 414-422. https://doi.org/10/f6wfrv
- Brown, M.R., Hands, C.L., Coello-Garcia, T., Sani, B.S., Ott, A.I.G., Smith, S.J., Davenport, R.J., 2019. A flow cytometry method for bacterial quantification and biomass estimates in activated sludge. J. Microbiol. Methods 160, 73-83. https://doi.org/10/gh63vh
- Buchholz, F., Lerchner, J., Mariana, F., Kuhlicke, U., Neu, T.R., Harms, H.,Maskow, T., 2012. Chip-calorimetry provides real time insights into the inactivation of biofilms by predatory bacteria. Biofouling 28, 351-362.
- Bueno, J., 2014. Anti-biofilm drug susceptibility testing methods: looking for new strategies against resistance mechanism. J Microb. Biochem Technol S 3, 2.
- Burnham, J.C., Hashimoto, T., Conti, S.F., 1968. Electron microscopic observations on the penetration of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus into gram-negative bacterial hosts. J. Bacteriol. 96, 1366-1381.
- Button, D.K., 1985. Kinetics of nutrient-limited transport and microbial growth. Microbiol. Rev. 49, 270-297.

- Buysschaert, B., Vermijs, L., Naka, A., Boon, N., De Gusseme, B., 2018. Online flow cytometric monitoring of microbial water quality in a full-scale water treatment plant. Npj Clean Water 1, 1-7. https://doi.org/10/gjmfdb
- Büyükköse, S., Vratzov, B., van der Wiel, W.G., 2011. High-quality global hydrogen silsequioxane contact planarization for nanoimprint lithography. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 29, 021602. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.3562939
- Campbell, C.J., Grzybowski, B.A., 2004. Microfluidic mixers: from microfabricated to self-assembling devices. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 362, 1069-1086. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2003.1363
- Canale, R.P., 1969. Predator-prey relationships in a model for the activated process. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 11, 887-907. https://doi.org/10/bzmccq
- Canale, R.P., Lustig, T.D., Kehrberger, P.M., Salo, J.E., 1973. Experimental and mathematical modeling studies of protozoan predation on bacteria. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 15, 707-728. https://doi.org/10/bzsg7x
- Chanyi, R.M., Ward, C., Pechey, A., Koval, S.F., 2013. To invade or not to invade: two approaches to a prokaryotic predatory life cycle. Can. J. Microbiol. 59, 273-279. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjm-2013-0041
- Chaturvedi, K., Sun, S.Y., O'Brien, T., Liu, Y.J., Brooks, J.W., 2014. Comparison of the behavior of CHO cells during cultivation in 24-square deep well microplates and conventional shake flask systems. Biotechnol. Rep. 1-2, 22-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2014.04.001
- Chauhan, A., Williams, H.N., 2006. Response of <Emphasis Type="Italic">Bdellovibrio</Emphasis> and Like Organisms (BALOs) to the Migration of Naturally Occurring Bacteria to Chemoattractants. Curr. Microbiol. 53, 516-522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-006-0292-2
- Chen, H., Athar, R., Zheng, G., Williams, H.N., 2011. Prey bacteria shape the community structure of their predators. ISME J. 5, 1314-1322. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.4
- Chen, H., Sun, J., Wolvetang, E., Cooper-White, J., 2015. High-throughput, deterministic single cell trapping and long-term clonal cell culture in microfluidic devices. Lab. Chip 15, 1072-1083. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4LC01176G

- Chen, V., Mansouri, J., Charlton, T., 2010. Biofouling in membrane systems. Membr. Technol. Membr. Water Treat. Vol. 4 25-51.
- Chung, Y.R., Hossain, M.T., Chung, E.J., Kim, G.G., Lee, J.E., 2018. Plant endophytic bacteria Bacillus oryzicola isolated from rice rizhosphere, and development of agent for natural plant protection and plant enhancement using the same. Google Patents.
- Clarke, R.G., Pinder, A.C., 1998. Improved detection of bacteria by flow cytometry using a combination of antibody and viability markers. J. Appl. Microbiol. 84, 577-584. https://doi.org/10/dbsmnn
- Cohen J. E., Łuczak T., Newman C. M., Zhou Z.-m., Steele John Hyslop, 1990.
 Stochastic structure and nonlinear dynamics of food webs: qualitative stability in a Lotka-Volterra cascade model. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 240, 607-627. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1990.0055
- Colvin, K.M., Gordon, V.D., Murakami, K., Borlee, B.R., Wozniak, D.J., Wong,
 G.C.L., Parsek, M.R., 2011. The Pel Polysaccharide Can Serve a Structural and Protective Role in the Biofilm Matrix of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. PLOS Pathog. 7, e1001264. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1001264
- Comas, J., Vives-Rego, J., 1998. Enumeration, viability and heterogeneity in Staphylococcus aureus cultures by flow cytometry. J. Microbiol. Methods 32, 45-53. https://doi.org/10/d2x6z6
- Cormier, J., Janes, M., 2014. A double layer plaque assay using spread plate technique for enumeration of bacteriophage MS2. J. Virol. Methods 196, 86-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2013.10.034
- Corona, F., Martinez, J.L., 2013. Phenotypic resistance to antibiotics. Antibiotics 2, 237-255.
- Cortez, M.H., Weitz, J.S., 2014. Coevolution can reverse predator-prey cycles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 7486-7491. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1317693111
- Cotter, T.W., Thomashow, M.F., 1992. A conjugation procedure for Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus and its use to identify DNA sequences that enhance the plaque-forming ability of a spontaneous host-independent mutant. J. Bacteriol. 174, 6011-6017.

- Crowley, P.H., Straley, S.C., Craig, R.J., Culin, J.D., Fu, Y.T., Hayden, T.L., Robinson, T.A., Straley, J.P., 1980. hble. J. Theor. Biol. 86, 377-400. https://doi.org/10/ccrtqk
- Cui, Z., 2016. Nanofabrication: Principles, Capabilities and Limits. Springer.
- Czaplewski, L., Bax, R., Clokie, M., Dawson, M., Fairhead, H., Fischetti, V.A., Foster, S., Gilmore, B.F., Hancock, R.E.W., Harper, D., Henderson, I.R., Hilpert, K., Jones, B.V., Kadioglu, A., Knowles, D., Ólafsdóttir, S., Payne, D., Projan, S., Shaunak, S., Silverman, J., Thomas, C.M., Trust, T.J., Warn, P., Rex, J.H., 2016. Alternatives to antibiotics—a pipeline portfolio review. Lancet Infect. Dis. 16, 239-251. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00466-1
- Dahiru, T., 2008. P VALUE, A TRUE TEST OF STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE? A CAUTIONARY NOTE. Ann. Ib. Postgrad. Med. 6, 21-26.
- Dashiff, A., Junka, R.A., Libera, M., Kadouri, D.E., 2011. Predation of human pathogens by the predatory bacteria Micavibrio aeruginosavorus and Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. J. Appl. Microbiol. 110, 431-444.
- Dashiff, A., Kadouri, D. e., 2011. Predation of oral pathogens by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus 109J. Mol. Oral Microbiol. 26, 19-34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-1014.2010.00592.x
- Dashiff, A., Kadouri, D.E., 2009. A New Method for Isolating Host-Independent Variants of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus Using E. coli Auxotrophs. Open Microbiol. J. 3, 87-91. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874285800903010087
- Davidov, Y., Huchon, D., Koval, S.F., Jurkevitch, E., 2006. A new α-proteobacterial clade of Bdellovibrio-like predators: implications for the mitochondrial endosymbiotic theory. Environ. Microbiol. 8, 2179-2188. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2006.01101.x
- Davies, J., 1994. Inactivation of antibiotics and the dissemination of resistance genes. Science 264, 375-382. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8153624
- DeLong, J.P., Vasseur, D.A., 2012. Size-density scaling in protists and the links between consumer-resource interaction parameters. J. Anim. Ecol. 81, 1193-1201. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2012.02013.x
- Derlon, N., Peter-Varbanets, M., Scheidegger, A., Pronk, W., Morgenroth, E., 2012. Predation influences the structure of biofilm developed on ultrafiltration

membranes. Water Res. 46, 3323-3333.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.03.031

- Diaper, J.P., Tither, K., Edwards, C., 1992. Rapid assessment of bacterial viability by flow cytometry. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 38, 268-272. https://doi.org/10/b7k8z4
- Drenkard, E., 2003. Antimicrobial resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms. Microbes Infect. 5, 1213-1219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2003.08.009
- Drews, A., Lee, C.-H., Kraume, M., 2006. Membrane fouling-a review on the role of EPS. Desalination 200, 186-188.
- Dufour, D., Leung, V., Lévesque, C.M., 2010. Bacterial biofilm: structure, function, and antimicrobial resistance. Endod. Top. 22, 2-16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-1546.2012.00277.x
- Duncan, M.C., Forbes, J.C., Nguyen, Y., Shull, L.M., Gillette, R.K., Lazinski, D.W., Ali, A., Shanks, R.M.Q., Kadouri, D.E., Camilli, A., 2018. Vibrio cholerae motility exerts drag force to impede attack by the bacterial predator Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. Nat. Commun. 9, 4757. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07245-3
- Dwidar, M., Hong, S., Cha, M., Jang, J., Mitchell, R.J., 2012a. Combined application of bacterial predation and carbon dioxide aerosols to effectively remove biofilms. Biofouling 28, 671-680. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2012.701286
- Dwidar, M., Monnappa, A.K., Mitchell, R.J., 2012b. The dual probiotic and antibiotic nature of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. Bmb Rep. 45, 71-78. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2012.45.2.71
- Elkhatib, W.F., Khairalla, A.S., Ashour, H.M., 2014. Evaluation of different microtiter plate-based methods for the quantitative assessment of Staphylococcus aureus biofilms. Future Microbiol. 9, 725-735. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb.14.33
- Evans, A.G.L., Davey, H.M., Cookson, A., Currinn, H., Cooke-Fox, G., Stanczyk,
 P.J., Whitworth, D.E., 2012. Predatory activity of Myxococcus xanthus outer-membrane vesicles and properties of their hydrolase cargo.
 Microbiology 158, 2742-2752. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.060343-0

- Feichtmayer, J., Deng, L., Griebler, C., 2017. Antagonistic Microbial Interactions: Contributions and Potential Applications for Controlling Pathogens in the Aquatic Systems. Front. Microbiol. 8, 2192. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02192
- Feng, S., Tan, C.H., Cohen, Y., Rice, S.A., 2016. Isolation of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus from a tropical wastewater treatment plant and predation of mixed species biofilms assembled by the native community members. Environ. Microbiol. 18, 3923-3931.
- Feng, S., Tan, C.H., Constancias, F., Kohli, G.S., Cohen, Y., Rice, S.A., 2017. Predation by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus significantly reduces viability and alters the microbial community composition of activated sludge flocs and granules. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 93. https://doi.org/10/f93ndh
- Fenton, A.K., Kanna, M., Woods, R.D., Aizawa, S.-I., Sockett, R.E., 2010. Shadowing the Actions of a Predator: Backlit Fluorescent Microscopy Reveals Synchronous Nonbinary Septation of Predatory Bdellovibrio inside Prey and Exit through Discrete Bdelloplast Pores. J. Bacteriol. 192, 6329-6335. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00914-10
- Fey, A., Eichler, S., Flavier, S., Christen, R., Höfle, M.G., Guzmán, C.A., 2004. Establishment of a Real-Time PCR-Based Approach for Accurate Quantification of Bacterial RNA Targets in Water, Using Salmonella as a Model Organism. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 3618-3623. https://doi.org/10/bktff2
- Finlay, B.J., 2004. Protist taxonomy: an ecological perspective. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 359, 599-610.
- Fry, J.C., Staples, D.G., 1976. Distribution of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus in sewage works, river water, and sediments. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 31, 469-474.
- Garcia, C.J., Pericleous, A., Elsayed, M., Tran, M., Gupta, S., Callaghan, J.D.,
 Stella, N.A., Franks, J.M., Thibodeau, P.H., Shanks, R.M.Q., Kadouri, D.E.,
 2018. Serralysin family metalloproteases protects Serratia marcescens from
 predation by the predatory bacteria Micavibrio aeruginosavorus. Sci. Rep. 8,
 1-11. https://doi.org/10/gfccf9

- Gefen, O., Balaban, N.Q., 2009. The importance of being persistent: heterogeneity of bacterial populations under antibiotic stress. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 33, 704-717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00156.x
- Giwercman, B., Jensen, E.T., Høiby, N., Kharazmi, A., Costerton, J.W., 1991.
 Induction of beta-lactamase production in Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm.
 Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 35, 1008-1010.
 https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.35.5.1008
- Gomes, L.C., Moreira, J.M.R., Miranda, J.M., Simões, M., Melo, L.F., Mergulhão, F.J., 2013. Macroscale versus microscale methods for physiological analysis of biofilms formed in 96-well microtiter plates. J. Microbiol. Methods 95, 342-349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2013.10.002
- Gonzalez-Macia, L., Morrin, A., R. Smyth, M., J. Killard, A., 2010. Advanced printing and deposition methodologies for the fabrication of biosensors and biodevices. Analyst 135, 845-867. https://doi.org/10.1039/B916888E
- Graham, J.M., Canale, R.P., 1982. Experimental and modeling studies of a fourtrophic level predator-prey system. Microb. Ecol. 8, 217-232. https://doi.org/10/c229gq
- Griffiths, M.J., Garcin, C., van Hille, R.P., Harrison, S.T.L., 2011. Interference by pigment in the estimation of microalgal biomass concentration by optical density. J. Microbiol. Methods 85, 119-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2011.02.005
- Günther, S., Koch, C., Hübschmann, T., Röske, I., Müller, R.A., Bley, T., Harms, H., Müller, S., 2012. Correlation of Community Dynamics and Process Parameters As a Tool for the Prediction of the Stability of Wastewater Treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 84-92. https://doi.org/10/fjkgq4
- Guo, W., Ngo, H.-H., Li, J., 2012. A mini-review on membrane fouling. Bioresour. Technol. 122, 27-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.04.089
- Haffner, M., Haug, A., Heeren, A., Fleischer, M., Peisert, H., Chassé, T., Kern, D.,
 2007. Influence of temperature on HSQ electron-beam lithography. J. Vac.
 Sci. Technol. B Microelectron. Nanometer Struct. 25, 2045-2048.
 https://doi.org/10.1116/1.2794324
- Hahn, null, Höfle, null, 1998. Grazing Pressure by a Bacterivorous Flagellate Reverses the Relative Abundance of Comamonas acidovorans PX54 and

Vibrio Strain CB5 in Chemostat Cocultures. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64, 1910-1918.

- Hall, C.W., Mah, T.-F., 2017. Molecular mechanisms of biofilm-based antibiotic resistance and tolerance in pathogenic bacteria. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 41, 276-301. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fux010
- Ham, J.H., Melanson, R.A., Rush, M.C., 2011. Burkholderia glumae: next major pathogen of rice? Mol. Plant Pathol. 12, 329-339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1364-3703.2010.00676.x
- Hammes, F., Berney, M., Wang, Y., Vital, M., Köster, O., Egli, T., 2008. Flowcytometric total bacterial cell counts as a descriptive microbiological parameter for drinking water treatment processes. Water Res. 42, 269-277. https://doi.org/10/c7vsw5
- Hanlon, G.W., 2007. Bacteriophages: an appraisal of their role in the treatment of bacterial infections. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 30, 118-128.
- Harry, I.S.K., Ameh, E., Coulon, F., Nocker, A., 2016. Impact of Treated Sewage Effluent on the Microbiology of a Small Brook Using Flow Cytometry as a Diagnostic Tool. Water. Air. Soil Pollut. 227, 57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-015-2723-9
- Harshey, R.M., 2003. Bacterial motility on a surface: many ways to a common goal. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 57, 249-273.
- Hausner, M., Wuertz, S., 1999. High rates of conjugation in bacterial biofilms as determined by quantitative in situ analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65, 3710-3713.
- Herencias, C., Prieto, M.A., Martínez, V., 2017. Determination of the Predatory Capability of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus HD100. BIO-Protoc. 7. https://doi.org/10/ghhqzd
- Hespell, R.B., 1978. Intraperiplasmic Growth of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus on Heat-Treated Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. 133, 1156-1162.
- Hespell, R.B., Thomashow, M.F., Rittenberg, S.C., 1974. Changes in cell composition and viability of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus during starvation. Arch. Microbiol. 97, 313-327. https://doi.org/10/c2648q

- Hibbing, M.E., Fuqua, C., Parsek, M.R., Peterson, S.B., 2010. Bacterial competition: surviving and thriving in the microbial jungle. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 8, 15.
- Hirsch, P.R., Mauchline, T.H., Clark, I.M., 2010. Culture-independent molecular techniques for soil microbial ecology. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42, 878-887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.02.019
- Hobley, L., King, J.R., Sockett, R.E., 2006. Bdellovibrio Predation in the Presence of Decoys: Three-Way Bacterial Interactions Revealed by Mathematical and Experimental Analyses. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72, 6757-6765. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00844-06
- Höfle, M.G., 1983. Long-Term Changes in Chemostat Cultures of Cytophaga johnsonae. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46, 1045-1053.
- Hol, F.J.H., Hubert, B., Dekker, C., Keymer, J.E., 2016a. Density-dependent adaptive resistance allows swimming bacteria to colonize an antibiotic gradient. ISME J. 10, 30-38. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.107
- Hol, F.J.H., Rotem, O., Jurkevitch, E., Dekker, C., Koster, D.A., 2016b. Bacterial predator-prey dynamics in microscale patchy landscapes. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 283. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.2154
- Holzwarth, C.W., Barwicz, T., Smith, H.I., 2007. Optimization of hydrogen silsesquioxane for photonic applications. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B Microelectron. Nanometer Struct. Process. Meas. Phenom. 25, 2658-2661. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.2787832
- Hübschmann, T., Vogt, C., Till, S., Rohwerder, T., Sand, W., Harms, H., Müller, S.,
 2007. Detection of Sulfur Microparticles in Bacterial Cultures by Flow
 Cytometry. Eng. Life Sci. 7, 403-407.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.200720195
- Huh, D., Gu, W., Kamotani, Y., Grotberg, J.B., Takayama, S., 2005. Microfluidics for flow cytometric analysis of cells and particles. Physiol. Meas. 26, R73-R98. https://doi.org/10.1088/0967-3334/26/3/R02
- Hui, J., Chen, L., 2006. Dynamic complexities in a periodically pulsed ratiodependent predator-prey ecosystem modeled on a chemostat. Chaos Solitons Fractals 29, 407-416. https://doi.org/10/dmtn43

- Huws, S.A., McBain, A.J., Gilbert, P., 2005. Protozoan grazing and its impact upon population dynamics in biofilm communities. J. Appl. Microbiol. 98, 238-244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02449.x
- Ibrahim, L.J., Hanlon, G.W., Denyer, S.P., 2001. Hydrolysis of Pseudomonas aeruginosa exopolysaccharide by bacteriophage. Abstr. Gen. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. 101, 474-474.
- Ibrahim, S.F., van den Engh, G., 2007. Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting, in: Kumar,
 A., Galaev, I.Y., Mattiasson, B. (Eds.), Cell Separation: Fundamentals,
 Analytical and Preparative Methods, Advances in Biochemical
 Engineering/Biotechnology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg,
 pp. 19-39. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2007_073
- Iebba, V., Santangelo, F., Totino, V., Nicoletti, M., Gagliardi, A., Biase, R.V.D., Cucchiara, S., Nencioni, L., Conte, M.P., Schippa, S., 2013. Higher Prevalence and Abundance of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus in the Human Gut of Healthy Subjects. PLOS ONE 8, e61608. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061608
- Iebba, V., Totino, V., Santangelo, F., Gagliardi, A., Ciotoli, L., Virga, A., Ambrosi, C., Pompili, M., De Biase, R.V., Selan, L., Artini, M., Pantanella, F., Mura, F., Passariello, C., Nicoletti, M., Nencioni, L., Trancassini, M., Quattrucci, S., Schippa, S., 2014. Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus directly attacks
 Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus Cystic fibrosis isolates.
 Front. Microbiol. 5. https://doi.org/10/ghn4m3
- Igbinosa, E.O., Odjadjare, E.E., 2015. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance determinants: an undesired element in the environment. Battle Microb. Pathog. Basic Sci. Technol. Adv. Educ. Programs 2, 858-866.
- Im, H., Kim, D., Ghim, C.-M., Mitchell, R.J., 2014. Shedding Light on Microbial Predator-Prey Population Dynamics Using a Quantitative Bioluminescence Assay. Microb. Ecol. 67, 167-176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-013-0323z
- Jass, J., Costerton, J.W., Lappin-Scott, H.M., 1995. Assessment of a chemostatcoupled modified Robbins device to study biofilms. J. Ind. Microbiol. 15, 283-289. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01569981

- Jeger, M.J., Spence, N.J., Pathology, B.S. for P., 2001. Biotic Interactions in Plantpathogen Associations. CABI.
- Jenkins, G., 2013. Rapid prototyping of PDMS devices using SU-8 lithography. Methods Mol. Biol. Clifton NJ 949, 153-168. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-134-9_11
- Jensen, M.A., Faruque, S.M., Mekalanos, J.J., Levin, B.R., 2006. Modeling the role of bacteriophage in the control of cholera outbreaks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103, 4652-4657. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0600166103
- Jeon, N.L., Baskaran, H., Dertinger, S.K.W., Whitesides, G.M., Water, L.V.D., Toner, M., 2002. Neutrophil chemotaxis in linear and complex gradients of interleukin-8 formed in a microfabricated device. Nat. Biotechnol. 20, 826-830. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt712
- Jia, J., Zhang, H., 2012. Dynamic complexities of predator-prey system in a pulsed chemostat. Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul. 17, 2489-2500. https://doi.org/10/cjq83p
- Johnke, J., Cohen, Y., de Leeuw, M., Kushmaro, A., Jurkevitch, E., Chatzinotas,
 A., 2014. Multiple micro-predators controlling bacterial communities in the environment. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., Energy biotechnology •
 Environmental biotechnology 27, 185-190.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2014.02.003
- Johnson, A.H., Stokes, J.L., 1965. Effect of amino acids on growth ofSphaerotilus discophorus. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 31, 165-174. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02045887
- Jost, J.L., Drake, J.F., Fredrickson, A.G., Tsuchiya, H.M., 1973. Interactions of Tetrahymena pyriformis, Escherichia coli, Azotobacter vinelandii, and glucose in a minimal medium. J. Bacteriol. 113, 834-840.
- Jürgens, K., Matz, C., 2002. Predation as a shaping force for the phenotypic and genotypic composition of planktonic bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 81, 413-434.
- Jurkevitch, E., 2012. Isolation and classification of Bdellovibrio and like organisms. Curr. Protoc. Microbiol. Chapter 7, Unit7B.1. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780471729259.mc07b01s26

Jurkevitch, E., 2006a. The genus Bdellovibrio, in: The Prokaryotes. Springer, pp. 12-30.

- Jurkevitch, E., 2006b. A Brief History of Short Bacteria: A Chronicle of <Emphasis Type="Italic">Bdellovibrio</Emphasis> (and Like Organisms) Research, in: Predatory Prokaryotes, Microbiology Monographs. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/7171_051
- Jurkevitch, E., Minz, D., Ramati, B., Barel, G., 2000. Prey Range Characterization, Ribotyping, and Diversity of Soil and Rhizosphere Bdellovibriospp. Isolated on Phytopathogenic Bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 2365-2371. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.6.2365-2371.2000
- Justice, S.S., Hunstad, D.A., Cegelski, L., Hultgren, S.J., 2008. Morphological plasticity as a bacterial survival strategy. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 6, 162.
- Kadouri, D., O'Toole, G.A., 2005. Susceptibility of Biofilms to Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus Attack. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 4044-4051. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.7.4044-4051.2005
- Kampen, W.H., 2014. Chapter 4 Nutritional Requirements in Fermentation Processes, in: Vogel, H.C., Todaro, C.M. (Eds.), Fermentation and Biochemical Engineering Handbook (Third Edition). William Andrew Publishing, Boston, pp. 37-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4557-2553-3.00004-0
- Kandel, P.P., Pasternak, Z., van Rijn, J., Nahum, O., Jurkevitch, E., 2014.
 Abundance, diversity and seasonal dynamics of predatory bacteria in aquaculture zero discharge systems. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 89, 149-161.
- Kargi, F., 2009. Re-interpretation of the logistic equation for batch microbial growth in relation to Monod kinetics. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 48, 398-401. https://doi.org/10/d5r63m
- Khan, S., Afzal, M., Iqbal, S., Mirza, M.S., Khan, Q.M., 2013. Inoculum pretreatment affects bacterial survival, activity and catabolic gene expression during phytoremediation of diesel contaminated soil. Chemosphere 91, 663-668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.01.025

- Kim, E.-H., Dwidar, M., Mitchell, R.J., Kwon, Y.-N., 2013. Assessing the effects of bacterial predation on membrane biofouling. Water Res. 47, 6024-6032. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.07.023
- Kim, H.J., Boedicker, J.Q., Choi, J.W., Ismagilov, R.F., 2008. Defined spatial structure stabilizes a synthetic multispecies bacterial community. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 18188-18193. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0807935105
- Kim, J., Hahn, J.-S., Franklin, M.J., Stewart, P.S., Yoon, J., 2009. Tolerance of dormant and active cells in Pseudomonas aeruginosa PA01 biofilm to antimicrobial agents. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 63, 129-135. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkn462
- Kim, P., Kwon, K.W., Park, M.C., Lee, S.H., Kim, S.M., Suh, K.Y., 2008. Soft lithography for microfluidics: a review.
- Kim, S.-R., Oh, H.-S., Jo, S.-J., Yeon, K.-M., Lee, Chung-Hak, Lim, D.-J., Lee, Chi-Ho, Lee, J.-K., 2013. Biofouling Control with Bead-Entrapped Quorum Quenching Bacteria in Membrane Bioreactors: Physical and Biological Effects. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 836-842. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303995s
- Kirakodu, S.S., Govindaswami, M., Novak, M.J., Ebersole, J.L., Novak, K.F., 2008. Optimizing qPCR for the Quantification of Periodontal Pathogens in a Complex Plaque Biofilm. Open Dent. J. 2, 49-55. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874210600802010049
- Klein, D., 2002. Quantification using real-time PCR technology: applications and limitations. Trends Mol. Med. 8, 257-260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4914(02)02355-9
- Klein, D.A., Casida Jr., L.E., 1967. Occurrence and Enumeration of Bdellovibrio Bacteriovorus in Soil Capable of Parasitizing Escherichia Coli and Indigenous Soil Bacteria. Can. J. Microbiol. 13, 1235-1241. https://doi.org/10.1139/m67-168
- Kniskern, J., Rausher, M.D., 2001. Two modes of host-enemy coevolution. Popul. Ecol. 43, 3-14.
- Koch, C., Günther, S., Desta, A.F., Hübschmann, T., Müller, S., 2013. Cytometric fingerprinting for analyzing microbial intracommunity structure variation

and identifying subcommunity function. Nat. Protoc. 8, 190-202. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2012.149

- Koch, C., Harnisch, F., Schröder, U., Müller, S., 2014. Cytometric fingerprints: evaluation of new tools for analyzing microbial community dynamics. Front. Microbiol. 5. https://doi.org/10/gf2d4t
- Koval, S.F., 2006. The Search for Hunters: Culture-Dependent and -Independent Methods for Analysisof Bdellovibrio and Like Organisms, in: Predatory Prokaryotes, Microbiology Monographs. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 191-211. https://doi.org/10.1007/7171_057
- Koval, S.F., Hynes, S.H., 1991. Effect of paracrystalline protein surface layers on predation by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. J. Bacteriol. 173, 2244-2249.
- Kovárová, K., Zehnder, A.J., Egli, T., 1996. Temperature-dependent growth kinetics of Escherichia coli ML 30 in glucose-limited continuous culture. J. Bacteriol. 178, 4530-4539. https://doi.org/10/gjtvjc
- Kovárová-Kovar, K., Egli, T., 1998. Growth Kinetics of Suspended Microbial Cells: From Single-Substrate-Controlled Growth to Mixed-Substrate Kinetics. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 62, 646-666.
- Lade, H., Paul, D., Kweon, J.H., 2014. Quorum Quenching Mediated Approaches for Control of Membrane Biofouling. Int. J. Biol. Sci. 10, 550-565. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.9028
- Ladha, J.K., Reddy, P.M., 2003. Nitrogen fixation in rice systems: state of knowledge and future prospects. Plant Soil 252, 151-167. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024175307238
- Lambert, C., A Morehouse, K., Chang, C.-Y., Sockett, R. (Liz, 2007. Bdellovibrio: growth and development during the predatory cycle. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2006.10.002
- Lambert, C., Evans, K.J., Till, R., Hobley, L., Capeness, M., Rendulic, S., Schuster, S.C., Aizawa, S.-I., Sockett, R.E., 2006. Characterizing the flagellar filament and the role of motility in bacterial prey-penetration by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. Mol. Microbiol. 60, 274-286.
- Lambert, C., Smith, M.C.M., Sockett, R.E., 2003. A novel assay to monitor predator-prey interactions for Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus 109 J reveals a role

for methyl-accepting chemotaxis proteins in predation. Environ. Microbiol.

5, 127-132. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00385.x

- Lambert, C., Sockett, R.E., 2008. Laboratory Maintenance of Bdellovibrio. Curr. Protoc. Microbiol. 9, 7B.2.1-7B.2.13. https://doi.org/10/ctwtdc
- Law, A.T., Button, D.K., 1977. Multiple-carbon-source-limited growth kinetics of a marine coryneform bacterium. J. Bacteriol. 129, 115-123. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.129.1.115-123.1977
- Lee, C., Kim, J., Shin, S.G., Hwang, S., 2006. Absolute and relative QPCR quantification of plasmid copy number in Escherichia coli. J. Biotechnol. 123, 273-280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.11.014
- Li, B., Kuang, Y., 2000. Simple Food Chain in a Chemostat with Distinct Removal Rates. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 242, 75-92. https://doi.org/10/bgxfwb
- Li, H., 2016. Microfabrication techniques for producing freestanding multidimensional microstructures. Microsyst. Technol. 22, 223-237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00542-015-2720-3
- Li, H., Xie, G., Edmondson, A., 2007. Evolution and limitations of primary mathematical models in predictive microbiology. Br. Food J. 109, 608-626. https://doi.org/10/bvt7md
- Liu, S., 2017. Chapter 11 How Cells Grow, in: Liu, S. (Ed.), Bioprocess Engineering (Second Edition). Elsevier, pp. 629-697. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63783-3.00011-3
- Liu, X., Chen, L., 2003. Complex dynamics of Holling type II Lotka-Volterra predator-prey system with impulsive perturbations on the predator. Chaos Solitons Fractals 16, 311-320. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-0779(02)00408-3
- Long, Z., Nugent, E., Javer, A., Cicuta, P., Sclavi, B., Lagomarsino, M.C.,
 D. Dorfman, K., 2013. Microfluidic chemostat for measuring single cell dynamics in bacteria. Lab. Chip 13, 947-954. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2LC41196B
- Lötters, J.C., Olthuis, W., Veltink, P.H., Bergveld, P., 1997. The mechanical properties of the rubber elastic polymer polydimethylsiloxane for sensor applications. J. Micromechanics Microengineering 7, 145.

- Lu, H., Koo, L.Y., Wang, W.M., Lauffenburger, D.A., Griffith, L.G., Jensen, K.F.,
 2004. Microfluidic shear devices for quantitative analysis of cell adhesion.
 Anal. Chem. 76, 5257-5264.
- Luo, T., Fan, L., Zhu, R., Sun, D., 2019. Microfluidic Single-Cell Manipulation and Analysis: Methods and Applications. Micromachines 10, 104. https://doi.org/10.3390/mi10020104
- Mack, C.A., DeWitt, D.P., Tsai, B.K., Yetter, G., 1994. Modeling of solvent evaporation effects for hot plate baking of photoresist, in: Advances in Resist Technology and Processing XI. Presented at the Advances in Resist Technology and Processing XI, SPIE, pp. 584-595. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.175372
- Madaeni, S.S., 1999. The application of membrane technology for water disinfection. Water Res. 33, 301-308. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(98)00212-7
- Mah, T.-F.C., O'Toole, G.A., 2001. Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents. Trends Microbiol. 9, 34-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0966-842X(00)01913-2
- Mahmoud, K.K., McNeely, D., Elwood, C., Koval, S.F., 2007. Design and
 Performance of a 16S rRNA-Targeted Oligonucleotide Probe for Detection of
 Members of the Genus Bdellovibrio by Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization.
 Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 7488-7493. https://doi.org/10/bzxt8g
- Malthus, T.R., 2007. An Essay on the Principle of Population, as it Affects the Future Imporvement of Society, with Remarks on the Speculations of Mr. Godwin, M. Condorcet, and Other Writers. The Lawbook Exchange, Ltd.
- Martin, M.O., 2002. Predatory prokaryotes: an emerging research opportunity. J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 4, 467-477.
- Martínez, V., Herencias, C., Jurkevitch, E., Prieto, M.A., 2016. Engineering a predatory bacterium as a proficient killer agent for intracellular bio-products recovery: The case of the polyhydroxyalkanoates. Sci. Rep. 6, 24381. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24381
- Matsuzaki, S., Rashel, M., Uchiyama, J., Sakurai, S., Ujihara, T., Kuroda, M., Ikeuchi, M., Tani, T., Fujieda, M., Wakiguchi, H., 2005. Bacteriophage

therapy: a revitalized therapy against bacterial infectious diseases. J. Infect. Chemother. 11, 211-219.

- Matz, C., Kjelleberg, S., 2005. Off the hook-how bacteria survive protozoan grazing. Trends Microbiol. 13, 302-307.
- McBain, A.J., 2009. Chapter 4: In vitro biofilm models: an overview. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 69, 99-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2164(09)69004-3
- Mehrad, B., Clark, N.M., Zhanel, G.G., Lynch, J.P., 2015. Antimicrobial resistance in hospital-acquired gram-negative bacterial infections. Chest 147, 1413-1421.
- Mendes-Soares, H., Velicer, G.J., 2013. Decomposing Predation: Testing for Parameters that Correlate with Predatory Performance by a Social Bacterium. Microb. Ecol. 65, 415-423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-012-0135-6
- Merkel, W., Schwarz, A., Fritz, S., Reuss, M., Krauth, K., 1996. New strategies for estimating kinetic parameters in anaerobic wastewater treatment plants. Water Qual. Int. 96 Part 3 Model. Act. Sludge Process. Microorg. Act. Sludge Biofilm Process. Anareobic Biol. Treat. Biofouling 34, 393-401. https://doi.org/10/bckthk
- Merritt, J.H., Kadouri, D.E., O'Toole, G.A., 2005. Growing and Analyzing Static Biofilms. Curr. Protoc. Microbiol. 0 1, Unit-1B.1. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780471729259.mc01b01s00
- Meyer, M.T., Subramanian, S., Kim, Y.W., Ben-Yoav, H., Gnerlich, M., Gerasopoulos, K., Bentley, W.E., Ghodssi, R., 2015. Multi-depth valved microfluidics for biofilm segmentation. J. Micromechanics Microengineering 25, 095003. https://doi.org/10.1088/0960-1317/25/9/095003
- Min, Z., Baoqin, C., Changqing, X., Ming, L., Jiebing, N., 2010. Study of process of HSQ in electron beam lithography, in: 2010 IEEE 5th International Conference on Nano/Micro Engineered and Molecular Systems. Presented at the 2010 IEEE 5th International Conference on Nano/Micro Engineered and Molecular Systems, pp. 1021-1024. https://doi.org/10.1109/NEMS.2010.5592584
- Mohan, R., Sanpitakseree, C., Desai, A., Sevgen, S., M Schroeder, C., J. A. Kenis, P., 2015. A microfluidic approach to study the effect of bacterial

interactions on antimicrobial susceptibility in polymicrobial cultures. RSC Adv 5. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA04092B

- Molobela, I.P., Ilunga, F.M., 2012. Impact of bacterial biofilms: the importance of quantitative biofilm studies. Ann. Microbiol. 62, 461-467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-011-0344-0
- Monnappa, A.K., Dwidar, M., Mitchell, R.J., 2013. Application of bacterial predation to mitigate recombinant bacterial populations and their DNA. Soil Biol. Biochem. 57, 427-435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.09.010
- Monod, J., 1949. The Growth of Bacterial Cultures. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 3, 371-394. https://doi.org/10/d474rw
- Mukherjee, S., Brothers, K.M., Shanks, R.M.Q., Kadouri, D.E., 2016. Visualizing Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus by Using the tdTomato Fluorescent Protein. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 82, 1653-1661. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03611-15
- Müller, S., Nebe-von-Caron, G., 2010. Functional single-cell analyses: flow cytometry and cell sorting of microbial populations and communities. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 34, 554-587. https://doi.org/10/dg623z
- Muthayya, S., Sugimoto, J.D., Montgomery, S., Maberly, G.F., 2014. An overview of global rice production, supply, trade, and consumption. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1324, 7-14.
- Myers, J.A., Curtis, B.S., Curtis, W.R., 2013. Improving accuracy of cell and chromophore concentration measurements using optical density. BMC Biophys. 6, 4. https://doi.org/10/bsfw
- Nakamura, M., 1972. Alteration of Shigella pathogenicity by other bacteria. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 25, 1441-1451.
- Nguyen, N.-T., Wu, Z., 2005. Micromixers—a review. J. Micromechanics Microengineering 15, R1. https://doi.org/10.1088/0960-1317/15/2/R01
- Nir, R., Yisraeli, Y., Lamed, R., Sahar, E., 1990. Flow cytometry sorting of viable bacteria and yeasts according to beta-galactosidase activity. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56, 3861-3866.
- Núñez, M.E., Martin, M.O., Chan, P.H., Spain, E.M., 2005. Predation, death, and survival in a biofilm: Bdellovibrio investigated by atomic force microscopy. Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces 42, 263-271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2005.03.003

- Ogundero, A., Vignola, M., Connelly, S., Sloan, W.T., 2022. Validating Flow Cytometry as a Method for Quantifying Bdellovibrio Predatory Bacteria and Its Prey for Microbial Ecology. Microbiol. Spectr. 10, e01033-21. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.01033-21
- Okushima, S., Nisisako, T., Torii, T., Higuchi, T., 2004. Controlled Production of Monodisperse Double Emulsions by Two-Step Droplet Breakup in Microfluidic Devices. Langmuir 20, 9905-9908. https://doi.org/10.1021/la0480336
- Ou, J., Joswiak, M.N., Carpenter, S.J., Dorfman, K.D., 2011. Plasma thinned nanopost arrays for DNA electrophoresis. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 29, 011025. https://doi.org/10.1116/1.3531693
- Owens, J.D., Legan, J.D., 1987. Determination of the Monod substrate saturation constant for microbial growth. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 3, 419-432. https://doi.org/10/ccwj74
- Oyedara, O.O., De Luna-Santillana, E. de J., Olguin-Rodriguez, O., Guo, X., Mendoza-Villa, M.A., Menchaca-Arredondo, J.L., Elufisan, T.O., Garza-Hernandez, J.A., Garcia Leon, I., Rodriguez-Perez, M.A., 2016. Isolation of Bdellovibrio sp. from soil samples in Mexico and their potential applications in control of pathogens. MicrobiologyOpen 5, 992-1002. https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.382
- Pantanella, F., Valenti, P., Natalizi, T., Passeri, D., Berlutti, F., 2013. Analytical techniques to study microbial biofilm on abiotic surfaces: pros and cons of the main techniques currently in use. Ann Ig 25, 31-42.
- Parisien, A., Allain, B., Zhang, J., Mandeville, R., Lan, C. q., 2008. Novel alternatives to antibiotics: bacteriophages, bacterial cell wall hydrolases, and antimicrobial peptides. J. Appl. Microbiol. 104, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03498.x
- Park, S., Kim, D., Mitchell, R.J., Kim, T., 2011. A microfluidic concentrator array for quantitative predation assays of predatory microbes. Lab. Chip 11, 2916-2923. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1LC20230H
- Parkinson, J., Tayler, K., 2003. Decentralized wastewater management in periurban areas in low-income countries. Environ. Urban. 15, 75-90.
- Pasternak, Z., Njagi, M., Shani, Y., Chanyi, R., Rotem, O., Lurie-Weinberger, M.N., Koval, S., Pietrokovski, S., Gophna, U., Jurkevitch, E., 2014. In and out: an

analysis of epibiotic vs periplasmic bacterial predators. ISME J. 8, 625-635. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.164

- Pasternak, Z., Pietrokovski, S., Rotem, O., Gophna, U., Lurie-Weinberger, M.N., Jurkevitch, E., 2013. By their genes ye shall know them: genomic signatures of predatory bacteria. ISME J. 7, 756-769. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2012.149
- Patel, J.N., Gray, B.L., Kaminska, B., Wu, N.-C., Gates, B.D., 2013. SU-8- and PDMS-based hybrid fabrication technology for combination of permanently bonded flexible and rigid features on a single device. J. Micromechanics Microengineering 23, 065029. https://doi.org/10.1088/0960-1317/23/6/065029
- Patra, P., Klumpp, S., 2014. Phenotypically heterogeneous populations in spatially heterogeneous environments. Phys. Rev. E 89, 030702. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.89.030702
- Peeters, E., Nelis, H.J., Coenye, T., 2008. Comparison of multiple methods for quantification of microbial biofilms grown in microtiter plates. J. Microbiol. Methods 72, 157-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2007.11.010
- Pérez, J., Moraleda-Muñoz, A., Marcos-Torres, F.J., Muñoz-Dorado, J., 2016. Bacterial predation: 75 years and counting! Environ. Microbiol. 18, 766-779.
- Peter-Varbanets, M., Zurbrügg, C., Swartz, C., Pronk, W., 2009. Decentralized systems for potable water and the potential of membrane technology. Water Res. 43, 245-265.
- Pilyugin, S.S., Waltman, P., 2003. Multiple limit cycles in the chemostat with variable yield. Math. Biosci. 182, 151-166. https://doi.org/10/cv5jgd
- Ponchel, F., Toomes, C., Bransfield, K., Leong, F.T., Douglas, S.H., Field, S.L.,
 Bell, S.M., Combaret, V., Puisieux, A., Mighell, A.J., Robinson, P.A.,
 Inglehearn, C.F., Isaacs, J.D., Markham, A.F., 2003. Real-time PCR based on
 SYBR-Green I fluorescence: An alternative to the TaqMan assay for a relative
 quantification of gene rearrangements, gene amplifications and micro gene
 deletions. BMC Biotechnol. 3, 18. https://doi.org/10/d4zvfq
- Porter, J., Pickup, R., Edwards, C., 1997. Evaluation of flow cytometric methods for the detection and viability assessment of bacteria from soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 29, 91-100. https://doi.org/10/czw4nd

- Prest, E.I., El-Chakhtoura, J., Hammes, F., Saikaly, P.E., van Loosdrecht, M.C.M., Vrouwenvelder, J.S., 2014. Combining flow cytometry and 16S rRNA gene pyrosequencing: A promising approach for drinking water monitoring and characterization. Water Res. 63, 179-189. https://doi.org/10/ghn72q
- Props, R., Monsieurs, P., Mysara, M., Clement, L., Boon, N., 2016. Measuring the biodiversity of microbial communities by flow cytometry. Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 1376-1385. https://doi.org/10/f9bwf9
- Rana, S.M.S., Nasrin, F., Hossain, M.I., 2015. DYNAMICS OF A PREDATOR-PREY INTERACTION IN CHEMOSTAT WITH VARIABLE YIELD.
- Regehr, K.J., Domenech, M., Koepsel, J.T., Carver, K.C., Ellison-Zelski, S.J., Murphy, W.L., Schuler, L.A., Alarid, E.T., Beebe, D.J., 2009. Biological implications of polydimethylsiloxane-based microfluidic cell culture. Lab. Chip 9, 2132-2139. https://doi.org/10.1039/b903043c
- Rendulic, S., Jagtap, P., Rosinus, A., Eppinger, M., Baar, C., Lanz, C., Keller, H., Lambert, C., Evans, K.J., Goesmann, A., Meyer, F., Sockett, R.E., Schuster,
 S.C., 2004. A predator unmasked: life cycle of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus from a genomic perspective. Science 303, 689-692. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1093027
- Revilla, M., Galán, B., Viguri, J.R., 2016. An integrated mathematical model for chemical oxygen demand (COD) removal in moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR) including predation and hydrolysis. Water Res. 98, 84-97. https://doi.org/10/f8p89s
- Rhodes, M.E., 1959. The Characterization of Pseudomonas fluorescens. Microbiology 21, 221-263. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-21-1-221
- Richardson, I.R., 1990. The incidence of Bdellovibrio spp. in man-made water systems: coexistence with legionellas. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 69, 134-140. https://doi.org/10/dvspfd
- Rietschel, E.T., Kirikae, T., Schade, F.U., Mamat, U., Schmidt, G., Loppnow, H.,
 Ulmer, A.J., Zähringer, U., Seydel, U., Di Padova, F., 1994. Bacterial
 endotoxin: molecular relationships of structure to activity and function.
 FASEB J. 8, 217-225. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.8.2.8119492

- Roberts, M.E., Stewart, P.S., 2004. Modeling Antibiotic Tolerance in Biofilms by Accounting for Nutrient Limitation. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 48-52. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.48.1.48-52.2004
- Robinson, J.A., Tiedje, J.M., 1983. Nonlinear estimation of Monod growth kinetic parameters from a single substrate depletion curve. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 45, 1453-1458.
- Rochex, A., Lebeault, J.-M., 2007. Effects of nutrients on biofilm formation and detachment of a Pseudomonas putida strain isolated from a paper machine. Water Res. 41, 2885-2892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.03.041
- Røder, H.L., Sørensen, S.J., Burmølle, M., 2016. Studying Bacterial Multispecies Biofilms: Where to Start? Trends Microbiol. 24, 503-513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.02.019
- Rosenberg, E., Keller, K.H., Dworkin, M., 1977. Cell density-dependent growth of Myxococcus xanthus on casein. J. Bacteriol. 129, 770-777.
- Rotem, O., Pasternak, Z., Shimoni, E., Belausov, E., Porat, Z., Pietrokovski, S., Jurkevitch, E., 2015. Cell-cycle progress in obligate predatory bacteria is dependent upon sequential sensing of prey recognition and prey quality cues. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, E6028-E6037. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1515749112
- Ruby, E.G., 1992. The genus Bdellovibrio, in: The Prokaryotes. Springer, pp. 3400-3415.
- Salgar-Chaparro, S.J., Lepkova, K., Pojtanabuntoeng, T., Darwin, A., Machuca,
 L.L., 2020. Nutrient Level Determines Biofilm Characteristics and
 Subsequent Impact on Microbial Corrosion and Biocide Effectiveness. Appl.
 Environ. Microbiol. 86, e02885-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02885-19
- Salieb-Beugelaar, G.B., Simone, G., Arora, A., Philippi, A., Manz, A., 2010. Latest developments in microfluidic cell biology and analysis systems. Anal. Chem. 82, 4848-4864.
- Sandberg, M.E., Schellmann, D., Brunhofer, G., Erker, T., Busygin, I., Leino, R., Vuorela, P.M., Fallarero, A., 2009. Pros and cons of using resazurin staining for quantification of viable Staphylococcus aureus biofilms in a screening assay. J. Microbiol. Methods 78, 104-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2009.04.014

- Sapkota, M., Arora, M., Malano, H., Moglia, M., Sharma, A., George, B., Pamminger, F., 2014. An overview of hybrid water supply systems in the context of urban water management: Challenges and opportunities. Water 7, 153-174.
- Schwudke, D., Linscheid, M., Strauch, E., Appel, B., Zähringer, U., Moll, H.,
 Müller, M., Brecker, L., Gronow, S., Lindner, B., 2003. The Obligate
 Predatory Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus Possesses a Neutral Lipid A Containing
 α-D-Mannoses That Replace Phosphate Residues SIMILARITIES AND
 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE LIPID As AND THE LIPOPOLYSACCHARIDES OF
 THE WILD TYPE STRAIN B. BACTERIOVORUS HD100 AND ITS HOSTINDEPENDENT DERIVATIVE HI100. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 27502-27512.
 https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M303012200
- Selvaratnam, S., Gealt, M.A., 1992. Recombinant plasmid gene transfer in amended soil. Water Res. 26, 39-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(92)90108-G
- Senn, H., Lendenmann, U., Snozzi, M., Hamer, G., Egli, T., 1994. The growth of Escherichia coli in glucose-limited chemostat cultures: a re-examination of the kinetics. Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Gen. Subj. 1201, 424-436. https://doi.org/10/cqm8x5
- Shatzkes, K., Chae, R., Tang, C., Ramirez, G.C., Mukherjee, S., Tsenova, L., Connell, N.D., Kadouri, D.E., 2015. Examining the safety of respiratory and intravenous inoculation of *Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus* and *Micavibrio aeruginosavorus* in a mouse model. Sci. Rep. 5, 12899. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12899
- Shatzkes, K., Singleton, E., Tang, C., Zuena, M., Shukla, S., Gupta, S., Dharani, S., Onyile, O., Rinaggio, J., Connell, N.D., 2016. Predatory bacteria attenuate Klebsiella pneumoniae burden in rat lungs. MBio 7, e01847-16.
- Shehata, T.E., Marr, A.G., 1971. Effect of Nutrient Concentration on the Growth of Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. 107, 210-216.
- Shemesh, Y., Jurkevitch, E., 2003. Plastic phenotypic resistance to predation by Bdellovibrio and like organisms in bacterial prey: Plastic phenotypic resistance to predation. Environ. Microbiol. 6, 12-18. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00530.x

- Sherr, E.B., Sherr, B.F., 2002. Significance of predation by protists in aquatic microbial food webs. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 81, 293-308. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020591307260
- Shrestha, B.K., Karki, H.S., Groth, D.E., Jungkhun, N., Ham, J.H., 2016. Biological Control Activities of Rice-Associated Bacillus sp. Strains against Sheath Blight and Bacterial Panicle Blight of Rice. PLoS ONE 11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146764
- Sia, S.K., Whitesides, G.M., 2003. Microfluidic devices fabricated in poly (dimethylsiloxane) for biological studies. Electrophoresis 24, 3563-3576.
- Simoes, M., Pereira, M.O., Sillankorva, S., Azeredo, J., Vieira, M.J., 2007. The effect of hydrodynamic conditions on the phenotype of Pseudomonas fluorescens biofilms. Biofouling 23, 249-258.
- Skogman, M.E., Vuorela, P.M., Fallarero, A., 2016. A Platform of Anti-biofilm Assays Suited to the Exploration of Natural Compound Libraries. J. Vis. Exp. JoVE 54829. https://doi.org/10.3791/54829
- Skogman, M.E., Vuorela, P.M., Fallarero, A., 2012. Combining biofilm matrix measurements with biomass and viability assays in susceptibility assessments of antimicrobials against Staphylococcus aureus biofilms. J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 65, 453-459. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2012.49
- Sockett, R.E., 2009. Predatory Lifestyle of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 63, 523-539.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.091208.073346

- Sollier, E., Murray, C., Maoddi, P., Carlo, D.D., 2011. Rapid prototyping polymers for microfluidic devices and high pressure injections. Lab. Chip 11, 3752-3765. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1LC20514E
- Staples, D.G., Fry, J.C., 1973. Factors which Influence the Enumeration of
 Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus in Sewage and River Water. J. Appl. Bacteriol.
 36, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1973.tb04066.x
- Starr, M.P., Stolp, H., 1976. Chapter VI Bdellovibrio Methodology, in: Norris, J.R. (Ed.), Methods in Microbiology. Academic Press, pp. 217-244. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0580-9517(09)70043-1
- Stewart, P.S., 2003. Diffusion in Biofilms. J. Bacteriol. 185, 1485-1491. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.185.5.1485-1491.2003

- Stewart, P.S., William Costerton, J., 2001. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. The Lancet 358, 135-138. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05321-1
- Stirzaker, R.J., Passioura, J.B., Wilms, Y., 1996. Soil structure and plant growth: impact of bulk density and biopores. Plant Soil 185, 151-162.
- Stolp, H., Starr, M.P., 1963. Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus gen. et sp. n., a predatory, ectoparasitic, and bacteriolytic microorganism. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 29, 217-248.
- Straley, S.C., Conti, S.F., 1977. Chemotaxis by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus toward prey. J. Bacteriol. 132, 628-640.
- Straub, H., Eberl, L., Zinn, M., Rossi, R.M., Maniura-Weber, K., Ren, Q., 2020. A microfluidic platform for in situ investigation of biofilm formation and its treatment under controlled conditions. J. Nanobiotechnology 18, 166. https://doi.org/10/gjvrfq
- Strauch, E., Schwudke, D., Linscheid, M., 2007. Predatory mechanisms of Bdellovibrio and like organisms. Future Microbiol. 2, 63-73. https://doi.org/10.2217/17460913.2.1.63
- Summers, J.K., Kreft, J.-U., 2019. Predation strategies of the bacterium Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus result in bottlenecks, overexploitation, minimal and optimal prey sizes. bioRxiv 621490. https://doi.org/10/gjvjff
- Sun, J., Jiang, X., 2013. 15 Microfluidic devices for viral detection, in: Microfluidic Devices for Biomedical Applications, Woodhead Publishing Series in Biomaterials. Woodhead Publishing, pp. 527-556. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857097040.4.527
- Sutton, S., 2011. Measurement of microbial cells by optical density. J. Valid. Technol. 17, 46-49.
- Troussellier, M., Courties, C., Vaquer, A., 1993. Recent applications of flow cytometry in aquatic microbial ecology. Biol. Cell 78, 111-121. https://doi.org/10/ckwt3r
- Tudor, J.J., McCann, M.P., Acrich, I.A., 1990. A new model for the penetration of prey cells by bdellovibrios. J. Bacteriol. 172, 2421-2426.
- Tung, Y.-C., Zhang, M., Lin, C.-T., Kurabayashi, K., Skerlos, S.J., 2004. PDMSbased opto-fluidic micro flow cytometer with two-color, multi-angle

fluorescence detection capability using PIN photodiodes. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 98, 356-367.

- Vadasz, A.S., Vadasz, P., Abashar, M.E., Gupthar, A.S., 2001. Recovery of an oscillatory mode of batch yeast growth in water for a pure culture. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 71, 219-234. https://doi.org/10/c868xp
- Van Essche, M., Sliepen, I., Loozen, G., Van Eldere, J., Quirynen, M., Davidov, Y., Jurkevitch, E., Boon, N., Teughels, W., 2009. Development and performance of a quantitative PCR for the enumeration of Bdellovibrionaceae. Environ. Microbiol. Rep. 1, 228-233. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-2229.2009.00034.x
- Varon, M., 1979. Selection of predation-resistant bacteria in continuous culture. Nature 277, 386-388. https://doi.org/10.1038/277386a0
- Varon, M., Fine, M., Stein, A., 1983. Effect of polyamines on the intraperiplasmic growth of <Emphasis Type="Italic">Bdellovibrio</Emphasis> at low cell densities. Arch. Microbiol. 136, 158-159. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00404792
- Varon, M., Shilo, M., 1969. Interaction of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus and Host Bacteria II. Intracellular Growth and Development of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus in Liquid Cultures. J. Bacteriol. 99, 136-141.
- Varon, M., Shilo, M., 1968. Interaction of Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus and host bacteria I. Kinetic studies of attachment and invasion of Escherichia coli B by Bdellovibrio bacteriovorus. J. Bacteriol. 95, 744-753.
- Varon, M., Zeigler, B.P., 1978. Bacterial Predator-Prey Interaction at Low Prey Density. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 36, 11-17.
- Venieri, D., Chatzisymeon, E., Politi, E., Sofianos, S.S., Katsaounis, A.,
 Mantzavinos, D., 2012. Photoelectrocatalytic disinfection of water and
 wastewater: performance evaluation by qPCR and culture techniques. J.
 Water Health 11, 21-29. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2012.208
- Verhulst, P.F., 1838. Notice on the law that the population follows in its growth. Corresp Math Phys 10, 113-26.
- Vieu, C., Carcenac, F., Pépin, A., Chen, Y., Mejias, M., Lebib, A., Manin-Ferlazzo,
 L., Couraud, L., Launois, H., 2000. Electron beam lithography: resolution
 limits and applications. Appl. Surf. Sci., Surface Science in Micro &

Nanotechnology 164, 111-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-4332(00)00352-4

- Vignola, M., Werner, D., Hammes, F., King, L.C., Davenport, R.J., 2018. Flowcytometric quantification of microbial cells on sand from water biofilters. Water Res. 143, 66-76. https://doi.org/10/gd78mv
- Vojinović, V., Cabral, J.M.S., Fonseca, L.P., 2006. Real-time bioprocess monitoring: Part I: In situ sensors. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 114, 1083-1091. https://doi.org/10/bdvvm9
- Wallis, C., Melnick, J.L., 1967. Concentration of Enteroviruses on Membrane Filters. J. Virol. 1, 472-477.
- Wallner, G., Amann, R., Beisker, W., 1993. Optimizing Fluorescent Insitu
 Hybridization with Ribosomal-Rna-Targeted Oligonucleotide Probes for Flow
 Cytometric Identification of Microorganisms. Cytometry 14, 136-143.
 https://doi.org/10/dtmw55
- Wang, Q., Zhang, T., 2010. Review of mathematical models for biofilms. Nanoscale Interfacial Phenom. Complex Fluids 150, 1009-1022. https://doi.org/10/c9kbwf
- Wang, X., Wang, G., Hao, M., 2015. Modeling of the Bacillus subtilis Bacterial Biofilm Growing on an Agar Substrate. Comput. Math. Methods Med. 2015. https://doi.org/10/gb5r2j
- Wang, Y., Hammes, F., Boon, N., Chami, M., Egli, T., 2009. Isolation and characterization of low nucleic acid (LNA)-content bacteria. ISME J. 3, 889-902. https://doi.org/10/dzkg9r
- Wanner, O., Gujer, W., 1986. A multispecies biofilm model. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 28, 314-328. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260280304
- Ward, K., Fan, Z.H., 2015. Mixing in microfluidic devices and enhancement methods. J. Micromechanics Microengineering 25, 094001. https://doi.org/10.1088/0960-1317/25/9/094001
- Weisse, T., Anderson, R., Arndt, H., Calbet, A., Hansen, P.J., Montagnes, D.J.S., 2016. Functional ecology of aquatic phagotrophic protists - Concepts, limitations, and perspectives. Eur. J. Protistol., Current trends in protistology - results from the VII ECOP - ISOP Joint Meeting 2015 55, 50-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejop.2016.03.003

- Wheeler, A.R., Throndset, W.R., Whelan, R.J., Leach, A.M., Zare, R.N., Liao, Y.H., Farrell, K., Manger, I.D., Daridon, A., 2003. Microfluidic Device for Single-Cell Analysis. Anal. Chem. 75, 3581-3586. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac0340758
- Wilkinson, M.H.F., 2006. Mathematical Modelling of Predatory Prokaryotes, in: Predatory Prokaryotes, Microbiology Monographs. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 93-130. https://doi.org/10.1007/7171_054
- Wilkinson, M.H.F., 2001. Predation in the Presence of Decoys: An Inhibitory Factor on Pathogen Control by Bacteriophages or Bdellovibrios in Dense and Diverse Ecosystems. J. Theor. Biol. 208, 27-36. https://doi.org/10.1006/jtbi.2000.2197
- Williams, H.N., Lymperopoulou, D.S., Athar, R., Chauhan, A., Dickerson, T.L., Chen, H., Laws, E., Berhane, T.-K., Flowers, A.R., Bradley, N., Young, S., Blackwood, D., Murray, J., Mustapha, O., Blackwell, C., Tung, Y., Noble, R.T., 2016. Halobacteriovorax, an underestimated predator on bacteria: potential impact relative to viruses on bacterial mortality. ISME J. 10, 491-499. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.129
- Williams, H.N., Piñeiro, S., 2006. Ecology of the predatory Bdellovibrio and like organisms, in: Predatory Prokaryotes. Springer, pp. 213-248.
- Williams, L.E., Cullen, N., DeGiorgis, J.A., Martinez, K.J., Mellone, J., Oser, M., Wang, J., Zhang, Y., 2019. Variation in genome content and predatory phenotypes between Bdellovibrio sp. NC01 isolated from soil and B. bacteriovorus type strain HD100. Microbiology 165, 1315-1330. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.000861
- Willis, A.R., Moore, C., Mazon-Moya, M., Krokowski, S., Lambert, C., Till, R.,
 Mostowy, S., Sockett, R.E., 2016. Injections of Predatory Bacteria Work
 Alongside Host Immune Cells to Treat Shigella Infection in Zebrafish Larvae.
 Curr. Biol. 26, 3343-3351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.09.067
- Wittrup, K.D., Mann, M.B., Fenton, D.M., Tsai, L.B., Bailey, J.E., 1988. Single-Cell Light Scatter as a Probe of Refractile Body Formation in Recombinant Escherichia Coli. Bio/Technology 6, 423-426. https://doi.org/10/fbrqs2

- Wolfe, D.B., Qin, D., Whitesides, G.M., 2010. Rapid prototyping of microstructures by soft lithography for biotechnology. Methods Mol. Biol. Clifton NJ 583, 81-107. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-106-6_3
- Yair, S., Yaacov, D., Susan, K., Jurkevitch, E., 2003. Small eats big: ecology and diversity of Bdellovibrio and like organisms, and their dynamics in predatorprey interactions. Agronomie 23, 433-439. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2003026
- Yeon, K.-M., Lee, C.-H., Kim, J., 2009. Magnetic Enzyme Carrier for Effective Biofouling Control in the Membrane Bioreactor Based on Enzymatic Quorum Quenching. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 7403-7409. https://doi.org/10.1021/es901323k
- You, J.B., Kang, K., Tran, T.T., Park, H., Hwang, W.R., Kim, J.M., Im, S.G., 2015. PDMS-based turbulent microfluidic mixer. Lab. Chip 15, 1727-1735.
- You, J.B., Min, K.-I., Lee, B., Kim, D.-P., Im, S.G., 2013. A doubly cross-linked nano-adhesive for the reliable sealing of flexible microfluidic devices. Lab. Chip 13, 1266-1272.
- Young, I.M., Crawford, J.W., 2004. Interactions and self-organization in the soilmicrobe complex. Science 304, 1634-1637.
- Young, I.M., Crawford, J.W., Rappoldt, C., 2001. New methods and models for characterising structural heterogeneity of soil. Soil Tillage Res. 61, 33-45.
- Yuan, X., Couto, J.M., Glidle, A., Song, Y., Sloan, W., Yin, H., 2017. Single-Cell Microfluidics to Study the Effects of Genome Deletion on Bacterial Growth Behavior. ACS Synth. Biol. 6, 2219-2227. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.7b00177
- Yun, M.-A., Yeon, K.-M., Park, J.-S., Lee, C.-H., Chun, J., Lim, D.J., 2006. Characterization of biofilm structure and its effect on membrane permeability in MBR for dye wastewater treatment. Water Res. 40, 45-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.035
- Zoetendal, E.G., Ben-Amor, K., Harmsen, H.J.M., Schut, F., Akkermans, A.D.L., Vos, W.M. de, 2002. Quantification of Uncultured Ruminococcus obeum-Like Bacteria in Human Fecal Samples by Fluorescent In Situ Hybridization and Flow Cytometry Using 16S rRNA-Targeted Probes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 4225-4232. https://doi.org/10/cbdh3n